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Finland
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finlAnD
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PL 9, Huurretie 19
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Torshamnsgatan 35
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Tel +46 8 623 5400
www.cramo.se

Cramo Instant AB
Torshamnsgatan 35
164 95 Kista 
Sweden
Tel +46 8 623 5400
www.cramo.se

norWAY
Cramo AS
PB 34, Alnabru
0614 Oslo
Norway
Tel +47 23 37 55 60
www.cramo.no

DenMArK
Cramo A/S
Farverland 7
2600 Glostrup
Denmark
Tel +45 70 110 210
www.cramo.dk 

estoniA
Cramo Estonia AS
Kadaka tee 131
129 15 Tallinn
Estonia
Tel +372 6 830 800
www.cramo.ee

lAtViA
Cramo SIA
Mellužu street 1
1067 Riga
Latvia
Tel +371 673 875 55
www.cramo.lv

litHuAniA
Cramo UAB
Liudvinavo str. 131
02241 Vilnius
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Tel +370 5 235 7040
www.cramo.lt

polAnD
Cramo Sp.Zo.o.
Ul. Pulawska 405
02 801 Warsaw
Poland
Tel +48 22 211 98 98
www.cramo.pl

russiA
ZAO Cramo
Zanevka 48/1
195298 St.Petersburg
Russia
Tel +7 812 448 4818
www.cramo.ru

ZAO Cramo Rus
Mytishinsky district
Volkovskoye highway, 39
Box 215, 141006 Mytishi 
Russia
Tel +7 495 926 7676
www.cramo.ru

Cramo Kaliningrad
P.O. Box 512, 4-aja Bolshaja 
Okruzhnaja 33
236029 Kaliningrad 
Russia
Tel +7 4012 776 222 
www.cramo.ru

CZeCH repuBliC
Cramo s.r.o.
Slánská 285/13
163 00 Praha 6 – Řepy
Czech Republic
Tel +420 226 291 711
www.cramo.cz

Group operAtionAl Centre
Cramo AB
Torshamnsgatan 35
164 95 Kista
Sweden
Tel +46 8 623 5400
www.cramo.com

sloVAKiA
Cramo
Kopčianska 16 
851 01 Bratislava 
Slovakia 
Tel +421 263 810 799 
www.cramo.cz

THEISEN BAUMASCHINEN  
HEAD OFFICES

GerMAnY
Theisen Baumaschinen
Emeranstrasse 49-51
85622 München-Feldkirchen
Germany 
Tel +49 89 857 980
www.theisen.de

AustriA
Theisen Baumaschinen
Strasse 2A-M13
2351 Wiener Neudorf
Austria
Tel +43 2236 636 350
www.theisen.at

sWitZerlAnD
Theisen Baumaschinen
Trockenloostrasse 81
8105 Regensdorf
Switzerland
Tel +41 44 840 2929
www.theisen.ch

HunGArY
Theisen Baumaschinen
Védgát utca 8, XXI. Bezirk
1211 Budapest
Hungary
Tel +36 1 427 0103
www.theisen.hu
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 ADDitionAl 
 poWer to 
Your Business
Never turn a project down because of a lack of 
equipment. Cramo will provide a back-up rental  
solution for you, whether you are in building 
construction, civil engineering, other industry,  
the public sector or a private household.

 innoVAtions     
 for Your Best
We constantly develop our rental solutions so you can take  
a more competitive offer to your market.

AnAlYsts
To the best of our knowledge, the 
following financial analysts follow Cramo’s 
performance on their own initiative. They 
have analysed Cramo, prepared reports 
and comments and they are able to 
evaluate the company as an investment 
target. Cramo takes no responsibility for 
the opinions expressed.

•	 Carnegie
•	 Danske Markets
•	 Deutsche Bank AG 
•	 Evli Bank Plc
•	 FIM
•	 Nordea Markets
•	 Pohjola Bank plc
•	 SEB Enskilda Equities
•	 Swedbank Markets
•	 Ålandsbanken Equities Research

→ Updated contact information for the 
analysts following Cramo is available at 
www.cramo.com > Investors.
→ Additional information about shares 
and shareholders is presented in note 36 
in the consolidated financial statements 
on page 100.

MARKET CAPITALISATION ON NASDAq  
OMX HELSINKI 2007–2011 MEUR

inVestor relAtions
Vesa Koivula, President and CEO 
tel: +358 10 661 1240
e-mail: vesa.koivula@cramo.com

Martti Ala-Härkönen, CFO
tel: +358 10 661 1270
e-mail: martti.ala-harkonen@cramo.com

Merja Naumanen, IR Communication Officer  
tel: +358 10 661 1211
e-mail: merja.naumanen@cramo.com

Financial documents can be obtained from 
Cramo Plc
Kalliosolantie 2
FI-01740 Vantaa
tel. +358 10 661 1211
e-mail: investor.relations@cramo.com

→ Investor information is available online 
at www.cramo.com > Investors. The 
investor section contains the information 
presented here, together with other IR-
related information, including a share 
monitor, delayed by 15 minutes, a list of the 
company’s public permanent insiders and 
their holdings, a collection of presentation 
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materials and current market data as 
well as services such as an investment 
calculator.

CHAnGe of ADDress 
If your address or account number for 
dividend payment changes, we request 
that you send a written notification of 
this to the particular register holding 
your Book Entry Account. If your account 
is held at the Euroclear Finland Ltd’s 
account operator, please send the written 
notification to: Euroclear Finland Ltd.,  
P.O. Box 1110, FI-00101 Helsinki, or  
fax it to +358 20 770 6656.

1110090807

368

585

328

141

531

Financial crisis 
2007–2010

European sovereign 
debt crisis 2010–2011

rights offering 
17.2.2011

Theisen 
acquisition 

11.1.2011

The Hartwalls’ 
significant increase  
in total share holding 
during 2009

CRAMO SHARE 
VOLUME PER MONTH

CRAMO SHARE 
PRICE EUR

SHAREHOLDING BY SECTOR 31 DEC 2011 
(2010) %

CORPORATIONS 7 (7)

HOUSEHOLDS 91 (90)

NON-PROFIT INSTITUTIONS 1 (2)

FOREIGN SHAREHOLDERS 1 (1)

FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE 
COMPANIES 1 (0)

GENERAL GOVERNMENT 0 (0)

10,001–100,000; 2 (2)
100,001–500,000; 0 (0)

500,001–;  0 (0)

1–100; 19 (25)

101–1,000; 58 (57)

1,001–10,000; 20 (16)

SHAREHOLDING BY SIZE 31 DEC 2011 
(2010) %

→ Releases for 2011 can be found at  
www.cramo.com > Investors > Releases.

INFORMATION TO SHAREHOLDERSCramo  aNNUaL rEPorT 2011 111



3The renewed Cramo renTal ConCepTCramo  aNNUaL rEPorT 2011



4 Cramo  aNNUaL rEPorT 2011

  Contents
 
  strAtegy And highlights
 6 Cramo in brief
 8 The year in brief
 10 president and Ceo’s interview
 12 The Chairman’s letter to shareholders
 13 Strategy
 20 Cramo Care
 22 rental growth drivers
 23 outsiders’ views
 24 market environment

  business review
 28 Business overview
 30 Finland
 31 Sweden
 32 norway
 33 denmark
 34 Central europe
 35 eastern europe

  governAnce
 38 Corporate governance
 45 Internal control, risk management 
  and internal audit
 50 Board of directors
 52 Group management

  finAnciAl review
 56 Contents
 57 Board of directors’ report
 62 Key figures and ratios
 63 Financial statements of the Group
 102 Financial statements 
  of the parent company

 110 Information to shareholders

flexibility a rental solution enables 
you to expand or reduce your equipment 
fleet depending on your situation.

improved Access rental gives 
you access to modern, high-quality 
equipment, wherever you need it. 

 cost efficiency owning machinery 
with low utilisation is not smart. with a 
rental solution you can share the capital 
and maintenance costs with many other 
companies.
 

why rent?

effective rentAl 
solutions        
Cramo provides modern equipment rental 
solutions through the Cramo rental Concept as 
well as the rental and sale of modular space. 

  the renewed 
  crAmo rentAl concept
 2 our customers / innovation
  26 rental benefits / our products
 36 Solutions and services
 54 one strong brand / depot network

trAnspArency By renting, you 
can clearly see the full costs of your 
equipment fleet. Budgeting and control 
are simpler than ever. 

freedom It is our job to stay informed 
about new developments, laws and 
regulations relating to equipment. 
Keep your freedom. avoid investing in 
technologies that may soon become 
obsolete.

equipment rental helps customers to 
focus on their core business, improve the 
quality of their fleet and reduce costs.

focus on your core business 
The supply of equipment may not be your 
core business, but for us it is. we can 
help your company focus on what you do 
best while we take care of machinery and 
equipment.
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Rental concepts 
and seRvices
By combining its product 
portfolio with an extensive 
offering of services, Cramo can 
create total rental solutions for 
every need and situation, for 
the short or long term.

tools
at Cramo you will find the widest 
assortment of tools on the market, 
from standard equipment to special 
machines, such as heat cameras 
and tools for welding plastic pipes. 
You will find premium brands with 
good functionality and high quality. 
Cramo is a full-range supplier and 
one-stop shop for its customers. 
Total number of tools: about 156,200

constRuction equipment 
at Cramo you will find an 
extensive selection of machines 
for road and construction work. 
In order to offer specialist 
competence and the best possible 
service, Cramo has concentrated 
its construction equipment 
operations in construction hubs.
Total number of construction 
equipment items: about 7,600

access equipment
Cramo is a full-range supplier 
and one of the largest 
rental companies for access 
equipment. we offer a full 
line of machinery from 4 to 50 
meters in working height.
Total number of access equipment 
items: about 12,900

modulaR space
You can rent and buy movable, flexible 
modular space units from Cramo. we 
offer a variety of models for different 
applications, such as offices, schools, 
lodging and construction site utilities. 
we manage project planning for 
installation while external contractors 
are used for set-up and dismantling.
Total number of units: for construction 
applications about  30,200, for non-
construction applications about 13,300

eFFeCTIve renTal SoluTIonS
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Cramo is a service company specialising in equipment rental services, as well as the rental and 
sale of modular space. Its equipment rental services comprise construction machinery and 
equipment rental and rental-related services. These rental-related services include construction 
site and installation services. as one of the industry’s leading service providers in the Nordic 
countries and Central and Eastern Europe, Cramo had 2,707 employees and a network of 409 
depots in 15 countries in 2011. The company reported consolidated sales of EUr 679.9 million.

crAmo – one of  
the leAding equipment 
rentAl service providers

business segments in 2011 

service networK

rentAl mArKet  
size, meur 1

construction
growth forecAst 2012 2

mArKet position  
estimAte

shAre of group sAles

competitive
lAndscApe

shAre of group employees (fte)

finlAnd sweden norwAy denmArK centrAl europe3 eAstern europe4

55 depots

hub structure in place

128 depots

hub structure in place

34 depots

hub structure in place

20 depots

hub structure in place

96 depots

hub structure under construction

76 depots

hub structure nearly complete

decline of 2.2% as a result of 
a slowdown in new residential 
construction 

Growth of 2.4% with a decline in 
residential construction offset by 
growth in other subsectors 

Growth of 6.3% with an upswing 
in residential construction and 
civil engineering

Growth of 3.7% due to a continued 
growth of new residential 
construction and an upswing in 
civil engineering 

Growth of 1.8% in Germany, 0.7% in 
austria, 3.2% in Switzerland, and a 
decline of 2.3% in hungary

Growth of 8% in estonia, 3–4% 
in russia, poland and Slovakia, 
decline of 4% in latvia, lithuania 
and the Czech republic

Strong #2 in equipment rental, 
#1 in modular space

Strong #1 both in equipment 
rental and modular space

#2 in overall rental,   
#1 in  access equipment

#2 in equipment rental, 
#1 in modular space

#3 in Germany, #1 in austria,  
n/a in Switzerland and hungary

#1 in estonia, latvia and lithuania, 
#2 in russia and poland.   
In the Czech republic and in 
Slovakia #1 in access equipment 
and #3 in overall rental.

Two strong players with a  
number of local and specialist 
competitors. modular space 
product area dominated by  
a few strong players.

Two strong players with  
a number of local and  
specialist competitors.  
modular space product  
area dominated by a few  
strong players.

Three strong players  
with a number of local 
competitors. a few  
players in the modular  
space product area.

Fragmented markets  
under consolidation.  
a few small players  
in the modular space  
product area.

Fragmented markets under 
consolidation: three stronger 
players in Germany with a number 
of local and specialist competitors. 
markets in early phase in the non-
construction modular space. 

mainly smaller national and 
local players with a few western 
european competitors. markets in 
early phase in the modular space 
product area.

18.5% 44.9% 11.5% 5.1% 10.3% 9.7%

modular  
SpaCe 26 (30)

renTal relaTed 
ServICeS and 
oTher 8 (11)

ToolS 28 (26)

aCCeSS  
equIpmenT 22 (23)

ConSTruCTIon 
equIpmenT  
16 (11)

Group SaleS BY produCT Group 2011 (2010) 
% oF ToTal SaleS

oTher  4 (3)

Group SaleS BY CuSTomer SeGmenT 2011 (2010)  
% oF ToTal SaleS

houSeholdS 3 (3)ConSTruCTIon 
InduSTrY 57 (57)

oTher InduSTrY 21 (22)

puBlIC SeCTor 14 (15)

395 1,300 767

24.3% 28.3% 8.1% 4.8% 10.1% 21.9%
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finlAnd sweden norwAy denmArK centrAl europe3 eAstern europe4

55 depots

hub structure in place

128 depots

hub structure in place

34 depots

hub structure in place

20 depots

hub structure in place

96 depots

hub structure under construction

76 depots

hub structure nearly complete

decline of 2.2% as a result of 
a slowdown in new residential 
construction 

Growth of 2.4% with a decline in 
residential construction offset by 
growth in other subsectors 

Growth of 6.3% with an upswing 
in residential construction and 
civil engineering

Growth of 3.7% due to a continued 
growth of new residential 
construction and an upswing in 
civil engineering 

Growth of 1.8% in Germany, 0.7% in 
austria, 3.2% in Switzerland, and a 
decline of 2.3% in hungary

Growth of 8% in estonia, 3–4% 
in russia, poland and Slovakia, 
decline of 4% in latvia, lithuania 
and the Czech republic

Strong #2 in equipment rental, 
#1 in modular space

Strong #1 both in equipment 
rental and modular space

#2 in overall rental,   
#1 in  access equipment

#2 in equipment rental, 
#1 in modular space

#3 in Germany, #1 in austria,  
n/a in Switzerland and hungary

#1 in estonia, latvia and lithuania, 
#2 in russia and poland.   
In the Czech republic and in 
Slovakia #1 in access equipment 
and #3 in overall rental.

Two strong players with a  
number of local and specialist 
competitors. modular space 
product area dominated by  
a few strong players.

Two strong players with  
a number of local and  
specialist competitors.  
modular space product  
area dominated by a few  
strong players.

Three strong players  
with a number of local 
competitors. a few  
players in the modular  
space product area.

Fragmented markets  
under consolidation.  
a few small players  
in the modular space  
product area.

Fragmented markets under 
consolidation: three stronger 
players in Germany with a number 
of local and specialist competitors. 
markets in early phase in the non-
construction modular space. 

mainly smaller national and 
local players with a few western 
european competitors. markets in 
early phase in the modular space 
product area.

18.5% 44.9% 11.5% 5.1% 10.3% 9.7%

Cramo In BrIeF

 1) Estimate for 2011: Finland, Sweden, Norway and Denmark: Era European rental Industry 2011 report, autumn 2011, Central and Eastern Europe: Era, Cramo management estimate.
 2) Forecast for 2012: Euroconstruct, Country report, November 2011; the Baltic countries and russia VTT December 2011. 
 3) From February 2011 onwards. The segment was created as a result of acquisition of Theisen Group.
4) Until 31 December 2010, the name of the segment was Central and Eastern Europe.

395 1,300 767 348 3,800 1,200
Approx.Approx.

24.3% 28.3% 8.1% 4.8% 10.1% 21.9%
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17
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23 17

-23
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19 18
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sAles And profits up

ebitA  meur 

return  
on equity  % geAring  %

2) Board propoSal (dIvIdend)

CaSh Flow
From operaTIonS   
and aFTer InveSTmenTS  
meur

GroSS CapITal 
expendITure1  meur 
and Capex-% oF SaleS 

dIvIdend per Share 
and epS   eur

neT InTereST-BearInG 
lIaBIlITIeS  meur  
and equITY raTIo  %

1) exCludInG BuSIneSS ComBInaTIonS

sAles  meur 

The Group’s sales grew strongly at 38.2% and gearing decreased to 78.7% in 
2011, both meeting well the Group’s financial target levels. There was also a 
clear improvement in the Group’s EBITa margin and return on equity in 2011, 
although annual financial target levels were not yet reached.

sAles growth  % ebitA  %

TarGeT       >10% per annum

TarGeT       >15%

1110090807 1110090807

32 53

147

201
176

77 68

138
121

139

65
27

-55
-96

-37

7 11
22

3535

%

1110090807 1110090807

384 382 389
477

365

0 0.1 0.3
2

0.2
0.6

-1.2

-0.1

0.6

1.4
1.7

37 39
44

3237

%

TarGeT  max 100%

TarGeT   >15% oF SaleS
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Key figures And rAtios 2011 2010 ChanGe, % 

income statement
Sales, meur 679.9 492.1 38.2 

eBITa, meur 71.1 34.5 106.1 

eBITa-% 10.5 7.0

operating profit/loss (eBIT), meur 54.3 27.4 98.3 

profit/loss before tax (eBT), meur 32.2 4.8  

profit/loss for the period, meur 23.5 -2.2  

Balance sheet
Gearing, % 78.7 103.4

equity ratio, % 44.4 38.7

net interest-bearing liabilities, meur 389.4 382.0 1.9 

Total assets, meur 1,126.8 965.7 16.7 

Shareholders’ equity, meur 445.2 319.3 39.4 

share related and other information
average personnel (FTe) 2,580 2,083 23.9 

number of depots 409 288 42.0 

return on equity, % 5.4 -0.6

return on investment, % 6.6 3.7

Gross capital expenditure, meur 262.5 86.2 204.5 

of which business combinations, meur 115.4 32.7 252.8 

Cash flow from operations, meur 138.5 68.3 102.7 

earnings per share (epS) undiluted, eur 0.60 -0.06  

earnings per share (epS) diluted, eur 0.60 -0.06  

dividend per share, eur 0.301 0.092 232.2

equity per share, eur 10.83 9.50 13.9 

market capitalisation, meur 327.8 585.0 -44.0 

more on key figures and rations on page 62 and calculations on page 99.
1) Board proposal
2) adjusted retrospectively for the bonus element of the rights issue completed in april 2011, see note 1

The Group’s eBITa at eur 
71.1 million was more than 
double compared to that of 
2010. as a result of 
favourable business 
development in all markets, 
the eBITa margin was 14.5% 
in the second half of the year.

The Group’s sales grew significantly both 
organically and as a consequence of 
acquisitions. Growth was achieved in all 
markets, in Eastern Europe and Finland in 
particular. Cash flow from operations was 
strong and the Group’s gearing continued 
to decrease in 2011. 

Return on equity turned positive.

The Year In BrIeF

averaGe numBer oF emploYeeS  
BY SeGmenT (FTe) 2011  (2010)  

SaleS BY SeGmenT 2011  (2010)  
meur

eBITa BY SeGmenT 2011  (2010)  
meur

Eastern Europe

Central Europe

Denmark

Norway

Sweden

Finland

309 (252)

128 (100)

79 (69)

35 (29)

71 (–)

67 (50) Eastern Europe

Central Europe

Denmark

Norway

Sweden

Finland

58 (41)

20 (12)

1 (0)

-2 (-5)

4 (–)

2 (-11) Eastern Europe

Central Europe

Denmark

Norway

Sweden

Finland

734 (677)

628 (529)

210 (184)

123 (117)

260 (–)

564 (518)
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Agility creAtes results At crAmo
Cramo responded quickly to the changing market situation in 2011. after a 
period of strong growth, the short-term focus shifted to profitability and cash 
flow. Sales and our EBITa increased well, while the balance sheet strengthened.

EBITa improvement accelerated. 
Due to favourable business 
development in all markets,  
EBITa developed positively 
especially in the second half  
of 2011.

Could you explain what renewing  
the Cramo Rental Concept means?
due to a Group-wide joint effort, we have 
revised our business model for general 
equipment rental, that is to say, what our 
product and service portfolio is, who our 
customers are, and how we do business 
with them. 

The renewed rental Concept, a 
proactive sales-oriented customer 
approach together with common resources 
and routines, enables us to serve our 
customers better with a wider prod  uct 
range and more efficiently. It provides us 
with a harmonised way to develop business 
in all markets, and thus brings economies 
of scale. The gradual implementation of the 
renewed concept has now started and, over 
time, we will provide our customers with 
uniform services and a uniform product 
offering in every market where we operate. 

Could you outline the progress made  
in implementing the strategy? 
The implementation of our strategy 
in all the other identified targets has 
also progressed well. For example, 
harmonisation of the systems and 

processes enabling efficient operation 
has resulted in the launch of the unified 
rental platform, developed in Sweden, in 
Finland in 2011, and later to other Cramo 
countries. utilisation of harmonised 
pricing and fleet management processes is 
reflected in increased equipment transfer 
and improved time utilisation rates in 
many countries. on the other hand, the 
acquisition of Theisen in Germany is a good 
example of the execution of our “win next 
markets” strategy, while acquisitions in 
norway and Sweden clearly demonstrate  
our “Best in town” approach. 

Could you talk about the economy. 
How has it affected Cramo’s business 
planning?
The year started with a positive market 
outlook, and recovery got underway in 
many european countries. we initiated 
vigorous implementation of our growth 
strategy, as the acquisitions made in the 
first half of the year demonstrate. 

while the economic uncertainty 
increased during the summer, we quickly 
shifted short-term focus from growth to 
optimising our profitability and ensuring 

Q4Q3Q2Q1

2

14

30 30

2

9 17 17

eBITa  meur

eBITa-%  

TarGeT       >15% oF SaleS
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In spring 2011, based on the 
authorisation given by the Annual 
General Meeting, a rights offering 
of EUR 100 million was carried 
out to support the growth strategy 
and strengthen the balance sheet. 
Gearing decreased further in 
the second half of 2011 due to 
improving profitability and positive 
cash flow.

a positive cash flow in all our business 
operations. we cut investments from the 
planned level, increased the efficiency 
of fleet optimisation, particularly 
between our markets. In addition, we 
boosted operational efficiency by cost 
cutting means. at the same time, all our 
contingency plans were updated.

What is your assessment of the financial 
performance during 2011?
we succeeded well in a changing market 
situation. lessons learnt from the previous 
downturn paid off. The Group sales grew 
significantly both organically and due to 
acquisitions in 2011. at the same time, we 
succeeded in more than doubling eBITa 
compared to 2010, and in decreasing the 
Group’s gearing under the target level.

I am delighted to report a positive 
result in all our business areas in the 
second half of the year, and strong sales 
and profit improvement in eastern europe, 
in particular. I am also pleased with the 
continued positive development of our 
Central european segment, which was 
formed in connection with the acquisition 
of Theisen Group.

What starting point does this  
fiscal year provide for 2012?
So far, no material changes have been 
seen in our major market areas – Finland, 

Sweden, norway and Germany. however, 
as there are uncertainties related to 
business development in the second half 
of 2012,  we take a cautious stand.

we have been able to achieve 
stronger organic growth compared to 
our competitors in the past few years. 
In addition, markets that are new to the 
Group, such as Germany, will balance 
country-specific risks. The expansion 
of the modular space product area over 
the past few years and outsourcing 
agreements have improved the stability 
of Cramo’s business. at the same time, 
we have improved the flexibility of our 
business by increasing the number of 
entrepreneur-managed depots and the 
use of temporary staff. The flexibilities 
related to fleet financing have also been 
increased, and processes related to fleet 
optimisation have been improved. 

I believe that we have a solid foundation 
for generating value, even in a less 
favourable business environment.

What is your message  
to Cramo’s employees?
as our employees’ contributions continue 
to lie at the heart of our success, I would 
like to thank you for your on-going 
commitment and preparedness in 2011. 
Stay prepared! In times of economic 
uncertainty, the importance of staying on 

our toes, open minds and acting fast are 
even more crucial for success. 

we are very focused on taking care 
of you as well as our customers, the 
environment and the communities in 
which we operate. our support of the un 
Global Compact is realised through our 
Cramo Care programme.

What is the most important  
thing shareholders and investors  
should know about Cramo?
I am confident that the Cramo team is 
stronger than ever. our systematic work 
during recent years has borne fruit. our 
market position is solid and our balance 
sheet is stronger. we have succeeded 
in restoring our profitability to a good 
level. our efficiency has improved while 
the Group’s gearing has decreased. 
as a company, we are faster and more 
flexible than ever. at the same time, there 
are no changes in long-term business 
fundamentals – great growth potential 
in rental penetration in many countries 
remains.

I thank you, our shareholders and 
investors, for the trust you place in our 
company. we do not take success for 
granted; but we are as determined as ever 
to continue our success. 

Sincerely,

vesa Koivula
president and Ceo

1. pRofitaBle gRowth
2. stRongeR Balance sheet
3. incReased flexiBility

Q4Q3Q2Q1Q4Q3Q2Q1Q4Q3Q2Q1
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deAr shAreholder,
The year 2011 was not as smooth sailing as we expected at the beginning of the year.

through acquisitions, but organic growth 
was equally strong, at over 20%.

our balance sheet improved during the 
year through the successful rights issue in 
april, providing eur 97.4 million in fresh 
equity. as stated at the issue, the funds 
were not used to fill voids caused by losses 
during recessionary times, but to fund 
forward-looking growth investments.

our cash flow from operations also 
improved through the year, and at year end 
our gearing ratio reached a healthy 78.7 %.

The Board proposes an increased 
dividend payment.

Group activities during the year 
concentrated on two main themes. on one 
hand, to successfully integrate our forward-
looking investments, i.e. acquisitions, in 
Germany, Sweden and norway, and, on the 
other hand, to continue implementing and 
fine tuning the Group´s strategic initiatives.

on acquisitions, I am happy to report 
the successful integration of Theisen, 
our big jump into the German market. In 
contrast to so many other acquisitions, 
Theisen has yielded a positive net cash 
return during its first year in the Group.

From a strategic point of view, going 
into Germany has proven to be a wise 
decision. The German economy is robust. 
after years of low investment levels, 
the German economy is now fuelled by 
increasing domestic investments. our two 
other main markets, Sweden and Finland, 
are also top performers within europe.

The German acquisition is fully in line 
with our strategic direction: we want to 
develop a strong domestic nordic base, and 
to use this platform to develop business in 
promising new economies. with Theisen, 
our european base now possesses the 
critical mass we need to advance our 
future Central european penetration.

The other major strategic theme is 
related to an internal development. with 
our background of bringing together a 
series of small, local rental businesses, 
there is a strong entrepreneurial tradition 
in the Group, a tradition according to which 
every depot will have to live on its own fleet.

however, we realised early the benefit 
of integrating fleet management, nationally 
and internationally. Joint management 
naturally renders better utilisation rates 
and improved financials. The challenge 
then is to combine entrepreneurial drive 
with group-wide optimisation of financial 

resources. results during 2011 provide 
evidence that we are making good 
progress.

as I already noted, 2011 was not a 
good year for shareholders. The bad 
performance of our share is not, as we 
have seen, a consequence of the Group’s 
performance.

The uncertain economic future of 
europe has not provided any basis to hope 
for the better. however, after bottoming at 
eur 5.68 per share on 4 october 2011, our 
share price has appreciated steadily to over 
eur 11 at the end of January 2012.

Cramo meets the future in a complex 
environment. lenders are told to improve 
their tier one capitalisation. This can 
be done only by investors increasing 
investments in lenders’ equity – which 
seems unlikely with today’s return 
perspectives – or by limiting risk by 
reducing lending.

It is evident that credit availability will 
have deep effects on how our customers, 
the construction industry may expand their 
business. however, governments have 
shown themselves to be willing to support 
infrastructure investments during recent 
recessionary times.

on the other hand, low availability 
of capital may also boost construction 
companies’ appetite for renting instead of 
owning.

Cramo meets the future with 
confidence. our home base now includes 
Sweden, Finland and Germany, three 
of the strongest economies in europe. 
operationally our business model 
continues to prove itself. Financially 
our room for manoeuvre has increased 
considerably.

we are fully aware of the fact that we still 
have to improve our financial performance 
in order to meet our own goals. we are fully 
aware of the perils of the future, and we 
stand prepared.

I thank all our old shareholders for their 
loyalty, and I welcome all new shareholders 
to a future of growth and profits.

helsinki, 5 February 2012

Stig Gustavson

The ChaIrman´S leTTer To ShareholderS

I do not intend to repeat here all the macro-
economic developments that shook europe 
during the year, with Greece, Italy, Spain, 
portugal…
 From a shareholder’s perspective, 2011 
was not a good year. Starting the year at 
eur 16.78, our share price at year end 
stood at eur 7.81.

From an operative perspective, however, 
the year was a good one. profit at the eBITa 
level doubled, total sales grew 38.2%. a 
considerable part of that growth came 
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renew 
cramo  
concept

implement 
cramo 
processes

develop 
cramo  
people

be “best in 
town”, win  
next markets

drive modular 
space growth

vision

mission

values

must-win battles

Credibility, Creativity, Commitment

Building flexibility and efficiency 
through rental solutions

The role model in rental

targets

stRategic 
Customer’s first choice

“Best in town”: #1 or possibility to become #1
Grow profitably faster than the market
driver of rental development

financial 2011 taRget
Sales growth, % 38.2 > 10% per annum
eBITa margin, %  10.5 > 15% of sales
return on equity, %  5.4  > 15% 
Gearing, % 78.7 max 100%
profit distribution policy over 1/3 about 1/3  of the  
  Group’s annual profit

strAtegy for 2010–2013
Cramo’s ambition is to become the role model in rental by rolling  
out the Cramo Concept with Cramo Processes and Cramo People. 
For the strategy period 2010–2013, five strategic priorities, must-win 
battles, have been identified to give Cramo the competitive edge. 
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our customers

Cramo acts as a total rental solution provider 
to the construction industry – both building and 
civil engineering. A wide range of products is 
also offered to customers in other industries, the 
public sector and private customers.  

renewAl

•	 Uniform customer segmentation model divided 
into value and business segments

•	 Identification of Group key accounts
•	 IT tool requirements for customer 

segmentation

solutions And services

Cramo specialises in equipment rental services 
and the rental and sale of modular space. Its 
equipment rental services comprise construction 
machinery and equipment rentals and rental-
related services. These rental-related services 
include construction site and installation services.    

renewAl

•	 Common Group services, solutions, rental 
options and customer support elements 
defined

The renewal of the Cramo rental Concept with supporting 
tools for training and follow-up was finalised in 2011, and 
roll-out to all operating countries began.

Cramo rental Concept is a common 
business model for the Group which 
defines products, solutions, services, 
customer segments and operating 
model. By developing a proactive sales-
oriented customer approach with common 
resources and routines between markets, 
Cramo creates economies of scale and 
scope, increasing its market share and 
operational efficiency.

tArgets for 2010–2013
      critical review and redefinition  

of cramo concept 
      roll out the renewed cramo concept  

to all operating countries

Achieved in 2011 
•	 cramo rental concept renewed in 

accordance with the group strategy
•	 group-wide concept training with sales 

and training material developed
•	 follow-up system with scorecard for 

prioritising and monitoring progress 
defined

•	 implementation of the new cramo 
rental concept started in all operating 
countries  

priorities for 2012–2013
•	 implementation of cramo rental 

concept continues in all operating 
countries, including training of 
personnel to ensure common 
understanding

•	 continuous further development  
of new offerings to cramo concept

renew 
cramo 
concept
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our products

Cramo provides total rental solutions from start 
to finish. The rental fleet is divided into four 
product areas: tools, construction equipment, 
access equipment and modular space. Cramo 
offers a full range of machinery and equipment 
needed in the construction industry. For 
other customer segments, a full range may 
be obtained by complementing the range of 
products that Cramo offers with the offerings of 
selected strategic partners.

renewAl

•	 Detailed lists of products suitable for 
centralised hubs and different depots

•	 Guideline for optimal product mix for all 
operating countries

•	 Guideline for introducing new products 
into markets

•	 Product assessment model to introduce 
new products

one strong brAnd

Cramo has one common way to act and look, 
one brand, for every stakeholder group in every 
market, and works systematically to develop 
further the strength of the Cramo brand.   

renewAl

•	 Validation of the adherence to existing identity 
and communication guidelines and policies

•	 Clarification and updates 

depot networK

Cramo has a distribution network that meets 
different customer demands for service and 
equipment availability. With its wide network 
of interconnected depots, Cramo combines the 
strengths of a local company with the resources 
of an international company. The key to success is 
excellent teamwork through efficient logistics.  

renewAl

•	 Best practice for the depot network structure 
including hubs

•	 Differentiation between different types of 
depots and equipment availability strengthened

rentAl benefits

Cramo is a leader in delivering and 
demonstrating customer value. 

renewAl

•	 Uniform pricing system for products 
and services 

•	 Pricing tool for product pricing and profitability

innovAtion

To meet the challenges set by rapidly changing 
rental markets, Cramo has a structured way of 
working with continuous development.

renewAl

•	 Proposal for a harmonised innovation process 
on the operating country level 

•	 15 ways to create a sustainable culture of 
innovation

trAining for the 
renewed crAmo rentAl 
concept stArted

company, says mrs liene pakalne, depot 
manager in riga.

– The training succeeded well as our local 
managers took care of it in pairs. It was 
good to see that we had lively discussions 
not only on how to bring further value to 
our customers by harmonising our way 
to work, but also how to do profitable 
business in the long run, says mr richard 
batarags, head of Sales in latvia and 
lithuania, and one of the fourteen trainers.

– all our trainers will now promote the 
new concept daily at work, and they are 
also responsible for a certain step in the 

STraTeGY

at the end of november, all Cramo 
employees and agents in lithuania, latvia 
and Kaliningrad got familiar with the 
different parts of the renewed Cramo 
rental Concept in three intensive one-day 
training sessions.
 
– The training was very useful in order 
to get a common view and understanding 
of the renewed rental Concept – where 
to go, how to grow and what services to 
offer. It shows how we can provide our 
customers further value through new 
services, solutions and training, while we 
have opportunities to develop ourselves 
and have input in the development of the 

further implementation. For instance, 
I’m looking at how the Cramo Flexi will 
be introduced into the markets here. we 
will have an e-learning training in local 
languages in spring 2012 to ensure deeper 
understanding of the concept.
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uniform rentAl plAtform 
brings better Accessibility

– our employees have been strongly 
committed to deploying the new erp, 
and our trainers have ensured that there 
is enough knowledge to use the system 
at depots. working with Sweden and 
Cramo IT continues, and rental business 
processes functionality within modular 
space will be added to the system by 
spring 2012. 

– The common rental platform requires 
harmonised processes and uniform 
ways of working in fleet management. 
Transparency in the fleet is reflected 
in better accessibility and quality of 
equipment. at the same time, we can 

– with the new rental platform we 
have got more efficient tools for fleet 
management resulting in increased 
versatility and customer friendliness. we 
can provide our customers with quicker 
information on the available fleet, and 
have more time for customer service as 
manual work decreases, says mr sami 
tarhi, depot manager at Cramo Finland, 
speaking about consistent rental platform 
(erp) implementation in Finland in 2011.

– The implementation of the erp 
has been a success, says mrs petra 
munnukka, project manager, responsible 
for implementation in Finland. 

offer more alternatives for invoicing and 
improved reporting. our fleet efficiency 
will be increased through fleet transfers 
and increased optimisation, adds mr 
tatu hauhio, Senior vice president and 
managing director of Cramo Finland.

implement 
cramo 
processes

Development and implementation of uniform rental platform and harmonised 
key processes proceeded well in 2011, and will continue in 2012.

Cramo creates operational excellence and 
the possibility to achieve cost leadership 
through a harmonised rental platform 
and harmonised business processes. 
The business processes covered are: 
basic equipment rental operations, fleet 
management, modular rental operations, 
finance processes, offering and product 
development, depot start-ups, training and 
quality assurance, sustainability as well as 
marketing, branding and communications.

•	 A new reporting system for steering 
depot operations implemented in all 
countries

•	 implementation of quality, safety and 
environmental activities – identified in 
the qse Action list in 2010, initiated

priorities for 2012–2013
•	 implement the harmonised rental 

platform (business processes and  
erp system) in all nordic markets  
and central europe

•	 initiate development of a new speed 
rental concept for enhancing customer’s 
rental process

•	 continue implementation of quality, 
safety and environmental activities in  
all cramo countries

•	 roll out of iso certification outside the 
nordic countries

•	 extend certification from environmental 
(iso 14001) quality management (iso 
9001) to work environmental and safety 
certification (qhsAs 18001)

tArgets for 2010–2013
implement unified cramo processes 
throughout the group:

      roll out a consistent rental platform and 
harmonised key business processes 

      develop uniform quality, safety and 
environmental processes and standards 
(qse) 

      roll out unified tools for business 
control and fleet management 

Achieved in 2011
•	 the new rental platform implemented 

in finland – the enterprise resource 
planning system (erp) was first 
launched in sweden in 2010

•	 further development of the rental 
platform – for example, long-term 
rental business processes functionality 
within modular space (to be launched in 
february 2012)

•	 further development and fine-tuning 
of tools within business control, 
pricing and fleet management – major 
improvements in cramo business 
intelligence toolbox
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shAred vAlues And wAy of 
worKing through crAmopol

Core concepts and models with supporting tools and templates 
were finalised in all focus areas, and their implementation in 
the operating countries was initiated.

Cramo aims to have the best people in the 
market with an entrepreneurial service 
attitude. The unique Cramo spirit should 
be second to none. 

tArgets for 2010–2013
      develop cramo people to be passionate 

rental business champions
      roll out new models for training and 

inter-company job rotation as well as 
best practice sharing 

      improve employee satisfaction and 
employee productivity

       strengthen cramo’s corporate culture 
and the cramo spirit

Achieved in 2011 
•	 cramopol, a tool for communicating 

strategy and values, rolled-out in nine 
operating countries

•	 A new employee development 
framework defined including description 
of competences and skills as well as 
core training and development offering 
at the group and operating country level 

•	 the cramo Academy, a leadership 
training programme supporting 
development and implementation of 
the group strategy, carried out second 

develop 
cramo 
people

time with some 30 managers and key 
employees

•	 the cramo Assignment policy and  
the repatriation process defined,  
their implementation initiated

•	 the cramo dialogue model with 
supporting tools and templates finalised

•	 cramo performance management 
model for systematic target setting  
and follow-up defined

priorities for 2012–2013
•	 continue to roll out the new models  

with focus on the employee development 
framework, intercompany job rotation, 
best practise sharing and performance 
management

•	 carry out an uniform employee survey  
in every country 

•	 further develop and use cramopol in  
international communication

operating principles, says mrs magda 
michniewska, marketing manager at 
Cramo poland, responsible for Cramopol 
in the country.

– Cramopol is clearly the best imaginable 
way to communicate the values and 
the vital points of strategy, creating a 
space where a direct contact between 
the top management and the rest of the 
employees is very natural. It provides 
better understanding of the direction in 
which we are heading as a company and 
what tools we have to achieve our goals. 
The game will be used to on-board new 
employees in the future. It will also be 
useful to create new situations and new 

– The communication throughout the 
organisation is much better now.  we 
asked our employees to speak up, and 
it’s great to realise that they do so! our 
service people have brought up many 
interesting initiatives on how to develop 
our operations. our people recognised 
that everybody counts. These are just a few 
comments from polish depot managers on 
the benefits of Cramopol in 2011.

– Cramopol was an excellent occasion to 
get familiar with employees from other 
depots, to learn from others and share 
knowledge. In addition, one of the lessons 
learnt was that it is fine to be different, 
as long as you are at one about the main 

knowledge questions, as the organisation 
changes and develops, notes mr bernard 
michalczewski, Country manager at Cramo 
poland.

2011 2010 Change, %

average number  
of employees (FTe) 2,580 2,083 23.9

number of employees  
at end of period (FTe) 2,707 2,131 27.0
Total number  
of employees 2,809 2,205 27.4

permanently 
employed 2,630 2,080 26.4
temporarily 
employed 179 125 43.2

women 381 270 41.1

men 2,428 1,935 25.5

personnel expenses 
/employee (1,000 eur) 52.6 48.9 7.5

personnel expenses 
/Sales, % 20.0 20.7 -3.6

Key figures

emploYeeS BY CounTrY 31 deCemBer 2011 
(2010)

Sweden 830 (699)

laTvIa 37 (38)
lIThuanIa 48 (39)

ruSSIa 136 (120)
FInland 647 (590)

BelGIum 1 (1)
GermanY 256 auSTrIa 30

SwITZerland 7
hunGarY 2CZeCh reBuBlIC 50 (45)

SlovaKIa 13 (11)

norwaY 221 (189)

denmarK 124 (120)

eSTonIa 127 (114)

poland 179 (165)
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desired geogrAphicAl 
presence reAched, “best in 
town” strAtegy in full spring

as well as in austria, Switzerland and 
hungary. hence, we shifted our focus to 
strengthening our position further in the 
existing markets through acquisitions and 
internal activities, says Cramo Group’s 
president and Ceo, mr vesa Koivula.

In June, Cramo became the regional 
leader in the Gothenburg area in Sweden 
and in the oslo area in norway.

– The acquisition of Tidermans, one of 
the largest regional rental operators in 
western Sweden, was an important part 
of our strategy. we are now a leading 
player in all metropolitan areas of our 
home markets, says mr erik bengtsson, 
Senior vice president and managing 

Cramo pursued its win next markets and be 
“Best in town” strategy vigorously through 
acquisitions in the first half of 2011. In 
January, the company acquired one of the 
top-three providers of equipment rental 
services in Germany, Theisen Group.

- as a result, our market position was 
strengthened, and we became the second 
largest in the european equipment rental 
market. also we got presence in all those 
markets where we currently want to 
enlarge our operations, in europe’s third 
largest equipment rental market Germany, 

director of Cramo Sweden. – This deal is 
an excellent strategic match, and we have 
complementing strengths which we can 
use jointly for the benefit of our customers.

– The acquisition of Stavdal utleiesenter 
is in line with Cramo’s ambitions for 
increased activity and enhanced market 
share in norway. with it, we gained the 
leading position in the oslo area, and got 
a better foothold in new customer groups 
of small and medium-sized companies, 
says Senior vice president and managing 
director of Cramo norway, mr finn 
løkken.

In 2011, Cramo’s geographical presence was enlarged to 
cover all the prioritised markets, and the focus was 
shifted to being “Best in town”. Implementation of  
the “Best in town” strategy got well underway.

Achieved in 2011 
•	 depot-level action plans started in 2010 

finalised and their implementation 
initiated

•	 position as the leading rental solution 
provider gained and strengthened 
in several local markets through 
acquisitions 

•	 A uniform acquisition integration model 
developed

•	 geographical presence expanded into 
germany, Austria, switzerland and 
hungary

priorities for 2012–2013
•	 implementation of the “best in town” 

concept continues
•	 strengthening position in existing 

markets with leading local position

Cramo strives to be the best in each 
“town” of operation. This means being 
the leading rental solutions provider 
in each homogeneous local market 
that is each city, district or region. as a 
result of continuous evaluation of depot 
performance, decisions will be made for 
expansion and development, changes in 
mode of operations, or closures.  

tArgets for 2010–2013
       roll out the “best in town” strategy
      develop a uniform integration model
      drive growth in russia
      enter selected new european markets

be “best in 
town”, win 
next markets
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non-construction modulAr spAce 
ApplicAtions gAin populArity 

Cramo has strengthened its modular space organisation and application offering in order 
to drive modular space growth in Norway, Denmark and the Eastern European countries.

Cramo believes that there is strong 
underlying growth for modular space 
applications in the nordics, and attractive 
roll-out opportunities to other markets. 
modular space business creates stability 
through long-term agreements and a 
more balanced customer portfolio due 
to the importance of the public sector 
as a key customer. It also differentiates 
Cramo from its competitors and provides 
synergies with general rental.

tArgets for 2010–2013
drive modular space growth specifically 
in norway and denmark and outside the 
nordic countries:

       grow faster than the market
      maintain the clear leading position in 

finland and sweden
      strengthen position in norway and 

denmark
      seize the opportunity of the less mature 

central and eastern european markets

Achieved in 2011 
•	 cross-border support teams were 

established for marketing and sales, 
repair, maintenance and assembly of  
non-construction applications

•	 standardised product offering completed.  
two high-quality energy-efficient 
modules for school, day-care and office 
applications launched: one that meets the 
highest requirements and another which 
is easily transferable between countries

•	 A new concept, optimised space, was 
developed to create a uniform base for 
sales and marketing of cramo’s modular 
space applications in all markets

•	 construction of a hub structure for 
norway and denmark completed

•	 on-going participation in industry 
organisations and co-operation with 
decision makers at local level

In October 2011, some forty children 
entered new spacious day care premises 
based on Cramo’s non-construction 
modular application in Babite 
municipality in Latvia. 
 

modules in the Baltics. Smooth co-
operation with our norwegian colleagues 
providing the modules and with our local 
assembly partner making adjustments 
needed to meet the requirements resulted 
in delivery within three months from the 
order, says mr Janis freimanis, head of 
Sales at Cramo latvia.

– This case clearly demonstrates that our 
strategy of driving modular space growth 
works in the markets where modular 
space solutions for schools, day cares and 
offices are still relatively unknown, adds 
mr ossi Alastalo, Senior vice president, 
modular Space at Cramo. 

drive modular 
space growth

priorities for 2012–2013
•	 enhance the rental of new products as well 

as understanding of the harmonised sales 
and customer service concept

•	 strengthen the network of support people 
and knowledge transfer to assist new 
countries

•	 develop a modular space strategy for 
germany

•	 drive modular space growth in norway, 
denmark and eastern european countries

modular SpaCe order BooK meur

1110090807

103
88

103107
95

– with the decreasing birth rate, 
the number of children in the Babite 
municipality is decreasing, and thus there 
is no need for a new day care building in the 
long-run. Setting up a modular building is 
considerably cheaper; around 13% of the 
costs of the construction of a new one. 
hence, Cramo’s modular space rental for 
a fixed period was found to be the best 
solution. It is a comfortable and functional 
building with spacious rooms for children, 
says mr Andrejs ence, Chairman of Babite 
municipality Council in latvia.

– as a result of a public tender, we got 
our third reference on non-construction 

STraTeGY

SaleS oF modular SpaCe 2011 (2010) 
% oF Group SaleS

26 (30)
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customer cAre

•	 We help our customers to meet their 
sustainability targets and strengthen  
their sustainability profile

•	 We develop market-leading sustainability 
services in co-operation with key customers

•	 We offer safe products to our customers 

employee cAre & ethics

•	 We offer attractive working conditions to 
increase employee and supplier engagement 
and loyalty

environmentAl cAre

•	 We have high environmental standards in our 
production and customer offerings

20

cramo care 
– harmonised 
approach to 
sustainability

In 2011, Cramo Care, a common framework for sustainability and 
responsibility, was further developed. The first implementations  
into business plans were carried out in Sweden.

tArgets of crAmo cAre
cramo care aims to meet increasing 
demands on sustainability from key 
customers, thus also generating higher 
profits. At the same time, it will build trust 
in the cramo brand.  

       become the leader in responsibility and 
customer care 

Achieved in 2011 
•	 A survey carried out on key customers’ 

demands on sustainability in finland 
and sweden. their interest in forming 
strategic partnership in this area verified

•	 benchmark against main competitors

•	 incremental development of strategy 
and road map together with planning of 
organisation, based on already existing 
positions in the group continued

•	 safety, work environment and 
environmental issues included in 
business planning in sweden 

•	 A pilot on sustainability reporting based 
on the global reporting initiative (gri) 
accomplished in sweden

•	 co-operation with the swedish institute 
initiated to assess further trends and 
customer demands in the baltics, russia 
and poland

•	 A group-level co-ordinator was appointed 
to monitor execution of the strategy and 
roadmap 

•	 sustainability training was started as 
part of cramopol and cramo Academy

priorities for 2012–2013
•	 step-by-step implementation and 

adaption of the cramo care strategy and 
organisation, e.g. further development 
and roll out of gri-based sustainability 
reporting

•	 full quality, safety and environment 
(qse) certification of all operations  
in finland

Cramo 
Care’S KeY 
ISSueS

climAte

suppliers

trAining

qse

worKplAce

sociAl  
responsibility

mAnAgement 
system

reporting

leAdership in 
responsibility 

And customer cAre

introducing climate calculations in the nordic countries

introducing sustainability requirements in our supplier contract

developing cramo school, cramo Academy and rolling out cramopol

group-level reporting of accidents at work including reduction target

we build trust and credibility in the local community

iso, code of conduct, operating principles, 
customer and market surveys

un global compact and global reporting initiative (gri) as the basis

implementation of the quality, safety, environment (qse) Action  
list in every country



Cramo  aNNUaL rEPorT 2011 21Cramo Care

CapITal STruCTure
neT InTereST-BearInG lIaBIlITIeS 
ToTal equITY   meur

maTerIalS and ServICeS  
purChaSed meur

1110090807

384 382 389
477

365

338 369
495

320
334

1110090807

151
183

248
196

171

CuSTomerS

•	 sales 
679.9  (492.1)

•	 other operating income 
9.0  (15.1)

SupplIerS oF maTerIalS and ServICeS

•	 materials and services  
and other expenses 387.2 (286.1) ↑ 35.3%

•	 gross capital expenditure 147.1 (52.4) ↑ 174.9%

perSonnel

•	 employee salaries,  
wages and bonuses 105.8 (78.4) ↑ 35.0%

puBlIC SeCTor and SoCIeTY

•	 taxes and social  
security charges 32.2 (26.0) ↑ 23.7%

ownerS and FInanCIal CommunITY

•	 finance expenses 29.4 (29.3) ↑ 0.2%
•	 dividends 3.2 (0.0) 

cRamo

responsibility towArds the environment And  
society provides prerequisites for long-term  
business excellence And finAnciAl performAnce 
meur 2011 (2010)

Due to the increasing business, 
purchases of materials and services 
has increased.

Cramo strengthened its balance 
sheet through a rights offering of 
approximately EUR 100 million.

implementAtion  
progresses step-by-step
DEPENDING oN ThE PrESENT QSE SITUaTIoN IN EaCh CoUNTry

inventory to better manage our climate 
impact. our next efforts will include 
emission reduction targets for the coming 
years and offer climate neutral office 
solutions, says mr tor loraas, qSe and 
purchase manager at Cramo aS in norway.

– Continuous improvement in occupational 
safety plays a vital role. as a part of this, 
we organise yearly safety training for all 
technicians and sales people not only to 
make their work safer but also to enable 
them to give our customers good advice to 
make their work places safer too, says mr 
david vašíček, Sales director at Cramo in 
the Czech republic and Slovakia.

marketing manager at Cramo Finland and 
one of the organisers of the seminar.

In Sweden, Cramo published its first GrI-
based sustainability report for the year 
2010. 

– we hope that this report offers our 
customers an overall view of the path 
we have chosen in order to be a role 
model within rental as well as within 
sustainability, says mr martin freland, 
environmental and quality manager 
responsible for the qSe program at Cramo.

– In addition to being ISo 14001 certified, 
our goal is to become more climate-
friendly and reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions from our activities. In 2011, 
this ambition led us to develop a carbon 

– as we are committed to high quality 
in our operations, we also want to raise 
the importance of construction quality 
for a broader discussion. For example, 
we organised a seminar on “we hate 
work done poorly” together with the 
Construction quality association and 
laatukeskus excellence Finland for major 
construction companies, developers and 
other real estate owners, such as the 
largest cities, says mr lasse huuhka, 

Cramo is a main sponsor 
to SoS Childrens villages.
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crAmo is well positioned
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totAl solution provider
Cramo has an extensive, balanced portfolio 
with over 200,000 units across four product 
areas combined with an offering of rental-
related services enabling early entry in 
projects.
 
modulAr spAce opportunities
Cramo is the leading player in both construction 
and non-construction modular space 
applications in the Nordic markets with growth 
opportunities in existing and new markets.

growing construction mArKet
The construction markets are anticipated to grow 
at a moderate pace in most Cramo countries 
in 2012–2013. In the long-term, there is growth 
potential in construction especially in Eastern 
European markets.1

increAsing rentAl penetrAtion
Use of rental in construction is still in its infancy 
in Central and Eastern Europe when compared to 
other countries.

outsourcing
Interest in fleet outsourcing continues to increase 
among construction companies, releasing capital 

opportunities  
in rentAl

business drivers

crAmo’s strengths

operAtionAl efficiency
Cramo has an advanced fleet management and 
operating platform covering all market areas. 
The cornerstones for fleet optimisation are 
standardised fleet, harmonised fleet management 
processes, fleet optimisation between markets and 
depots, and active investment management and 
fleet life cycle optimisation.

strong brAnd
Cramo has a well-established brand. It is known 
as a reliable supplier with a proven track record 

for short- and long-term rentals and project and 
outsourcing agreements.  

flexible business model
Cramo has improved flexibility throughout 
operations. Modular space, outsourcing agreements 
and a wide geographical footprint bring stability. 
Increased use of temporary staff, implementation 
of the franchising concept and increased fleet 
efficiency and use of flexible means of fleet 
financing improve Group agility.

and increasing flexibility. The trend is  
expected to continue both in the short  
and long term.

technologicAl innovAtion
General replacement of manpower within 
technology is underway in construction.  
The need for efficiency and sustainable rental 
solutions is expected to remain highest in more 
mature markets. 

rentAl relAted services
Construction companies tend to purchase 
an increasing amount of external services 
from rental companies for a well-maintained 

and operated fleet at the right time at the 
construction site. 

demogrAphic chAnges
Population growth together with increasing 
migration, urbanisation and aging drives growing 
demand for improved infrastructures and for 
more flexible solutions creating demand for 
modular space.  

consolidAtion
Consolidation is expected to continue in the rental 
industry.

lArger footprint  
together with the 
Acquired theisen group
Cramo is the second largest 
rental solution provider in 
Europe, and is well positioned 
in growing rental markets.

1) euroconstruct, november 2011
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outsiders´
views

The ability to outsource equipment 
maintenance and reduce capital costs 
increases flexibility of total equipment 
costs. This advantage drives long-term 
increasing demand for equipment rentals.

another important factor to assess is 
the positioning and track record of the 
individual company, and the price we need 
to pay for the equity. 

a challenge in the equipment rental 
industry is its severe cyclicality, with 
industry cycles being magnified by 
underlying cycles in the construction 
industry. In this perspective, any actions 
from the companies aimed at reducing 
cyclicality are welcome. as income volatility 
comes down, risk premiums attached to 
the stock by investors will decline as well 
– thus providing a positive trigger for the 
stock price.

”The equipment rental  
industry is an interesting 
industry driven by long-term 
penetration levels of outsourcing 
in the construction industry. ”

Truls haugen
Senior portfolio manager
odIn Fund management, norway

From then onwards the bad news 
associated with the financial markets have 
dented business and consumer confidence. 
The year 2012 will unfortunately be a year 
of stagnation in large parts of the european 
economy, with growth hovering around zero 
in most economies. provided the european 
union gets its house in order and the 
extreme financial uncertainty dissipates up 
to summer 2012, growth will resume. The 
nordic countries and Sweden and norway 
in particular are then well equipped to 
show a substantial pickup of economic 
growth from fall 2012 onwards.

“Economic recovery in Europe 
and Scandinavia was 
encouraging up to spring 2011.” 

Juhana vartiainen
head of macroeconomic research
The national Institute of economic 
research (nIer), Sweden

while construction spending in eastern europe is expected to finish 2011 with a growth 
of 5.8%, western european markets in total are continuing to languish, with spending 
expected to decline 0.4%.

The IhS five-year outlook sees construction spending in eastern europe to grow 
by nearly 6% per year in average. Because the economic outlook has become cloudy, 
rental companies remain cautious when it comes to investments. For 2012, we still 
expect that there will be a solid growth of rental turnover in poland (14%) and the 
nordic countries without denmark (7%–9%). Growth in Germany, the Benelux and 
France will be between 3% and 5%, but add on top of the already recovered revenue 
levels of 2011. 

For 2013, we expect a lower - but still positive - rental growth in europe than in 
2012. however, it has to be taken into account that there are downside risks to these 
forecasts depending on how the sovereign debt crisis will evolve. 
→ The complete comment www.cramo.com > Investors > market data > outsider view

”Rental revenues in Europe 
showed solid growth of an 
estimated 5.5% in 2011.”

lorenz Kleist
IhS emea Consulting Services. author of the era european 
equipment rental Industry reports 2009–2011, Germany
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growth expected  
to be moderAte
The recovery which started in the global economy in 2009–2010 continued in the  
first half of 2011. Since then, however, substantially worse developments in financial 
markets, combined with a weaker-than-expected global recovery have taken a toll on 
European economic growth. a general return to the growth path is only expected for  
late 2012, but growth is projected to remain subdued.1 Despite increased turbulence, 
construction order books and equipment rental activity have remained strong throughout 
2011 in Cramo’s main markets. The outlook for 2012 is nevertheless cautious.
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regionAl vAriAtions in 
rentAl business conditions 
high, crAmo’s mAin mArKets 
expected to perform 
relAtively well
The recovery of rental activity in europe, 
which generally started around mid-
2010, picked up speed in early 2011. The 
european rental market is forecasted to 
have grown by 5.5% in 2011. however, the 
dampening of rental business confidence 
levels in the second half of 2011 reflect 
wider concerns about europe’s economic 
prospects.2

The development in the rental business 
in europe continued to be heterogeneous. 
Cramo’s markets performed well, in 
general, with the strongest growth in 

2011 estimated to have taken place in 
poland, russia and the Baltic countries, 
followed by Germany and the nordic 
Countries, with the exception of denmark, 
where the recovery started later and has 
been less substantial. In 2012, Cramo’s 
biggest markets, the nordic Countries 
and Germany, are expected to continue 
growing at 5–9%, while higher growth 
rates are expected for some of the eastern 
european markets, with poland, for 
example, expected to grow by 14%.2 

rental market growth, in general, was 
driven by a combination of improving rental 
rates and utilisations particularly in the 
first half of 2011. Increasing inflationary 
pressure fuels expectations about slight 
increases of rental rates also going 
forward. apart from the risks stemming 
from a difficult economic and political 
context, rental penetration is expected to 
further increase in the long term.2 

Fleet investments of european rental 
companies increased in 2011 to 14% of 
the original acquisition cost, which is 
clearly higher than the levels of the two 
preceding years. Current expectations are 
that 2012 investments will stay close to 
the 2011 level, but as a result of the short-
term economic outlook with potential for 
another economic contraction starting in 
summer 2012, rental companies remain 
cautious with respect to their investment 
strategy.2

The european rental market continues 
to be fragmented, dominated by national 
players, with a few big international 
companies. In 2011, however, there was 
an upturn of m&a activities, particularly in 
Germany, France and the nordic Countries. 
In January 2011, Cramo became the 
second largest equipment rental services 
company in europe by acquiring German-
based Theisen Group.GrowTh In renTal Turnover  

(nomInal) CurrenT prICeS %

Spain

UK

Italy

Belgium

France

The Nether-
lands

Denmark

Germany

Norway

Finland

Sweden

Poland 29.9 (14.3)

11.9 (7.4)

11.3 (8.9)

11.3 (8.0)

11.1 (5.2)

8.1 (5.8)

7.8 (5.6)

5.4 (4.3)

6.6 (3.4)

3.6 (1.4)

2.9 (4.8)

-14.4 (-8.6)

2011 eSTImaTe        2012 eSTImaTe    

Source: European rental association, the European 
Equipment rental Industry 2011 report, autumn 2011
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Russia

Hungary

Slovakia

Czech 
Republic

Poland

Lithuania

Latvia

Estonia

Switzerland

Austria

Germany

Denmark

Norway

Sweden

Finland 3.1 (1.4)

4.0 (1.4)

2.4 (2.7)

1.2 (1.4)

2.9 (0.8)

2.9 (0.9)

1.7 (1.9)

8.0 (3.2)

4.5 (2.5)

6.1 (3.4)

4.0 (2.5)

1.8 (0.7)

2.9 (1.1)

1.4 (0.5)

3.9 (3.8)

2011 eSTImaTe        2012 eSTImaTe    

Source: European Commission Economic Forecast, 
autumn 2011

Gdp (real) GrowTh ConSTanT prICeS %

Russia

Hungary

Slovakia

Czech 
Republic

Poland

Lithuania

Latvia

Estonia

Switzerland

Austria

Germany

Denmark

Norway

Sweden

Finland 2.6 (-2.2)

3.5 (2.4)

6.3 (6.3)

3.3 (3.7)

3.7 (1.8)

0.7 (0.7)

2.6 (3.2)

16.0 (8.0)

11.0 (-4.0)

21.0 (-4.0)

12.9 (4.1)

-6.2 (-4.0)

-5.5 (2.6)

-10.8 (-2.3)

5.0 (4.0)

2011 eSTImaTe        2012 eSTImaTe    

Source: Euroconstruct, November 2011/ VTT, December 2011

ConSTruCTIon ouTpuT (real) GrowTh 
ConSTanT prICeS %

of 1.3% for 2013. however, in europe as 
a whole, the economic outlook varies 
considerably from country to country; 
differences in growth performance relate 
to the legacy of the credit and housing 
boom as well as different openness to, and 
orientation of, international trade.1

In Cramo’s market area, all economies 
are expected to have grown in 2011, with 
the Baltic Countries, russia, poland, the 
nordic Countries, Germany and austria 
enjoying strong economic growth. The 
outlook for 2012 is more moderate, with 
the Baltic Countries, russia, poland and 
norway expected to continue showing good 
rates of growth, while other economies are 
forecasted to grow between 0.5% and 1.5%.

economic growth slows down
mostly due to the strong Gdp growth in the 
first quarter, annual Gdp growth for 2011 is 
estimated to remain at 1.5% in the euro area.1

The uncertainty related to the sovereign 
debt crisis and the european banking sector 
is expected to gradually fade, provided the 
necessary policy measures are implemented. 
nevertheless, growth is likely to be held 
back by more difficult financing conditions, 
ongoing deleveraging and sectoral 
adjustment. only after some quarters of zero 
or close-to-zero Gdp growth, a gradual and 
feeble return of growth is projected in the 
second half of 2012.1

as a result, Gdp growth of only 0.5% 
is expected for 2012 in the euro area and 

construction forecAsts  
Also reduced
In 2011, the recovery in european 
construction was slower than foreseen 
and the year is expected to have marked 
another year of decline in construction 
output for europe. Consequently, the start-
up of a recovery in construction at the total 
european level is expected to be delayed at 
least until late 2012.3

as expected, regional differences in 
the rate of construction recovery have 
remained significant. In Cramo’s markets, 
construction output is expected to have 
enjoyed double-digit growth in the Baltic 
Countries and poland in 2011, with also 
russia, the nordic Countries and Germany 
forecasted to have seen strong growth. 
on the other hand, the Czech republic, 
Slovakia and hungary have developed 
more negatively than expected. Growth in 
2011 has been fuelled by a surge in new 
residential construction in many markets. 
however, the nordic Countries, the Baltic 
Countries, Germany and russia have 
experienced relatively balanced recovery 
across the construction subsegments, 
with the exceptions of a struggling civil 

1)  European Commission Economic Forecast, autumn 2011; 2) European rental association, the Equipment rental Industry 2011 report, autumn 2011 and Cramo management estimates; 
3) Euroconstruct, November 2011 and VTT, December 2011.

engineering segment in Finland and a new 
non-residential construction segment in 
denmark. Construction growth in poland 
continued to be much more driven by the 
booming civil engineering segment than in 
other countries.3

Forecasts for 2012 indicate positive 
but fragile growth in construction in most 
of Cramo’s markets. Construction output 
in russia, poland, estonia, Germany and 
the nordic Countries (except Finland) is 
expected to continue growing at a good 
rate. norway and denmark are expected 
to improve this year, whereas growth in 
Sweden and Finland is expected to slow 
down and Finland is even predicted to 
fall into negative territory. residential 
construction is to remain the main growth 
driver in most countries even in 2012, 
but focus is forecasted to shift towards 
residential renovation from new start-
ups. non-residential construction is 
expected to remain at a good level in many 
countries, while the civil engineering 
segment is forecasted to continue to 
struggle. In poland, civil engineering 
activity is expected to normalise after 
several boom years.3
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 flexibility  
 According 
to your needs
adapt to changing conditions by adjusting the size of 
your fleet based on the optimal rental option – short- 
or long-term, project or Flexi.
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 from stArt 
 to finish
a full range of machines, equipment, modular 
space, rental-related services and customer support 
at every phase of the project. or as a long-term 
complement to your own resources.
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finlAnd

•	 Increase market share
•	 return eBITa to 2008 levels
•	 Implement several new service 

offerings 
 
 
 
 

•	 #2 market position strengthened
•	 Significant outsourcing agreements 

signed in late 2010 implemented and 
customer relations strengthened

•	 profitability improved
•	 organisation change and further 

training carried out to increase 
customer focus 
 
 
 
 
 
 

•	 leverage the new customer-focused 
organisation

•	 Introduce new services and concepts
•	 Implement “Best in town” strategy

sweden

•	 Be “Best in town”
•	 Increase efficiency
•	 Improve profitability and return on 

investment 
 
 
 
 

•	 #1 market position strengthened 
through acquisition

•	 efficiency improved in fleet 
management processes

•	 profitability improved
•	 new rental concepts launched 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

•	 roll out Speed rental concept
•	 Further develop effective pricing
•	 enhance efficiency

norwAy

•	 Improve profitability and return on 
investment

•	 Be “Best in town”
•	 Grow organically and through 

outsourcing and acquisitions 
 
 
 

•	 profitability turned positive 
•	 reorganisation of logistics, transport 

and service network completed
•	 #1 market position achieved in access 

equipment
•	 position strengthened particularly in 

the oslo region and among small and 
medium-sized construction companies 
 
 
 
 
 
 

•	 Further develop effective pricing
•	 expand and further build  

non-construction modular space
•	 drive performance management

strategic targets for 2010–2013

Key activities and achievements in 2011

operational priorities in 2012

financial performance 2007–2011

increAsed business Agility  
in All mArKets

SaleS meur eBITa meur SaleS meur eBITa meur SaleS meur eBITa meur

SaleS GrowTh % eBITa % SaleS GrowTh % eBITa % SaleS GrowTh % eBITa %
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denmArK

•	 achieve acceptable level of profitability
•	 Be “Best in town” in selected areas 
•	 Seek growth in the modular space 

business in particular 
 
 
 
 

•	 Clear improvement in profitability
•	 depot structure development initiated 

in line with the renewed Cramo 
Concept

•	 position strengthened in construction 
and non-construction modular space 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

•	 Further roll-out of the Cramo rental 
Concept and “Best in town” approach

•	 enhance leading position in non-
construction modular space 

•	 drive performance management

eAstern europe
From January 2011 onwards,  
formerly Central and Eastern Europe

•	 Grow profitably faster than the market
•	 Be the best rental service provider on 

the local level in each market
•	 decrease dependence on the 

construction industry 
 
 
 

•	 profitability and fleet efficiency 
improved in all markets

•	 position strengthened in the Baltic 
countries and in general rental in the 
Czech republic and Slovakia

•	 development of organisation and 
introduction of tools offering in russia

•	 rental of non-construction modular 
space applications was further 
developed in the Baltic countries and 
russia and was also initiated in poland 
 
 
 

•	 drive modular business growth in the 
Baltic countries and russia

•	 Implement the Cramo rental Concept 
and harmonised processes 

•	 drive performance management

centrAl europe
From February 2011 onwards

•	 expand product and service offering in  
stages according to the Cramo Concept 

•	 Improve profitability 
 
 
 
 
 

•	 Integration of Theisen Group 
completed

•	 profitability improved in line with 
Cramo’s expectations

•	 Change of business model initiated, 
including renewal of depot structure, 
process harmonisation and enlarging 
the offering with access equipment 
and tools 
 
 
 
 
 

•	 roll out the “Best in town” strategy 
and Cramo rental Concept in stages

•	 enhance process harmonisation
•	 develop depot-level steering

SaleS meur eBITa meur SaleS meur eBITa meur SaleS meur eBITa meur

BuSIneSS overvIew

SaleS GrowTh % eBITa % SaleS GrowTh % eBITa % SaleS GrowTh % eBITa %
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Cramo’s sales growth continued in the recovering Finnish markets while profitability 
improved. New services and harmonised processes came into use. a strengthened market 
position together with efficient processes provides an excellent base for the future.

profitAbility  
improved in finlAnd

2011 2010 Change, %

Sales, meur 127.6 99.6 28.1
eBITa, meur 20.2 12.5 62.3
eBITa-% 15.9 12.5
Gross capital  
expenditure, meur 27.6 34.9 -20.8
number of depots 55 58 -5.2

average number  
of employees 628 529 18.6

sAles And ebitA up
Sales increased as a result of the strong recovery 
in the markets, and the significant outsourcing 
agreements signed in late 2010. Profitability 
improved but was impacted by non-recurring 
expenses related to the co-operation started with 
Lemminkäinen and the introduction of the new 
ERP system. Fleet utilisation rates were at a good 
level. Demand for modular space remained steady.

SaleS BY produCT Group 2011 (2010) 
% oF SeGmenT SaleS

ConSTruCTIon 
equIpmenT 3 (2)

ToolS 31 (24)

aCCeSS 
equIpmenT  
18 (17)

modular SpaCe 
36 (38)

renTal relaTed 
ServICeS and 
oTher 12 (19)

SaleS BY CuSTomer SeGmenT 2011 (2010)
% oF SeGmenT SaleS

ConSTruCTIon 
InduSTrY  
57 (54)

houSeholdS 4 (3)

puBlIC SeCTor  
23 (22)

oTher InduSTrY 12 (17)

oTher 4 (4)

renTal demand    expeCTed To Grow 
FaSTer Than ConSTruCTIon ouTpuT   
a=aCTual, e=eSTImaTe, F=ForeCaST %

The improved business environment contributed to 
growth in rental revenues in 2011. The rental market is 
expected to continue growing throughout 2012 on the 
back of improving rental penetration rates.3

closer to the customer
In 2011, Cramo focused on developing 
the outsourcing agreements signed with 
lemminkäinen and peab in late 2010, and 
on strengthening customer relationships.

at the same time, a new customer-
focused organisation with customer-
oriented sales and delivery processes 
were prepared. The new organisation 
was in place at the beginning of 2012. a 
further vocational qualification for sales 
personnel was initiated and it will continue 
throughout 2012. Training for the new 
Cramo rental Concept will be organised 
at the beginning of the year.

a new rental concept, air quality 
management, was introduced. It improves 
occupational health safety at construction 
sites by enhancing dust control. a new non-
construction modular space application, 
C80, a harmonised module for all markets, 
was introduced. This, as well as the C100, 
an energy-efficient module for school and 
day care applications, introduced in 2010, 
was well received and the first pilots were 
delivered. 

The new enterprise resource planning 
system was launched at the beginning 
of February. The Group’s new reporting 
system was introduced during the second 
quarter for steering depot operations. The 
systems will further increase Cramo’s 
efficiency and flexibility in 2012. Full 
qSe certification of all operations was 
postponed to 2012.

moderAte construction 
downswing in sight
The construction growth in Finland, 
starting in the second half of 2010, is 
estimated to have continued at between 
2.6%1 and 4.0%2 in 2011. The main growth 
driver has been residential construction, 
which is estimated to have grown over 
6% on top of a strong recovery already 
in 2010. non-residential construction is 
estimated to have turned clearly positive 
in 2011, while civil engineering output is 
expected to have declined by nearly 5% 
due to the end of several major projects 
in 2009–2010.

Thanks to projects already underway, 
construction activity is anticipated to 
continue at a moderately good level at 
the beginning of 2012. however, due to 
a downswing expected later in the year, 
construction volume in 2012 is projected to 
contract about 2%1 or at best remain on the 
previous year’s level2. The decline is mainly 
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1)  Euroconstruct, November 2011; 2) The Confederation of Finnish Construction Industries rT, october 2011; 3) European rental association, the European Equipment rental Industry 2011 
report, autumn 2011.

Note: Graph shows nominal rental turnover growth  
and real construction output growth. 
Sources: Construction: Euroconstruct, November 2011 
rental: European rental association, the European 
Equipment rental Industry 2011 report, autumn 2011

driven by a 10% drop in new residential 
construction, but other construction 
subsegments are also expected to be 
set back to a lesser degree. In 2013, 
construction output in Finland is projected 
to experience a moderate recovery.1
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2011 2010 Change, %

Sales, meur 308.9 251.9 22.7

eBITa, meur 58.0 41.2 40.9

eBITa-% 18.8 16.4 

Gross capital  
expenditure, meur 93.5 35.1 166.2

number of depots 128 119 7.6

average number  
of employees 734 677 8.4

sAles And ebitA improved
Sales increased as a result of strong construction 
growth and industrial investments. Growth was 
particularly strong in the Stockholm area and in 
Southern Sweden. Growth in euros was boosted 
by the Swedish krona which remained stronger 
year-on-year. Positive development in profitability 
was due to a more efficient organisation and price 
increases. Fleet utilisation rates were at a good 
level. Demand for modular space remained steady.

Rental rates are forecasted to continue to 
increase modestly and the overall business
environment to stay favourable. Although 
construction industry penetration in Sweden 
is the highest in Europe, it is still projected to 
increase slightly.3

Cramo expanded its business in Sweden and profitability improved. The leading 
market position in equipment rental was further strengthened. The company has a 
strong presence in all urban areas as well as in most major construction projects.

good profitAbility through 
business cycles in sweden

improved customer service
Cramo succeeded in increasing its market 
share. The company became a clear 
market leader in rental business in the 
Gothenburg region in western Sweden by 
acquiring Tidermans, the leading rental 
operator in the area with sales of around 
eur 14.2 million in 2010. a significant new 
project, the mine project in pajala, was 
launched in northern Sweden. 

The lean management concept aimed 
to improve efficiency and professionalism 
in customer service was introduced in 
the Stockholm area. The concept will be 
rolled out in all depots in the Stockholm 
area in 2012 and later on throughout the 
country. moreover, as a part of the lean 
initiative, a new Speed rental concept 
was developed to be launched in 2012. 
The concept shortens customer’s rental 
process by improving internal efficiency. a 
lean management concept for managers 
aimed at knowledge sharing and increased 
customer satisfaction will also be carried 
out in 2012. 

The dry Construction service concept 
for preventing damage and delays in the 
construction process due to weather was 
well recognised in the Swedish market. 
The reception of green building – energy-
efficient modules with efficient water 
heating launched in 2009 – continued to 
be excellent, with one third of new projects 
already using the new concept. 

construction  
growth to slow down
The general uncertainty of the european 
economy did not have a major impact on 
the Swedish construction market in 2011 
and construction output continued to 
develop favourably with growth estimates 
ranging between 3.51–9.0%2. The strongest 
growth in 2011 is projected to have 
occurred in residential and non-residential 
construction, with also civil engineering 
likely to have seen some growth1. 

In 2012, construction output growth 
is expected to slow down or even turn 
negative, driven mainly by a decline in new 
residential construction activity following 
two years of strong growth. other 
construction subsegments are expected 
to be less impacted by the downturn, 
resulting from a lower Gdp growth and the 
european sovereign debt crisis.1,2

GrowTh In renTal demand   expeCTed To 
moderaTe BuT ouTpaCe ConSTruCTIon ouTpuT 
GrowTh   a=aCTual, e=eSTImaTe, F=ForeCaST %
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1)  Euroconstruct, November 2011; 2) The Swedish Construction Federation (Sveriges Byggindustrier), February 2012; 3) European rental association, the European Equipment rental Industry 
2011 report, autumn 2011.

Note: Graph shows nominal rental turnover growth  
and real construction output growth. 
Sources: Construction: Euroconstruct, November 2011 
rental: European rental association, the European 
Equipment rental Industry 2011 report, autumn 2011

SaleS BY produCT Group 2011 (2010) 
% oF SeGmenT SaleS

ConSTruCTIon 
equIpmenT 9 (12)

ToolS 32 (29)

aCCeSS 
equIpmenT  
23 (22)

modular SpaCe 
29 (29)

renTal relaTed 
ServICeS and 
oTher 6 (8)

SaleS BY CuSTomer SeGmenT 2011 (2010)
% oF SeGmenT SaleS

ConSTruCTIon 
InduSTrY  
53 (52)

houSeholdS 3 (3)

puBlIC SeCTor  
15 (15)

oTher  
InduSTrY 28 (28)

oTher 2 (2)
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measures to improve profitability started to bear fruit and Cramo’s profitability turned positive 
in the third quarter of 2011. at the same time, Cramo strengthened its market position and 
became a market leader in access equipment.

position strengthened 
in norwAy

2011 2010 Change, %

Sales, meur 79.3 69.1 14.7
eBITa, meur 0.9 0.3 183.0
eBITa-% 1.1 0.4
Gross capital  
expenditure, meur 26.2 8.5 209.6
number of depots 34 29 17.2

average number  
of employees 210 184 14.3

sAles grew And  
profitAbility recovered Sales increased due to an upswing in the second 

half of the year. After a weak second quarter, 
profitability turned positive. Measures aimed at 
improving profitability continued, including the 
reorganisation of operations and increasing the 
efficiency of processes. The result includes non-
recurring reorganisation expenses of EUR 0.3 (0.0) 
million. Fleet utilisation rates were at a good level. 
Demand for modular space increased slightly and 
the price level is moving towards a healthier level.

renTal demand  To InCreaSe nearlY  
In lIne wITh ConSTruCTIon GrowTh   
a=aCTual, e=eSTImaTe, F=ForeCaST %

As the project pipeline of rental companies 
was still strong at the end of 2011, the outlook 
for rental growth until summer 2012 is clearly 
positive. Demand growth is forecasted to slow 
down afterwards. Rental penetration is expected to 
develop modestly until 2013.2

focus on efficiency 
improvements 
In line with its strategy to be “Best in town” 
in selected areas, in June, Cramo acquired  
Stavdal utleiesenter aS, a leading rental 
company in the oslo area, specialised in 
equipment and construction machinery 
rental services. Stavdal’s sales totalled 
approximately eur 7.3 million in 2010. 
Stavdal’s business concept fits well into 
Cramo’s business and depot network in 
norway, and the acquisition strengthened 
Cramo’s position among small and 
medium-sized construction operators, 
gaining the leading position in access 
equipment nationwide.

Cramo also focused on improving 
customer service and efficiency.  The 
depot structure was finalised and two 
existing modular space hubs were 
centralised into a new hub aimed at being 
the best modular space hub in europe. The 
management team was strengthened and 
the organisation for modular space  was 
revised. Key performance indicators for 
fleet efficiency were further implemented 
and price level was increased by redefining 
discount levels.

In modular space, Cramo delivered 300 
units of energy efficient modular space for 
the 2011 nordic world Ski Championships 
in holmenkollen, oslo, to provide about 
6,000 m2 of facilities for the press and 
athletes.

construction  
recovery to continue
In the first half of the 2011, the rate of 
recovery in the construction sector in 
norway was below industry expectations. 
however, due to an upswing in construction 
activity during the summer, construction is 
estimated to have increased by over 6% in 
2011, which is the first positive year following 
two years of decline. The improvement has 
been broad-based, spearheaded by a surge 
in new residential construction activity.1

In 2012, growth in construction output is 
expected to remain on a similar high level as 
experienced in 2011. Growth in residential 
construction is expected to slow down 
slightly, but to remain relatively strong due 
to increasing population growth, fuelling 
demand for housing. other construction 
sub-segments, particularly civil 
engineering, which is enjoying a rebound in 
investment activity, are expected to pick up.1
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1) Euroconstruct, November 2011; 2) European rental association, the European Equipment rental Industry 2011 report, autumn 2011.

Note: Graph shows nominal rental turnover growth  
and real construction output growth. 
Sources: Construction: Euroconstruct, November 2011 
rental: European rental association, the European  
Equipment rental Industry 2011 report, autumn 2011

SaleS BY produCT Group 2011 (2010) 
% oF SeGmenT SaleS

ConSTruCTIon 
equIpmenT  
11 (11)

ToolS 20 (19)

aCCeSS 
equIpmenT  
25 (28)

modular  
SpaCe 28 (30)

renTal relaTed 
ServICeS and 
oTher 16 (12)

SaleS BY CuSTomer SeGmenT 2011 (2010)
% oF SeGmenT SaleS

ConSTruCTIon 
InduSTrY  
58 (57)

houSeholdS 3 (3)

puBlIC 
SeCTor 9 (9)

oTher InduSTrY 
26 (26)

oTher 4 (4)
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2011 2010 Change, %

Sales, meur 35.0 29.5 18.6
eBITa, meur -2.1 -5.3 60.0
eBITa-% -6.1 -18.1
Gross capital  
expenditure, meur 5.5 0.7 691.3
number of depots 20 17 17.6

average number  
of employees 123 117 5.4

positive development  
in sAles And profitAbility

After a harsh winter, sales developed positively 
in the spring. The favourable profit development 
was particularly attributable to improved fleet 
utilisation rates and process efficiency. Also price 
levels were increased. A new project launched 
in the third quarter concerns the expansion of 
the Copenhagen Metro. Cramo strengthened 
its position both in construction and non-
construction modular space.

renTal demand  To reCover To GeTher 
wITh ConSTruCTIon ouTpuT    
a=aCTual, e=eSTImaTe, F=ForeCaST % 

In 2011, balance between the demand for and the 
supply of rental equipment clearly improved, and 
a moderate growth of rental activity is estimated 
in line with slightly recovering rental rates.3

although the Danish market situation remained difficult, Cramo succeeded in improving its 
operating efficiency. as a result, EBITa turned positive in the third quarter of the year but the 
full-year result was still negative. In 2012, Cramo will continue to focus on reaching a 
sustainable profitability level.

profitAbility  
improved in denmArK

efficiency And  
services improved
The operational efficiency improvements 
that have continued from 2009 onwards 
− fleet adjustments, continuous work 
on harmonising processes and policies, 
enhanced fleet management and logistics, 
streamlining service, maintenance and 
repair network, best practice sharing 
between depots as well as fleet activities 
with Sweden − contributed to increased 
process efficiency as well as improved 
fleet utilisation rates and service levels. 

product offering was strengthened 
especially in general tools and adjusted 
further to the needs of small and medium-
sized companies. 

Initiation of implementation of the 
renewed Cramo Concept resulted in 
changes in the depot structure. more 
than half of Cramo’s rental depots are 
now focused on tools and small access 
and construction equipment rentals. as 
part of a transition some depots were 
moved to new locations. Two new depots 
were opened in metropolitan areas in 
Copenhagen and arhus. Furthermore, 
some services such as cleaning, repair 
and logistics were centralised. a new 
modular space hub was opened in the 
eastern region at the end of the year. as a 
result, the number of depots was increased 
by three to 20. The network development 
and the new customer focused organisation 
with one face to customers will be in place 
in early 2012. 

moderAte recovery of 
construction output
Following several years of construction 
decline, the decrease in danish construction 
activity in the first half of 2011 still exceeded 
expectations. however, as a result of 
improving construction activity in the second 
half of the year, the construction industry 
is predicted to have experienced its first 
growth year with estimates ranging between 
1.5%1 and 3.3%2. Growth was boosted by 
new residential construction with also civil 
engineering improving, whereas the non-
residential sector is expected to have faced 
another year of decline.

Construction recovery is set to continue 
in 2012, with new residential construction 
start-ups still to grow clearly from the low 
post-recession base. Civil engineering 
will also benefit from increased funding 
and new larger projects, while also non-
residential construction is expected to 
see some recovery starting in 2012. Total 
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1) Euroconstruct, November 2011; 2) Dansk Byggeri, September 2011; 3) European rental association, the European Equipment rental Industry 2011 report, autumn 2011.

Note: Graph shows nominal rental turnover growth  
and real construction output growth. 
Sources: Construction: Euroconstruct, November 2011 
rental: European rental association, the European 
Equipment rental Industry 2011 report, autumn 2011

SaleS BY produCT Group 2011 (2010) 
% oF SeGmenT SaleS

ConSTruCTIon 
equIpmenT 21 (24)ToolS 15 (22)

aCCeSS 
equIpmenT 
14 (14)

modular 
SpaCe 49 (38)

renTal relaTed 
ServICeS and 
oTher  0 (3)

SaleS BY CuSTomer SeGmenT 2011 (2010)
% oF SeGmenT SaleS

ConSTruCTIon  
InduSTrY  
62 (45)

houSeholdS 5 (4)

puBlIC SeCTor  
17 (30)

oTher InduSTrY 5 (13)

oTher 10 (8)

construction output is forecasted to grow 
by 3.7%2 in 2012. however, according 
to dansk Byggeri2, construction output 
development could be flat in 2012.  
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Implementation of the Cramo Group strategy in Central Europe is well in progress, 
and sales and profitability improved as expected. Cramo is well positioned to develop 
large Central European rental markets which have a relatively low rental penetration.

strong position  
in centrAl europe

2–12/2011

Sales, meur 71.2
no comparable 
figures availableeBITa, meur 3.7

eBITa-% 5.2
Gross capital  
expenditure, meur 90.0
number of depots 96

average number  
of employees 283

positive development  
in sAles And ebitA

Sales developed favourably, particularly in 
Germany and Austria. As the focus of the rental 
fleet is on construction machinery, the segment 
is more strongly affected by seasonal fluctuations 
than other business segments. Fleet utilisation 
rates reached a good level. Profitability continued 
to improve as expected. The result includes 
non-recurring reorganisation expenses of EUR 
0.3 million.

renTal GrowTh  expeCTed To Be 
moderaTe, ConTInuInG To ouTpaCe 
ConSTruCTIon ouTpuT  In GermanY  
a=aCTual, e=eSTImaTe, F=ForeCaST %

In 2011, a positive market environment in 
Germany was reflected in strongly increasing 
demand for equipment rental services. Increasing 
rental rates and construction industry penetration 
is expected to keep the rental market strong for 
most of 2012.3

The Central european business segment 
consists of the Theisen Group1, which was 
acquired in January 2011 and consolidated 
into Cramo Group on 1 February 2011. The 
integration into Cramo Group progressed 
as planned, and was completed by the end 
of 2011.

new products And hubs
The change of business model was 
initiated in stages in line with the “Best in 
town” strategy and Cramo rental Concept. 
renewal of the depot structure started 
based on the evaluation of existing depot 
locations. new hubs were established in 
the strong economic areas of Frankfurt and 
vienna. The product and service offering 
in the new hubs was extended to include 
also access equipment and tools, and fleet 
management processes were harmonised. 
at the same time, some unprofitable 
depots were closed down. Step-by-step 
structure renewal and expansion of the 
product and service offering will continue 
in 2012 by establishing next two hubs.

Cramo succeeded in strengthening 
its position as the third largest rental 
company in Germany. In austria, it 
achieved the leading position.

Fleet expansion was completed 
through internal transfers between depots 
and countries and through investments. 
Flexible fleet optimisation between market 
areas was reflected in improved efficiency. 

In addition to fleet management, 
processes were also harmonised in 
finance and reporting, and in IT and 
communications. work on the development 
of a new pricing model was initiated. hr 
process harmonisation will start in 2012. 

germAny driving  
construction growth
Stimulated by growth in residential 
construction and civil engineering, 
construction output is estimated to have 
increased in Germany by 3.7% in 2011. 
residential and non-residential sectors 
are expected to have driven construction 
growth in Switzerland, up by 2.6%, whereas 
austria’s construction output is expected 
to have been held back to just 0.7% growth 
by a clear decline in civil engineering. 
hungary has seen another broad-based 
recessionary year in construction, with an 
expected decline in output of 10.8%.2

In 2012, construction output growth 
is predicted to continue in Switzerland 
(3.2%), Germany (1.8%) and to a lesser 
extent in austria (0.7%). hungary is 
expected to fall into another year of decline 
(-2.3%) in 2012, with a recovery in sight at 
the earliest in 2013.2

1) operations in Germany, austria, Switzerland and hungary; 2) Euroconstruct, November 2011; 3) European rental association, the European Equipment rental Industry 2011 report, autumn 2011.

Note: Graph shows nominal rental turnover growth  
and real construction output growth. 
Sources: Construction: Euroconstruct, November 2011
rental: European rental association, the European 
Equipment rental Industry 2011 report, autumn 2011

SaleS BY produCT Group 2–12/2011 
% oF SeGmenT SaleS

ConSTruCTIon 
equIpmenT 74

ToolS 10

aCCeSS equIpmenT 11

modular SpaCe 1

renTal relaTed 
ServICeS and oTher 4

SaleS BY CuSTomer SeGmenT 2–12/2011
% oF SeGmenT SaleS

ConSTruCTIon 
InduSTrY 46

houSeholdS 4

puBlIC SeCTor 15

oTher InduSTrY 26

oTher 9
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2011 2010 Change, %

Sales, meur 66.6 49.9 33.5
eBITa, meur 1.7 -11.5 114.9
eBITa-% 2.6 -23.0
Gross capital  
expenditure, meur 18.0 5.1 249.8
number of depots 76 65 16.9

average number  
of employees 564 518 8.9

sAles And profitAbility developed 
fAvourAbly in All mArKets

The growth in construction, which started in the 
second half of 2010, continued in most Eastern 
European markets in 2011. This is reflected in 
the growth rate for the segment in 2011. The 
improvements in profitability were due to higher 
fleet utilisation rates, the recovery of the markets 
and price levels, and adjustments concluded 
previously. 

Cramo expects demand for equipment rental to have 
grown in all of Cramo’s Eastern European markets 
in 2011 and prices and utilisation rates will have 
improved. Rental penetration is increasing from very 
low levels. Despite short-term fluctuations, Cramo 
believes the Eastern European markets present clear 
long-term growth potential.3

Cramo achieved sales growth and strengthened its market position in all Eastern 
European markets. Profitability also improved in all markets, and the quarterly EBITa 
turned positive in the third quarter. Cramo is well positioned for future profitable growth.

turnAround in profitAbility  
in eAstern europe

until 31 december 2010, the name of the 
segment was Central and eastern europe.1

new services,  
depots And customers
In russia, Cramo’s business developed 
favourably in all geographical areas (St. 
petersburg, moscow, Kaluga, Kaliningrad 
and Yekaterinburg). Cramo reinforced its 
market position as a partner for western 
constructors and industrial investors in 
particular, and signed master agreements, 
which are still rare in russia. For example, 
an exclusive frame agreement with YIT, 
a leading european service company in 
building systems and construction with 
14 subsidiaries, covers all major cities in 
russia. 

Cramo reorganised its russian 
operations further, including the 
management, and continued the transfer 
of know-how from other Cramo countries. 
The strategy was revised, focusing on the 
fast growing St. petersburg and moscow 
regions and international customers. 
development of management and the 
harmonisation of processes continued in 
the Baltic countries. 

The demand for modular space, 
especially for non-construction applications, 
increased strongly in russia, lithuania 
and latvia, and the tools rental services 
launched in russia were well received. new 
depots were opened for the nuclear power 
plant construction site in the Kaliningrad 
region, in St. petersburg and in estonia.

In poland, the optimisation of the depot 
and hub structure continued. Five new 
depots and a new repair and logistics centre 
for tools opened, while some old depots 
were combined. Implementation of key 
performance indicators for fleet efficiency 
together with other harmonised processes 
resulted in a major improvement in fleet 
utilisation. The growth in site huts exceeded 
that of the market due to expansion in the 
fleet. In the Czech republic and Slovakia, 
capabilities in tools strengthened and the 
service structure improved by opening a 
new service hub in prague. Fleet efficiency 
also improved.

regionAl vAriAtions  
in construction growth  
to continue
The Baltic countries have seen a strong 
and broad-based recovery in construction 
output of 16.7% in 2011, although from very 
low base levels after the recession. polish 
construction output is expected to have 
increased, with expected growth of 12.9% 
last year, followed by russia’s 5% growth. 
on the other hand, the Czech republic and 
Slovakia are underperforming compared to 
earlier expectations, with both countries 
hitting the bottom of the cycle as late as in 
2011, with forecasted construction output 
declines of approximately 6% in each 
country.2

In 2012, the estonian construction sector 
is expected to remain active and grow 
by 8% due to new building construction 
and renovation activity. unlike estonia, 
construction output in latvia and lithuania 
may experience a setback of 4% in 2012 
after a very strong recovery in 2011 in 
building construction. Construction output 
in russia and poland is projected to grow by 
approximately 4% in 2012. In poland, growth 
in civil engineering activity is expected to 

stabilise at a lower level after several boom 
years. Construction output in Slovakia is 
expected to start a modest recovery in 2012, 
while the Czech republic is facing another 
year of decline with recovery not expected 
before 2013.2

 1)  operations in Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, russia, Slovakia and the Czech republic; 2) Euroconstruct, November 2011 and VTT, october 2011; 3) European rental association, the European 
Equipment rental Industry report, autumn 2011.
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SaleS BY produCT Group 2011 (2010) 
% oF SeGmenT SaleS

ConSTruCTIon 
equIpmenT  
14 (13)

ToolS 35 (31)

aCCeSS 
equIpmenT  
36 (35)modular  

SpaCe 9 (9)

renTal relaTed 
ServICeS and 
oTher 6 (13)

SaleS BY CuSTomer SeGmenT 2011 (2010)
% oF SeGmenT SaleS

ConSTruCTIon 
InduSTrY  
86 (90)

houSeholdS 2 (2)
puBlIC SeCTor 2 (1)

oTher InduSTrY 5 (4)

oTher 5 (3)

ConSTruCTIon GrowTh In eaSTern europe   
a=aCTual, e=eSTImaTe, F=ForeCaST %



36 The renewed Cramo renTal ConCepT Cramo  aNNUaL rEPorT 2011



37Cramo  aNNUaL rEPorT 2011 The renewed Cramo renTal ConCepT

 focus 
 on the 
essentiAl
use your time on your core business. 
as specialists in safety and professional 
support, we will provide a rental solution  
for all types of equipment to the construction 
site as well as modular space for offices, 
schools, day cares, lodging and storing. 
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consistent And trAnspArent 
corporAte governAnce
Corporate governance at Cramo is based on Finnish law and the Company’s articles 
of association. The Group complies with the rules of NaSDaQ omX helsinki Ltd and 
the Finnish Corporate Governance Code. Cramo issues a Corporate Governance 
Statement, which is available on the Group’s website.

exTernal 
ruleS and 

reGulaTIonS

exTernal 
audITorS

STraTeGIC 
and BuSIneSS 
STeerInG

InTernal audIT 
FunCTIon

InTernal 
ConTrol

InTernal ruleS and reGulaTIonS

•	Articles	of	Association		 •	Cramo	values 
•	Board	and	committee	charters	 •	Operating	principles 
•	Policies,	rules	and	guidelines

o
bjectives and strategies

internal policies and regulations
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boArd of directors

group functions

subsidiAries

nomination and  
compensation 

committee
Audit committee

finance and development, legal affairs,  
fleet management, it, hrd, communication  

and brand management

president And ceo

shAreholders Agm And egm

executive committee

election

group management team

Cramo prepares annual financial 
statements and interim reports conforming 
to Finnish law which are published in 
Finnish and english. The International 
Financial reporting Standards (IFrS) were 
adopted in 2005.

overview of corporAte 
governAnce components 
At crAmo group
The Group’s control and management 
responsibilities are divided among the 

General meeting of Shareholders, the Board 
of directors with its two committees, and the 
president and Ceo, assisted by the executive 
Committee and the Group management team, 
managing directors of subsidiaries, and the 
general management meeting. The Board of 
directors supervises the performance of the 
Company, its management and organisation 
on behalf of shareholders. The Board of 
directors and the Group management team 
are separate bodies, and no one serves as a 
member of both.

The below picture provides an overview 
of corporate governance at Cramo. These 
components are outlined in more detail in 
the following sections.

generAl meeting  
of shAreholders
The right of shareholders to make 
decisions over Company matters is 
exercised at an appropriately convened 
General meeting of Shareholders by 
those shareholders present or by their 
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The duTIeS oF The annual  
General meeTInG InClude

•	 approving the parent company and 
consolidated income statement and 
balance sheet; 

•	 agreeing on the amount of dividends; 
•	 appointing the members of the 

Board of directors and deciding on 
their compensation; and

•	 electing the auditors.

Company website 21 days prior to the 
General meeting. In accordance with the 
Finnish Companies act, copies of these 
documents will be sent to shareholders 
upon request. minutes of the General 
meeting, including voting results and the 
appendices to the minutes that are part of 
a decision made by the General meeting, 
shall be posted on the Company website 
within two weeks of the General meeting. 
→ Further instructions and contact details 
are provided on the website.

It is Cramo’s intention that all members 
of the Board of directors, the president 
and Ceo, and the CFo should be present 
at the General meeting. The auditors of a 
company shall always be present at the 
annual General meeting to answer the 
shareholders’ questions. any person who 
is proposed as a director for the first time 
shall participate in the General meeting 
that decides on his or her election unless 
there are well-founded reasons for that 
person’s absence.

a dividend as decided by the General 
meeting is paid to shareholders who 
are registered as shareholders in the 
Company’s shareholder register on the 
date of record for dividend payment.

evenTS In 2011
The 2011 annual General meeting 
was held on 24 march. a total of 222 
shareholders representing about 39.5% 
of the Company’s votes participated in 
the meeting either in person or by proxy. 
all members of the Board except mr 
eino halonen, mr Fredrik Cappelen and 
mr Thomas von hertzen attended the 
meeting, as did Cramo’s president and 
Ceo, CFo and external auditor. 
→ www.cramo.com > Investors > 
Shareholder meetings > annual General 
meeting 2011.

boArd of directors
Cramo’s Board of directors has defined 
its roles and responsibilities in the 
working order of the Board and in the 
Group’s Corporate Governance manual 
and operating principles. If necessary, the 
working order of the Board is revised and 
modified annually in conjunction with the 
Board’s convening meeting.

The Board of directors consists of 5−7 
members, who are elected at the annual 
General meeting for a one-year term of 
office, which expires at the end of the first 
annual General meeting following their 
election. The majority of directors shall 
be independent of the Company, and at 

least two of the directors representing 
this majority shall be independent of 
significant shareholders of the Company. 
The composition of Cramo’s Board 
must facilitate discharge of its duties 
in an efficient manner as well as take 
into account the needs of Company 
operations and the development stage 
of the Company. The nomination and 
Compensation Committee’s proposal for 
Board composition as well as biographical 
details of the candidates shall be included 
in the notice of the General meeting. There 
is no specific order for the appointment of 
the directors in the articles of association.

more than half the members of the 
Board must be present to constitute a 
quorum. The president and Ceo, his/
her deputy and the CFo are entitled to 
attend Board meetings. other Group 
management members may attend 
the Board meetings when required to 
provide information to the Board or upon 
invitation by the Board. The Board has 
unlimited access to Company information 
and receives continuous reporting on the 
Group’s operations. new Board members 
are introduced to the operations of the 
Company. This is done by arranging 

authorised representatives. Shareholders 
may also be accompanied by an assistant.

The annual General meeting (aGm) 
is held once a year either in vantaa or 
helsinki by the end of June at the latest. 
The Board of directors may call an 
extraordinary General meeting (eGm) of 
Shareholders whenever necessary. 

In accordance with the articles of 
association, a notice to convene the 
General meeting of Shareholders is issued 
by the Board of directors. notice is given 
no later than 21 days prior to the meeting 
by publishing the notice in a newspaper 
determined by the Board of directors and 
as a stock exchange release available on 
the Company’s website.

Shareholders registered by the 
record date for the General meeting 
as shareholders in the Company’s 
shareholder register, which is maintained 
by euroclear Finland ltd, are entitled 
to attend the meeting. To take part in 
the General meeting of Shareholders, 
shareholders must register with the 
Company at the latest by the date 
mentioned in the notice convening 
the meeting, which may be no more 
than 10 days prior to the meeting. If a 
shareholder wishes to bring up a matter 
for consideration by the General meeting 
of Shareholders, he or she must present 
the matter in writing to the Board of 
directors at the latest four weeks prior 
to the publication of the notice in order 
for the matter to be included in the notice 
convening the meeting. 
→ www.cramo.com > Investors > 
Shareholder meetings.

The financial statements of the 
Company, as well as any other document 
to be adopted in the General meeting 
and any proposal made by the Board 
of directors required by the Finnish 
Companies act, shall be made available 
for examination by shareholders at 
the Company headquarters and on the 

The maIn reSponSIBIlITIeS  
oF Board oF dIreCTorS

•	 responsible for Cramo Group’s 
governance and proper 
management;

•	 ensuring that the business 
complies with relevant rules and 
regulations, Cramo’s articles of 
association and the instructions 
given by the General meeting of 
Shareholders; 

•	 responsible for the Company’s 
strategic development and for 
supervising the business;

•	 decides on the Group’s key policies 
and practices, approves the 
business strategy and budget as 
well as the financial statements and 
interim reports;

•	 appoints and dismisses the 
president and Ceo and his/her 
deputy and determines their 
compensation; and

•	 decides the Group’s structure, 
acquisitions and disposals as 
well as Company finances and 
investments.
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memBerS oF The Board  
oF dIreCTorS In 2011
at the 2011 annual General meeting, 
the number of members of the Board of 
directors was confirmed as seven, and 
the following persons were reelected to 
the Board of directors: mr Stig Gustavson, 
mr eino halonen, mr esko mäkelä, mr 
Jari lainio and mr victor hartwall;  mr 
J.T. Bergqvist and mrs helene Biström 
were elected as new Board members. 
The Board’s convening meeting elected 
mr Gustavson as Chairman of the Board 

The Board’S operaTInG Calendar

•		Review	and	approval	of	
financial statements and 
external auditors’ report

•		Review	and	approval	
of nomination and 
Compensation 
Committees’ outcome 
proposal pertaining to  
 

•		Election	of	the	Chairman	
and deputy Chairman of 
the Board and Committee 
members

•		Review	and	approval	of	
the Group‘s key policies 
and practices

•		Commencement	of	
budgeting and operating 
companies’ business 
planning

•		Approval	of	budget	and	
review of business plans

•		Assessment	of	matters	
presented by the audit 
Committee 

follow-up of 
strategic outcomes 
and the previous 
financial periods

strategy, 
execution 
and business 
development

planning of 
the following 
financial period

q1

q2

q3

q4

the incentive schemes 
of management and key 
employees 

•		Commencement	of	
strategic planning: 
analysis of operating 
environment, markets 
and economic trends

 
•		Assessment	and	analysis	

of strategic issues in 
connection with the 
strategy review  

•		Assessment	of	matters	
presented by the audit 
Committee 

•		Review	of	operating	
companies’ performance 
and key performance 
indicators

•		Board’s	self-assessment
•		Review	of	operating	

companies’ performance 
and key performance 
indicators 

•		Approval	of	Annual	
report and Corporate 
Governance statement

•		Preparations	for	the	AGM
•		Review	of	operating	

companies’ performance 
and key performance 
indicators

 
•		Review	of	operating	

companies’ performance 
and key performance 
indicators

•		Review	of	financial	
forecasts, investments, 
acquisitions and 

•		Review	of	financial	
forecasts, investments, 
acquisitions and 
disposals as well as 
structural issues

•		Review	of	financial	
forecasts, investments, 
acquisitions and 
disposals as well as 
structural issues

•		Review	of	financial	
forecasts, investments, 
acquisitions and disposals 
as well as structural issues

•		Approval	of	interim	
reports and assessment 
of matters pertaining to 
markets and finances

disposals as well as 
structural issues

•		Approval	of	interim	
reports and assessment 
of matters pertaining to 
markets and finances

•		Approval	of	interim	
reports and assessment 
of matters pertaining to 
markets and finances

•		Approval	of	interim	
reports and assessment 
of matters pertaining to 
markets and finances

and mr halonen as deputy Chairman of 
the Board. mr Fredrik Cappelen and mr 
Thomas von hertzen were also members 
of the Board until 23 march 2011, having 
been elected by the aGm 2010.  → Board 
and committees members on pages 50–51. 
remuneration on pages 43-45. 

worK oF The Board  
oF dIreCTorS In 2011
Cramo’s Board of directors meets regularly, 
about once a month, according to a planned 
schedule. In 2011, the Board of directors 

meetings with key persons and by initiating 
visits to operating units in order for them 
to become accustomed to Cramo’s internal 
guidance and working methods. Cramo’s 
departing Board members also assist 
newly elected members in familiarising 
themselves with the Company and the 
Board’s duties. 

The Chairman of the Board, together 
with the president and Ceo, prepares 
the items to be discussed and decided at 
Board meetings. The agenda for the Board 
meetings, with all relevant information 
about the Company’s structure, operations 
and markets, financial performance 
and financing issues, personnel and 
investment resources as well as the risks 
associated with any of these matters, is 
distributed at least five days prior to the 
meetings. The Chairman of the Board also 
initiates and leads the self-assessment 
discussion during the relevant Board 
meeting. The Board of directors conducts 
an annual self-assessment in order 
to develop the work of the Board. The 
overall self-assessment is carried out 
by discussing the matter in conjunction 
with one of the regular Board meetings. 
each director and the Board evaluate the 
independence of the directors on a yearly 
basis and whenever required.

name position elected
board  

meetings
Audit  

committee

nomination and  
compensation 

committee

Stig Gustavson Chairman 2006 15/15 –  2/2
eino halonen deputy Chairman 2003 15/15  5/5 –
J.T. Bergqvist2 member 2011 9/10  3/4 –
helene Biström2 member 2011 10/10 –  1/1
victor hartwall member 2010 15/15 –  2/2
Jari lainio member 2009 14/15 –  2/2
esko mäkelä member 2007 15/15  5/5 –
Fredrik Cappelen1 member 2008 4/5  1/1 –
Thomas von hertzen1 member 2010 5/5  1/1 –

Board oF dIreCTorS 31 deCemBer 2011

1) Until 23 march 2011; 2) Since 24 march 2011
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met 15 times. Three of the meetings were 
held as a conference call and four as per 
capsulam.  → member attendance at 
the meetings and the Board’s operating 
calendar on previous page.

In 2011, the most important 
issue addressed, apart from the 
regular operating calendar, was the 
implementation of the Group’s strategy. 
In order to ensure implementation of 
this strategy, the Board reviewed the 
achievement of must-win battles. Cramo 
Group also completed acquisitions of 
Theisen Group as well as Tidermans and 
Stavdal, which all involved the work of the 
Board in 2011.

Cramo completed its rights offering to 
support its strategy and balance sheet. 
The Board continued to focus on improving 
the Group’s profitability and cash flow. In 
addition, the Board assessed Cramo’s 
balance sheet valuation. emphasis was 
also put on further strengthening the 
Group’s internal control process. 

boArd committees
Two permanent committees, the audit 
Committee and the nomination and 
Compensation Committee, assist the 
Board of directors. The Board of directors 
elects the committee members and 

CorporaTe GovernanCe

appoints the committee chairmen. a 
quorum is more than half the members. 
members are appointed for a one-year 
term of office, which expires at the end of 
the first annual General meeting following 
the election. The Board confirms the 
central duties and operating principles of 
both committees in a written charter. The 
main content of these charters is outlined 
below. The committees report on their 
work to the entire Board of directors on 

The audIT CommITTee’S operaTInG Calendar

•		Supervise	and	monitor	
financial reporting process 
related to annual accounts 

•		Review	annual	financial	
statements and the Board 
of directors’ report  

•  review, update if necessary 
and affirm internal control 
policy

•		Review	and	approve	annual	
internal audit plan and 

•   assess and plan description 
of the main features of 
internal control and risk 
management systems 
pertaining to the financial 
reporting process included 

•  review the draft corporate 
governance statement and 
provide comments  

•		Review	internal	audit	
and internal control 
development plan

q1

q2

q3

q4

•		Review	external	audit	
outcomes and auditor’s 
statement

•		Review	and	approve	
accounting principles 
pertaining to financial 
reporting 

assign separate evaluation 
activities as considered 
appropriate

•		Assess	results	from	
operating companies’ 

in the corporate governance 
statement

•		Discuss	the	external	audit	
plan with the resposible 
auditor. approve the plan 
consequently

•		Assess	results	from	
operating companies’ 
internal control self-
assessments 

•		Prepare	proposal	for	
resolution on the election of 
external auditor

•		Review	risks	and	risk	
management issues to be 
presented in the annual 
report and financial 
statements

internal control self-
assessments

•		Review	impairment	and	
asset valuation, treasury 
and operational risks

•		Review	and	approve	the	
external audit engagement 
letter and evaluate the 
independence confirmation

•		Review	risk	assessments	
concerning asset valuation, 
treasury and operational 
risks

quarTerlY proCedureS

•		Monitor	the	reporting	process	
of financial statements by 
overseeing the quality and 
integrity of the financial 
statements and related 
disclosures

•		Supervise	the	financial	
reporting process

•		Follow	up	on	the	financial	
position by reviewing interim 
financial statements 

•		Monitor	efficiency	of	Cramo’s	
internal control, internal audit 
and risk management systems

•		Revise	the	plans	and	reports	of	
the Internal audit function

•		Evaluate	compliance	with	laws	
and regulations

•		Communicate	with	external	
auditor and review the 
reports prepared for the audit 
Committee

The duTIeS oF The audIT CommITTee aCCordInG  
To The FInnISh CorporaTe GovernanCe Code

•	 monitoring the reporting process  
of financial statements;

•	 Supervising the financial reporting 
process;

•	 monitoring the efficiency of the 
Company’s internal control, internal 
audit and risk management systems;

•	 reviewing the description of the main 
features of the internal control and 
risk management systems pertaining 
to the financial reporting process, 
which is included in the Company’s 
corporate governance statement;

•	 monitoring the statutory audit 
of the financial statements and 
consolidated financial statements;

•	 evaluating the independence of 
the statutory auditor or audit firm, 
particularly the provision of related 
services to the Company to be 
audited;

•	 preparing the proposal for resolution 
on the election of the auditor; and 

•	 assessing the effects of any 
exceptional or significant business 
transactions.

a regular basis. These reports include a 
summary of relevant matters addressed 
and measures taken by the committee.

audIT CommITTee
The audit Committee assists the Board of 
directors in its supervisory responsibilities.

until 23 march 2011, the audit 
Committee was chaired by mr eino 
halonen. mr Fredrik Cappelen, mr Thomas 
von hertzen and mr esko mäkelä served as 
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committee members. at its constitutive 
meeting on 24 march 2011, mr eino 
halonen was elected Chairman of the audit 
Committee, with mr J.T. Bergqvist and mr 
esko mäkelä as members. mr halonen 
and mr mäkelä are deemed independent 
of the Company and major shareholders. 
mr Bergqvist is deemed independent of the 
Company, but not independent of the major 
shareholders.

The audit Committee met five times 
in 2011. → member attendance at the 
meetings on page 40. audit Committee’s 
operating calendar on page 41.

nomInaTIon and  
CompenSaTIon CommITTee
until 23 march 2011, the nomination and 
Compensation Committee was chaired 
by mr Stig Gustavson, with mr victor 
hartwall and mr Jari lainio as committee 
members. at its constitutive meeting on 
24 march 2011, mr Stig Gustavson was 

other executives 
exeCuTIve CommITTee
The Group’s executive Committee, 
comprising the president and Ceo, the 
deputy Ceo and the CFo, is responsible 
for implementing the Group’s strategic 
objectives, issued by the Board of directors. 
The executive Committee outlines the 
Group’s vision and strategy for the Board’s 
approval and develops operative action 
plans to ensure achievement of set 
objectives. Furthermore, the executive 
Committee oversees financial matters, top 
management resources and policy issues 
concerning the Group as a whole. It also 
monitors the most essential development 
projects underway in the Company. The 
legal nature of the executive Committee is 
consultative. It meets regularly to discuss 
and prepare issues of greatest importance 
to the Company as well as tasks delegated 
by the Board of directors.

evenTS In 2011
In 2011, the work of the executive 
Committee focused on overseeing and 
discussing the financial and operative 
development of the Company. The 
executive Committee also discussed and 
addressed a number of specific tasks 
assigned by the Board as well as the 
implementation of the Group’s strategy. 
Special emphasis was placed on ensuring 
the integration of Theisen operations into 
Cramo Group.

Group manaGemenT Team
The Group management team consists of 
the members of the executive Committee, 
five Senior vice presidents responsible 
for the Group’s business segments, and 
three corporate support heads. The Group 
management team meets on a monthly 
basis.

The Group management team 
implements the strategic decisions made 
by the Board, including implementing and 
monitoring the Corporate Governance 
Guidelines and operating principles, and 
monitors and steers the performance 
and operations of subsidiaries on an 
ongoing basis. The Group management 
team is responsible for the operative 
management of Cramo Group. →  Group 
management team members and their 
individual responsibilities on pages 52–53. 
remuneration on page 44.

evenTS In 2011
In 2011, the Group management team 
held ten meetings. The work of the 

The duTIeS oF The nomInaTIon  
and CompenSaTIon CommITTee

•	 preparing a proposal for the Board 
members and their remuneration 
to be presented to the annual 
General meeting; 

•	 preparing a proposal to the Board 
of directors for the president and 
Ceo’s appointment and his/her 
employment terms; 

•	 preparing and evaluating matters 
pertaining to the remuneration 
and other financial benefits of the 
president and Ceo as well as the 
Group management team and 
making sure that the remuneration 
principles are appropriate; 

•	 preparing matters pertaining to the 
Company’s compensation systems 
including profit-based and long-
term incentive schemes as well 
as allocation of these incentives 
amongst Cramo’s key personnel. 
The Company’s strategy, must-
win battles and long-term financial 
goals are taken into account when 
deciding on the remuneration 
schemes; and 

•	 answering any questions related to 
the remuneration statement at the 
annual General meeting.

elected Chairman of the nomination 
and Compensation Committee, with mrs 
helene Biström, mr victor hartwall and mr 
Jari lainio as members. mr Gustavson and 
mrs Biström and mr lainio are deemed 
independent of the Company and major 
shareholders. mr hartwall is independent 
of the Company, but not independent of the 
major shareholders.

The nomination and Compensation 
Committee met two times in 2011. 
→ member attendance at the meetings 
on page 40. 

primary issues discussed at the 
meetings were the further development of 
the remuneration schemes and allocation 
of the 2011 stock option programme. 

president And ceo
The managing director, who also acts as 
the president and Ceo, is in charge of the 
Company’s day-to-day management in 
accordance with the Finnish Companies 
act and related legislation, instructions 
and orders given by the Board of directors. 
The areas of responsibility of the president 
and Ceo, in addition to meeting the legal 
requirements mentioned above and 
implementing the Board’s decisions, 
specifically include achieving objectives 
of the business; increasing shareholder 
value, the Company’s profitability and the 
efficiency of the Company’s operations; 
and making investments within the 
limits defined by the Board. Cramo 
has an internal document concerning 
authorisations granted and approval 
limits for work divided between the Board 
of directors, the president and Ceo and 
other management.

The president and Ceo is appointed 
by the Board of directors.  his or her 
service contract is approved by the Board. 
The performance of the president and 
Ceo is evaluated annually by the Board 
of directors. In addition to a monthly 
salary and fringe benefits, the president 
and Ceo is eligible for a performance-
based bonus on an annual basis. 
→  remuneration on page 44 and on  
www.cramo.com.

The president and Ceo shall not 
be elected Chairman of the Board. 
Furthermore, neither the president and 
Ceo nor other executives of the Company 
shall be appointed as formal members 
of the nomination and Compensation 
Committee. 

The president and Ceo is assisted by 
the executive Committee and the Group 
management team.
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Group management team focused on 
the business and financial steering of 
the Group and its business units. Specific 
attention was paid to analysing the value 
drivers of Cramo’s business operations 
to improve the operational and financial 
performance of units. In addition, the Group 
management team steered and monitored 
implementation of the must-win battles and 
related projects. development of the Group’s 
new service offerings, fleet optimisation and 
customer relationships were among the key 
issues under review in 2011.

General manaGerS  
oF SuBSIdIarIeS
The General manager residing in 
a subsidiary’s country of domicile 
serves as the managing director of the 
operating subsidiary. when that person is 
responsible for the business operations of 
an entire country, he or she also acts as 
Country manager.

The General managers are in charge of 
the day-to-day management in accordance 
with Cramo’s strategy and Corporate 
Governance Guidelines and operating 
principles along with other guidelines 
defined by Cramo plc and the Board of 
directors of the subsidiary. at regular 
intervals, they report on the financial 
position and business operations of their 
company and its subsidiaries to their 
superior and to the operating company’s 
Board of directors.

General manaGemenT meeTInG
The General management meeting (Gmm) 
is a management meeting held once a year 
and attended by the Group management 

team, General managers and other key 
Group and operating personnel. The Gmm 
lasts two days.

The Gmm reviews and discusses 
strategy and operational objectives. 
These discussions serve as a basis for the 
following year’s operational and financial 
planning. Furthermore, the purpose 
of the Gmm is to share information 
and knowledge amongst management 
with the intention of ensuring effective 
implementation of Cramo’s best practices.

evenTS In 2011
In 2011, the Gmm focused on the Cramo 
rental Concept and other must-win 
battles. The Gmm also assessed the 
business planning process of operating 
companies (opCos) for 2011–2014 as well 
as the budget process and initial budget 
targets for 2012. 

remunerAtion
The Company has published a separate 
remuneration statement, which can 
be found on the Company’s website. 
The remuneration statement covers all 
the Group’s key remuneration-related 
information.

Cramo’S prInCIpleS  
oF remuneraTIon and  
deCISIon-maKInG order
Cramo’s remuneration is based on the 
Company’s remuneration principles. The 
Group’s strategy, must-win battles and 
long-term financial goals are taken into 
account when deciding the remuneration 
schemes. In order to ensure that 
remuneration is in line with Cramo’s 

financial performance, remuneration 
principles are based on predetermined 
and measurable performance and result 
criteria. The aim of this well-designed 
remuneration scheme is to attract 
and engage talented employees and to 
promote the Company’s financial success.

In addition to fixed salaries, Cramo 
offers a competitive compensation package 
for management and its key personnel. 
management remuneration is based on 
an individual compensation package that 
is in compliance with local regulations 
and includes all taxable fringe benefits. 
The compensation package is divided into 
two components - profit-based incentive 
schemes and long-term incentives.

at the annual General meeting, the 
shareholders decide the remuneration of 
the Board of directors based on a proposal 
from the nomination and Compensation 
Committee.

The nomination and Compensation 
Committee also prepares for the Board’s 
approval matters pertaining to the 
Company’s compensation systems, profit-
based and long-term incentive schemes 
for management and key employees, and 
allocation of these incentives. 

Cramo’s nomination and Compensation 
Committee prepares a proposal to the 
Board of directors for the president and 
Ceo’s employment terms. The Board of 
directors approves the employment terms 
and remuneration of the president and 
Ceo. The nomination and Compensation 
Committee prepares a proposal for 
the Board’s approval concerning the 
fixed annual base salaries of the Group 
management team.

CorporaTe GovernanCe

name position

board fees, eur
number of shares 

purchased with  
the board’s feeshares fees

board  
total

Audit 
committee

nomination and  
compensation 

committee total

Stig Gustavson Chairman 27,997 42,003 70,000 – 2,000 72,000 1,633
eino halonen deputy Chairman 17,984 27,016 45,000 5,000 – 50,000 1,049
J.T. Bergqvist2 member 13,990 21,010 35,000 3,000 – 38,000 816
helene Biström2 member 13,990 21,010 35,000 – 1,000 36,000 816
victor hartwall member 13,990 21,010 35,000 – 2,000 37,000 816
Jari lainio member 13,990 21,010 35,000 – 2,000 37,000 816
esko mäkelä member 13,990 21,010 35,000 5,000 – 40,000 816
Fredrik Cappelen1 member – – – 1,000 – 1,000 –

Thomas von hertzen1 member – – – 1,000 – 1,000 –

total 115,930 174,070 290,000 15,000 7,000 312,000 6,762

Cramo’S Board memBerS’ remuneraTIon reCeIved In 2011 on a CaSh BaSIS

1) Until 23 march 2011; 2) Since 24 march 2011
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remuneraTIon  
For Board ServICeS
In 2011 the annual General meeting 
approved the following annual 
remuneration for Board services:
•	 Chairman of the Board eur 70,000
•	 deputy Chairman of the Board  

eur 45,000
•	 other Board members eur 35,000

In addition, the remuneration for each 
Committee meeting was eur 1,000. 

40% of the remuneration is paid in 
shares of Cramo plc, purchased in the 
market on behalf of the Board members, 
and 60% is paid in cash. In the event a 
purchase of shares cannot be carried 
out for reasons related to either the 
Company or a Board member, the annual 
remuneration shall be paid entirely 
in cash. reasonable travel expenses 
will be refunded as per invoice. The 
Board’s members are not covered by the 
Company’s stock option scheme, bonus 
scheme or pension schemes. no shares 
or share-related rights were granted to 
Board members as remuneration during 
the financial period, except those specified 
above. →  Board’s remuneration received 
in 2011 on cash basis on page 43.

remuneraTIon oF The 
preSIdenT and Ceo and  
Group manaGemenT Team

Profit-based incentive schemes 
Cramo’s short-term incentive system 
is aimed at supporting the Company’s 
strategic targets by enhancing a strong 
performance culture. The executive 
Committee (president and Ceo, deputy 
Ceo and CFo), other Group management 
team members, and managers and key 
personnel from every Cramo country are 
covered by profit-based incentive schemes 
that are specific to the Group and operating 
company.

management bonuses are tied to the 
achievement of financial targets for the 

Group and operating countries, which are 
determined by the Board of directors. 
The targets are set annually, and any 
compensation is paid once a year after 
the end of the financial period. In 2011 
the main financial targets were linked 
to both eBITa and roI. The nomination 
and Compensation Committee assesses 
achievement of set targets and prepares 
its suggestion for allocation of bonuses 
for the Board’s approval. The size of the 
annual bonus depends on the Group’s 
financial performance. For the financial 
year 2011, the maximum bonus level was 
set at 100%. 

Long-term share ownership programme 
for the Executive Committee
Cramo’s Board of directors accepted 
a share ownership programme for the 
executive Committee in June 2009. The 
purpose of the arrangement is to commit 
the executive Committee members to the 
Company by encouraging them to acquire 
and hold the Company’s shares and 
thereby increase long-term shareholder 
value.

For the purpose of share ownership, 
Cramo executive Committee members 
established a company called Cramo 
management oy in 2009, which acquired 
316,288 Cramo plc shares from the 
market for a total of approximately eur 
2.48 million. The share purchases were 
financed by equity investments from the 
executive Committee members, totalling 
eur 500,000, as well as by an interest-
bearing loan of eur 2.0 million provided 
by Cramo plc. 

This arrangement is valid until autumn 
2012. The transfer of Cramo plc shares 
held by Cramo management oy is restricted 
during the validity of the arrangement. 
all holdings of the executive Committee 
members in Cramo management oy are 
valid until the program is terminated.

In 2011, Cramo plc acquired all the 
shares in Cramo management oy from 
Cramo executive Committee members in a 

share swap. according to the agreements 
governing Cramo management oy, Cramo 
management oy had an obligation to repay 
the loan granted by Cramo plc prematurely 
in case the share price of Cramo plc 
exceeds a certain price determined in the 
agreements other than on a temporary 
basis. This condition was met on 14 
February 2011.

In this arrangement, all the shares in 
Cramo management oy were transferred 
to Cramo plc. when the share swap was 
executed, the previously indirect share 
ownership of Cramo executive Committee 
members became a direct ownership in 
Cramo plc. The number of new shares 
included in the share swap was determined 
on the basis of Cramo management oy’s 
net assets and calculated by using the 
trade volume weighted-average quotation 
for the Cramo plc share on naSdaq omx 
helsinki ltd on 14 February 2011, both 
with respect to the new shares issued 
and the shares in Cramo plc that Cramo 
management oy owns. The new shares 
are subject to the transfer restriction 
determined by the Board of directors in 
June 2009, which expires on 1 october 
2012.

Long-term incentives
The nomination and Compensation 
Committee has elected and the Board has 
approved approximately 100 managers 
and key personnel from every Cramo 
country, including team members of the 
executive Committee and other Group 
management, to participate in the 2006 
stock option scheme. Cramo’s stock 
option schemes for management and 
key employees, which were launched in 
2006 (2006a, 2006B and 2006C), support 
achievement of the Group’s long-term 
goals by attracting and retaining those 
identified as key personnel.

In november 2009 and 2010 and in 
october 2011, the Board approved the 
allocation of stock options pertaining 
to the stock option schemes for those 

name
fixed annual 

base salary
profit based 

incentives
fringe  

benefits
share based 

payment

post-
employment  

benefits
2011  
total

2010  
total

president and Ceo 317,778 102,008 26,767 299,429 83,946 829,928 754,000

Group management team 1,602,695 309,063 110,115 1,027,301 50,506 3,099,679 2,469,000

total 1,920,473 411,071 136,882 1,326,730 134,452 3,929,607 3,223,000

remuneraTIon paId To The preSIdenT and Ceo and Group manaGemenT Team In 2011 on a CaSh BaSIS, eur
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salary and fringe benefits Base salary eur 26,000/month. additionally a car and telephone as fringe benefits.

short-term incentive systems (bonus) The bonus tied to the Group’s financial targets and/or personal targets as set by the Board. In 2011, the maximum 
bonus paid to the president and Ceo was 100% of base salary.

long-term incentive system (share 
ownership and stock option incentive)

as a member of the executive Committee, the president and Ceo participates in a long-term share ownership 
programme and in all Cramo stock option incentive schemes.

pension The retirement age is 63. In addition to the statutory system, Cramo offers voluntary pension insurance. In 2011, 
the expense of the voluntary pension scheme was eur 83,946. 

termination of the contract The notice period is six months, during which time the president and Ceo receives a full salary. If the contract is 
terminated by the employer, there may also be a severance payment of 18 months’ salary.

remuneraTIon and ServICe ConTraCT  
oF The preSIdenT and Ceo ConSISTS oF The FollowInG

CorporaTe GovernanCe

years. There were over 100 managers 
and key personnel from every Cramo 
country, including team members from 
the executive Committee and other Group 
management, participating in the 2009, 
2010 and 2011 stock option schemes.

In delivering options, the Board 
assesses which key individuals have also 
increased their direct shareholding in the 
company. 

a total of 551,809 new Cramo plc 
shares were subscribed for under the 
Company’s 2006a stock option rights in 
2011. The entire subscription price of eur 
7,261,806.44 was entered in the invested 
unrestricted equity reserve. as a result 
of the share subscriptions, the number of 
Cramo plc shares increased to 31,354,189.

Pension benefits
Cramo’s executives participate in local 
pension systems for each operating 
country which provide a retirement benefit 
based on years of service and earnings 
according to the prescribed statutory 
system. Finnish pension legislation offers 
a flexible retirement age ranging from 63 
to 68 without any full pension limits. The 
president and Ceo and three of the Group 
management team members participate in 
a voluntary pension system. The voluntary 
pension system is payment-based. In 2011, 
the expenses of the voluntary pension 
system were as follows: eur 83,946 for the 
president and Ceo and eur 50,506 for the 
two members of the Group management 
team, totalling eur 134,452.

Remuneration and service contract  
of the President and CEO
Cramo’s president and Ceo has a written 
service contract, which is approved by 
the Board. →  remuneration and service 
contract in detail above.

The financial benefits of the President and 
CEO and the Group management team
→  remuneration paid to the president 
and Ceo and the Group management team 
in 2011 on previous page.

internAl control
according to the Finnish Corporate 
Governance Code, the Board of directors 
is responsible for defining the operating 
principles of internal control and for 
monitoring the functioning of the 
process to ensure the Group’s profitable 
operations.

Cramo has specified internal control 
as a process that is affected by the Board 
of directors, management and every level 
of Cramo’s personnel. The objective of 
internal control is to give management a 
reasonable assurance that
•	 operations are effective, efficient and 

in line with strategy and targets;
•	 financial reporting and management 

information are reliable, complete and 
timely; and

•	 the Group is in compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations as 
well as Cramo internal policies. 

InTernal ConTrol  
FrameworK aT Cramo
as a model for defining internal control, 
Cramo has utilised the framework of the 
Committee of Sponsoring organisations 
(CoSo), which has been modified for 
Cramo’s purposes, for instance by adding 
items that support strategic and business 
objectives. The Group’s Board of directors 
focuses on shareholder value creation and 
value protection. In accordance with good 
corporate governance, the Board ensures 
that Cramo has internal control principles 
and also monitors the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal controls, internal audit 
and risk management.

InTernal ConTrol aCTIvITIeS
Cramo’s internal control consists of Board 
and Group management level activities as 
well as various controller activities. Control 
activities are the policies and procedures 
that help to ensure that management 

Cramo’S InTernal ConTrol 
FrameworK ConSISTS oF

•	 The internal control, risk 
management and corporate 
governance policies and principles 
set by the Board of directors;

•	 management overseeing the 
implementation and application of 
these policies and principles;

•	 The Group Finance and 
development function monitoring 
the efficiency and effectiveness of 
the operations and the reliability 
of financial and management 
reporting; 

•	 The enterprise risk management 
process identifying, assessing and 
mitigating risks threatening the 
realisation of Cramo’s objectives;

•	 Compliance procedures to make 
sure that all applicable laws, 
regulations, internal policies and 
ethical values are adhered to;

•	 an effective control environment at 
every organisational level, including 
control activities, which is tailored 
to each process;

•	 Shared ethical values and a strong 
internal control culture among all 
employees; and

•	 The Board’s audit Committee and 
the Group’s Internal audit function 
monitoring the effectiveness of 
internal controls.
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Management of financial risks
In addition to cash flow financing, the 
Group raises bank loans and concludes 
equipment lease agreements in financing 
its operations. Its main financial risks 
relate to interest rate risks associated with 
cash flows, currency risks, credit risks and 
liquidity risks. To manage its interest rate 
risks, Group borrowings and investments 
are spread across fixed and floating 
interest rate instruments. In an effort to 
manage its interest rate risks, the Group 
can make use of derivative contracts, such 
as interest rate swaps. Currency risks 
mainly involve net investments in foreign 
units and foreign currency-denominated 
loans, with currency forward contracts 
used as hedging instruments. Since Group 
companies mainly carry out their sales 
and purchases in the unit’s functional 
currency, the Group is not exposed to any 
major foreign exchange risks associated 
with these transactions.

The Group Treasury identifies, analyses 
and manages financial risks in co-
operation with Group companies.

Management of environmental risks 
Cramo Group’s environmentally sound 
corporate mission entails high utilisation 
rates of professionally serviced equipment 
and minimisation of the environmental 
impact caused by the use of equipment 
and energy – aspects that the Group 
pays special attention to in purchasing 
its rental machinery and equipment. 
Cramo Group’s quality management 
system is based on the ISo 9001:2000 
quality management certificate granted 

maJor rISKS and rISK 
manaGemenT meaSureS
Cramo Group’s expansion and business 
development are based in part on 
corporate acquisitions. risks associated 
with acquisitions may involve, for example, 
knowledge of local markets, customers, 
key personnel and suppliers. The aim is 
to take related risks into account through 
careful advance arrangements and the 
systematic monitoring of corporate 
acquisitions.

risk management measures are aimed 
at securing Cramo Group’s long-term 
competitiveness. The Board of directors 
and management are responsible 
for managing business, financial and 
environmental risks as well as the related 
insurance coverage.

Management of business risks
Cramo Group’s business largely depends 
on construction and property markets, 
which are characterised by seasonal 
fluctuations. on the other hand, the Group 
is not dependent on individual customers 
or projects, since its extensive customer 
base is spread across a number of market 
areas. Furthermore, the continuous 
management and optimising of utilisation 
rates for the Company’s equipment fleet is 
a critical success factor for the Group. 

The Board of directors analyses the 
financial performance of the Group and 
its business units on a monthly basis. 
Cramo’s business risks are mitigated by 
the Group’s about 400 depots and offices 
being spread among fifteen countries.

directives are carried out. They also help 
to ensure that the necessary actions 
are taken to address risks in achieving 
the entity’s objectives. Control activities 
are set throughout the organisation, at 
every level and in every function in order 
to ascertain that all applicable laws, 
regulations, internal policies and ethical 
values are adhered to. Control activities 
involve a range of actions including but 
not limited to approvals, authorisations, 
verifications, reconciliations, reviews of 
operating performance, security of assets 
and segregation of duties.

Cramo’s business segment and Group 
function directors are responsible for 
monitoring developments in legislation 
and regulations in their own areas and in 
communicating them to the organisation. 
Business segment and Group function 
directors are also responsible for setting 
up adequate compliance controls and 
compliance-related training in their units.

risK mAnAgement
an integral part of Cramo Group’s 
monitoring and control system, risk 
management is aimed at ensuring that the 
Company identifies its business-related 
risks and assesses and monitors them on 
an ongoing basis. In accordance with the 
Company’s risk management policy, risk 
management refers to continuous and 
systematic activities aimed at preventing 
personal injuries and safeguarding the 
assets of Cramo Group and its Group 
companies while ensuring stable, 
profitable business operations.

vAlue
creAtion

vAlue
protection

corporAte governAnce
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by det norske veritas, which covers all of 
the Company’s operations and depots in 
Finland. Cramo’s operations in Sweden, 
denmark and norway are based on the ISo 
14001 environmental and ISo 9001 quality 
management certificates.

The Group performs internal auditing 
on an ongoing basis and occasionally 
stages audits carried out by external 
parties. 

Insurance coverage
extensive insurance coverage forms 
an integral part of Cramo Group’s risk 
management. The Group’s management 
continuously assesses the adequacy and 
scope of insurance coverage, in view of the 
extent and nature of Group operations.

enTerprISe rISK manaGemenT
The enterprise risk management concept 
forms an important part of Cramo Group’s 
monitoring and control system. It is aimed 
at ensuring that the Group identifies its 
business-related risks and assesses 
and monitors them on an ongoing 
basis. enterprise risk management is a 
continuous process that is integrated into 
Cramo Group’s strategy process, operative 
planning, daily decision-making and 
monitoring of operations. It is also part of 
the Group’s internal control environment.

The Board of directors, the Group 
management and the Group Finance and 
development function are responsible 
for managing strategic, operational, 
financial, event and environmental risks 
as well as the related insurance coverage. 
The General managers shall also draft 
a country-specific risk profile for their 
operating country annually when preparing 
the budget. The risk profile and the related 
risk management policy will have to be 
adapted by the respective subsidiary.

as part of strategic planning, Cramo 
has identified risks related to the 
implementation of the must-win battles at 
Group and operating country levels. risk 
areas have been prioritised with regard to 
the extent of impact and likelihood, and an 
action plan has been completed. 

Strategy follow-up includes an actively 
followed set of forward-looking indicators to 
give an early indication of any changes in the 
market environment or the operations of the 
Company. The forward-looking indicators 
can be divided into external indicators, such 
as Gdp, construction growth rates and 
confidence indices, and internal indicators, 
such as time utilisation of the rental fleet 
and the modular space order book. In 
addition to the formalised indicators, Cramo 
follows a number of weak signals originating 
in the day-to-day rental operations.

enterprise risK mAnAgement

strAtegic plAnning risK identificAtion  
And prioritisAtion processes And controls investment mAnAgement

•		Strategic	planning	pro-
vides the basis for erm

	 •		Strategy	and	 
must-win battles

	 •		Subsidiary	 
business plans

	 •		Other	input	into	ERM

•		Identification	of	risk	 
areas related to  
strategy at group and  
operating company levels

•		Categorisation	of	risks
	 •	Strategic
	 •	Operational
	 •	Financial
	 •	Event
	 •	Environment
	 •	Other
•		Prioritisation	of	risk	areas	

with regard to 
	 •	Extent	of	impact
	 •	Likelihood
•	Action	plan

•		Selection	of	the	most	important	processes	
impacting the achievement of objectives 
and implementation of the strategy

•		Identification	of	key	controls	
•		Review	of	other	processes	(e.g.	support	

functions) and key controls

•	Investment	CAPEX
•	Acquisition	CAPEX
•	Cost	of	capital	and	approvals

•		Selection	of	forward-looking	indicators	to	
reflect the priority risk areas and to 
measure the extent of risks

•	FLIs	include	both	external	(market)	and	
internal (company) indicators

•	FLIs	to	be	used	together	with	normal	
management reporting information

•		Monitoring	process	
of FlIs

•	Implications	of	
FlIs to be taken 
into day-to-day 
business 
decisions/ 
activities

•	Creation	of	
operational hedges 
and flexibilities 
into the business 
model

•	Identification	and	
determination of 
situation severity 
with the help of 
FlIs

•	Contingency	
planning for the 
actions to be taken 
in a given situation

•	Implementation	of	
contingency plan 
actions as required

enTerprISe rISK manaGemenT (erm) FrameworK

selection of forwArd-looKing 
indicAtors (fli) 

contingency plAnning

normAl conditions downturn crisis

operaTIonal hedGeS For 
renTal BuSIneSSeS
Cramo has created a number of 
operational hedges and flexibilities which 
facilitate increased business agility and 
reduce exposure to risks in its rental 
business operations. Firstly, Cramo has 
worked to reduce business exposure by 
actively developing its modular space 
business. The demand for modular space 
is less dependent on economic cycles, 
driven by longer rental contracts and 
the public sector’s importance as a key 
customer segment.

Secondly, Cramo focuses on reducing 
customer exposure by expanding, 
broadening and balancing its customer 
base in order to lessen dependency 
on individual customers and individual 
customer segments. Thirdly, Cramo 
controls its geographic exposure by 
expanding the geographic footprint of its 
business.

Furthermore, Cramo limits its asset 
intensity by implementing a Group-wide 
fleet management and financing strategy. 
Cramo’s fleet management strategy 
enables the Group to swiftly respond to 
changes in demand by either transferring 
fleet within the broad international 
network of rental depots or by selling 
excess equipment through established 

CorporaTe GovernanCe
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sales channels. The fleet financing 
strategy helps Cramo in creating a flexible 
financing mix to address both long-term 
fleet financing needs and short-term 
changes in demand in a cost-efficient, 
risk-optimising manner.

Finally, Cramo has built flexibilities into 
its business model in a number of ways, 
for example, by increasing the amount 
of hired work force and entrepreneur-
managed depots.

ConTInGenCY  
plannInG ThrouGhouT  
The BuSIneSS CYCle
Cramo’s contingency plan determines 
the actions to be taken in a market 
downturn, both on the Group level 
and in the subsidiaries. under normal 
market conditions, Cramo’s contingency 
plan activities are focused on planning 
and actively monitoring the business 
environment. The implications of forward-
looking indicators and key performance 
indicators are taken into day-to-day 
business decisions regardless of the stage 
of the overall business cycle. In addition, 
Cramo focuses continuously on further 
improving its operational hedges for the 
rental business.

In a downturn or crisis, forward-
looking indicators are further used to 
identify and determine the severity of the 
situation. Based on the situation analysis, 
contingency plans are implemented to the 
degree required. Contingency plan actions 
in a downturn include reductions in 
investment levels, returns of fleet financed 
through operational leases, restructuring 
of the organisation and depot network, 
fleet transfers and sales, reductions in 
subcontracting work and various types of 
fixed-cost adjustments.

rISK manaGemenT 
reSponSIBIlITIeS 
The Board of directors monitors and is 
responsible for ensuring that the Group’s 
risk management process functions are 
comprehensive. It defines risk-bearing 
tolerance on a continuous basis, according 
to current conditions.

The Group’s operative management is 
responsible for achieving the goals set as 
well as controlling and managing risks that 
threaten them. The operative management 
is committed to fully supporting 
implementation of the risk management 
work and to ensuring the performance 
of the risk management process and the 
availability of sufficient resources.

risk management assessments are 
coordinated by the Group Finance and 
development function, which supports the 
management, business units and other 
support functions in implementing the risk 
management policy. It is responsible for 
instructions and advice to the units and for 
monitoring the practical implementations 
of the process.

The Internal audit unit and the Group 
Finance and development function 
collaborate closely with corporate 
risk management and concentrate on 
assessing risks. 

Business units and corporate functions 
identify and assess significant risks 
within their area of responsibility in their 
planning processes, and take necessary 
corrective measures as well as report in 
the agreed manner.

rISK manaGemenT  
aCTIonS In 2011
In 2011, the focus of risk management 
was on the appraisal of the effects that 
the uncertain market environment 
had on business operations and Group 
functions. Special emphasis was given 
to risks related to the integration of 
Theisen operations. In addition, market 
specific risks were assessed and renewed 
contingency plans were prepared as part 
of the business planning process. The 
Group’s risk management concentrated on 
core processes and control development 
related to the Company’s key processes. 

internAl Audit
Cramo Group’s internal control is based 
on an independent Internal audit function, 
internal policies and guidelines, financial 
reporting, supervision and documentation, 
as well as transparent processes and 
procedures. The Group pays particular 
attention to systematic operations at its 
offices, rental equipment management 
and clear reporting.

The scope of Internal audit encompasses 
the examination and evaluation of 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
governance, risk management process, 
system of internal control structures and 
quality of performance of the audited 
organisation in carrying out assigned 
responsibilities to achieve the organisation’s 
stated goals and objectives.

The audit Committee approves the 
charter and annual audit plan of the 
Group’s Internal audit unit and assesses 
its operations. The unit pays regular 
visits to depots and offices in Cramo 

InTernal audIT InCludeS

•	 reviewing the reliability and 
appropriateness of financial and 
operating information;

•	 reviewing compliance with 
policies, plans, procedures, laws, 
and regulations that could have a 
significant impact on operations;

•	 reviewing the means of 
safeguarding assets and, as 
appropriate, verifying the existence 
of such assets;

•	 reviewing and appraising the 
economy and efficiency with which 
resources are employed, used and 
protected;

•	 reviewing operations or 
programmes to ascertain whether 
results are consistent with 
established objectives and goals 
and whether the operations or 
programmes are being carried out 
as planned;

•	 reviewing specific operations 
at the request of the Board or 
management, as appropriate;

•	 monitoring and evaluating the 
effectiveness of set common 
controls; and 

•	 monitoring and evaluating 
the effectiveness of the risk 
identification and management 
system of the audited organisation.

countries. In addition, Internal audit is 
responsible for the assessment of the 
efficiency of the Group’s various units for 
operational and compliance auditing. The 
head of Internal audit reports the findings 
and recommendations to the audit 
Committee and the Board of directors. 
administratively, the head of Internal audit 
reports to the CFo and shares the results 
of audit assignments with the Group 
management.

InTernal ConTrol and rISK 
manaGemenT relaTed To 
FInanCIal reporTInG
→  Further information about internal 
control and risk management related to 
financial reporting can be found in the 
Corporate Governance Statement, which 
is available online at www.cramo.com > 
Investors > Corporate Governance.
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General developmenT 
aCTIvITIeS In InTernal ConTrol 
and rISK manaGemenT In 2011
while implementing Cramo Group’s 
strategy, the Group management team 
evaluated related risks on an ongoing 
basis. The evaluations covered such 
issues as the Group’s diverse operational 
environments and Cramo’s positioning in 
these markets. risk perspective was also 
taken into account in assessing depot-
level performance.

In 2011, Cramo continued its launch of 
a one Cramo enterprise rental application 
and further enhanced the Cramo Business 
intelligence (CraBi) reporting tool to 
advance harmonisation and development 
of the Group’s reporting.

InTernal ConTrol and rISK 
manaGemenT developmenT 
aCTIvITIeS relaTed To FInanCIal 
reporTInG In 2011
during 2011, the Group Finance and 
development function developed and 
implemented the new controller model 
to strengthen the monitoring and 
controlling of operational and financial 
performance. In addition, the process to 
push targets down to the depot level was 
further developed. a monitoring of control 
activities was carried out at selected 
opCos. The monitoring was facilitated by 
the Group’s Internal audit and was based 
on a control tool developed and tested in 
2009. The tool includes Group-wide control 
objectives for diverse business processes. 
Furthermore, the control self-assessment 
was carried out at the Group IT function, 
and an audit review for the rental system 
was conducted at the Group level. depot-
level internal audits were continued as an 
ongoing control activity.

prIorITY areaS In 2012
efficient business steering and the 
integrity of internal and external reporting 
will continue to be the key themes for 
2012. Focus areas will include further 
implementation of the new controller 
model to monitor the optimised use of 
invested capital and to ensure prompt 
corrective actions if needed. In order to 
strengthen the integrity of the Group´s 
financial reporting, the Group Finance and 
development will implement the Financial 
manual. 

In 2012, internal control will also include 
monitoring of control activities at selected 
opCos. The selection of opCos for review 
will be risk-based, and the review will be 

performed by the Group Internal audit. 
Consequently, improvement measures 
will be designed and implemented in order 
to advance the control maturity. a control 
self-assessment will be performed at the 
Group Finance and development function. 
The depot audit programme will continue 
as a sustained control activity.

insider AdministrAtion
Cramo observes the Insider Guidelines 
issued by naSdaq omx helsinki ltd. 
Cramo’s own internal insider rules are 
regularly updated and made available 
to all permanent insiders as well as 
employees. euroclear Finland ltd 
maintains an insider register for Cramo’s 
permanent insiders. Cramo requires that 
its employees and partners comply with 
the Insider Guidelines. The co-ordination 
and control of insider affairs are included 
in the responsibilities of the CFo.

externAl Auditors
The Company has a minimum of one 
and a maximum of two authorised public 
accountants (apa) or firms of authorised 
public accountants, chartered by the 
Central Chamber of Commerce of Finland. 
Their term of office expires at the end of 
the next annual General meeting following 
their election. If the aGm elects only one 
auditor, which is not a firm of authorised 
public accountants chartered by the 
Central Chamber of Commerce, it must 
elect one deputy auditor.

apa mr erkka Talvinko was appointed 
the auditor in charge, and the firm of 
authorised public accountants ernst 
& Young oy was elected at the annual 
General meeting on 24 march 2011 as 
the Company’s auditor to serve for a 
term ending at the end of the next annual 
General meeting in 2012. Both mr Talvinko 
and ernst & Young oy have served as 
auditors of the Company since 2006.

CorporaTe GovernanCe

ToTal CompenSaTIon  
For exTernal audITInG

eur 1,000 2011 2010 change, %

audit fees 710 654 8.6
Tax consultation 180 94 91.5
other services 906 249 263.9

total 1,796 997 80.1
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boArd of directors
31 DEC 2011

Stig Gustavson
Chairman since 2007, Board 
member since 2006. 
Chairman of the nomination and 
Compensation Committee.
Born 1945, Finnish citizen,  
dr.Tech. (hon) and m.Sc. (eng.)
primary work experience: 
Konecranes plc’s president and 
Ceo 1994–2005; president of 
Kone Cranes division 1988−1994; 
various executive positions 
with major Finnish companies 
1969–1988.
current positions of trust:  
Board Chairman: Konecranes plc,  
Svenska handelsbanken aB (publ) 
regional Bank Finland, Technology 
academy Foundation, ahlström 
Capital oy
Board vice Chairman: mercantile 
oy ab, dynea oy
Board member: vaisala 
Corporation
Supervisory Board member 
of mutual pension Insurance 
Company varma
Senior regional advisor of IK 
Investment partners
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
110,440 (31 dec 2010: 83,697)
Deemed independent of 
the Company and its major 
shareholders.

J.T. Bergqvist
Board member since 2011. 
member of the audit Committee.
Born 1957, Finnish citizen,  
dr.Tech. (eng.)
Ceo of K. hartwall oy ab
primary work experience: 
nokia Corporation, member of  
the Group executive Board 2002–
2005; nokia Corporation, member 
of the Strategy panel of the Group 
executive Board 2001–2005; nokia 
networks, Global Business units, 
executive/Senior vice president & 
General manager 2000–2005.
current positions of trust: 
Board Chairman: norvestia oyj, 
ainoactive oy
Board member: ascom holding 
aG, hartwall Capital oy, K. 
hartwall oy ab and Franco-Finnish 
Chamber of Commerce
Strategy Consultant at various 
industrial companies
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
816 (31 dec 2010: - )
Deemed independent of the 
Company, but not independent  
of a major shareholder.

helene Biström
Board member since 2011. 
member of the nomination and 
Compensation Committee
Born 1962, Swedish citizen,  
m.Sc. (eng.)
managing director of norrenergi aB
primary work experience: 
Senior executive vice president 
and head of Business Group pan 
europe of vattenfall aB 2009–
2010 and member of executive 
Group management of vattenfall 
2007–2010; vice head of vattenfall 
Business Group nordic 2007−2008; 
head of the nordic heat Business 
unit of vattenfall 2004–2007.
current positions of trust:
Board member: KTh royal 
Institute of Technology
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
816 (31 dec 2010: - )
Deemed independent of 
the Company and its major 
shareholders.
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“independent” means that the member 

of the board does not have a material 

relationship with cramo apart from his/

her board membership and that the 

member is independent of significant 

shareholders of the company.

for further information about board 

activities, see pages 39–42.

eino halonen
deputy Chairman since 2007, 
Board member since 2003.
Chairman of the audit Committee.
Born 1949, Finnish citizen,  
B.Sc. (econ.)
primary work experience: 
Suomi mutual life assurance 
Company, president and Ceo 
2000–2007.
current positions of trust: 
Board member: metsäliitto 
Corporation, YIT Corporation
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
12,255 (31 dec 2010: 8,620)
Deemed independent of 
the Company and its major 
shareholders.

victor hartwall
Board member since 2010. 
member of the nomination and 
Compensation Committee.
Born 1966, Finnish citizen,  
m.Sc. (econ.)
managing director of K. hartwall 
Invest oy ab
primary work experience: 
deputy managing director 
of lankapaja oy 2001–2006; 
Controller, K. hartwall oy ab 
1999–2001; product manager, K. 
hartwall oy ab 1995–1999.
current positions of trust: 
Board Chairman: lankapaja oy
Board member: K. hartwall oy 
ab, K. hartwall Invest oy ab, 
malmgårds bryggeri ab
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
36,853 (31 dec 2010: 1,035)
Deemed independent of the 
Company, but not independent  
of a major shareholder.

Jari lainio
Board member since 2009. 
member of the nomination and 
Compensation Committee.
Born 1955, Finnish citizen, 
Construction engineer
managing director of lainio & 
laivoranta ltd., managing director 
of rakennustoimisto lainio & 
laivoranta ltd.
primary work experience: 
managing director of 
rakennustoimisto laivoranta ltd. 
1989−1994; Technical director of 
rakennustoimisto laivoranta ltd. 
1986−1989; managing director 
of rakennustoimisto lainio & 
laaksonen ltd. 1982−1986.
current positions of trust: 
Board Chairman: 
rakennusteollisuus rT, 
lounais-Suomi
Board member: Turun 
rakentamistaidon edistämissäätiö
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
4,292 (31 dec 2010: 2,672)
Deemed independent of 
the Company and its major 
shareholders.

esko mäkelä
Board member since 2007. 
member of the audit Committee.
Born 1943, Finnish citizen,  
m.Sc. (eng.), mBa
primary work experience:
executive vice president, CFo of 
YIT Corporation.
current positions of trust: 
Board Chairman: everalis oy
Board member: Convergens oy
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
9,069 (31 dec 2010: 5,041)
Deemed independent of 
the Company and its major 
shareholders.

mika puittinen 
Secretary to the Board  
(not member of the Board)

Board oF dIreCTorS
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vesa Koivula
Born: 1954, Finnish citizen
m.Sc. (eng.), Tampere university  
of Technology
position:
president and Ceo since 2003
employed by Cramo since 2003
primary work experience: 
Fiskars Inha Ähtäri works, 
managing director 2001−2003 
and deputy managing director 
1995−2001; morus oy, managing 
director 1992−1995.
current positions of trust:  
Board member: marinetek Group 
oy, european rental association 
(era)
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
120,144 (31 dec 2010: 316,2881)

Göran Carlson
Born: 1958, Swedish citizen
engineering, lund Institute of 
Technology, university of lund, 
Sweden
position:
deputy Ceo since 2006 
member of the Group management 
team since 2006
employed by Cramo since 2005
primary work experience: 
Cramo aB, Ceo 2005; Fläktwoods 
Group, Svp 2002−2004; electrolux 
South africa, managing 
director 1998–2001; The lux Group, 
Ceo 1993−1998;  lux France, 
managing director 1991−1993;  
electrolux philippines, managing 
director 1986−1991; electrolux Far 
east, managing director 1984−1986.
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
63,758 (31 dec 2010: 318,2882)
 

group 
mAnAgement
31 DEC 2011

martin holmgren
Born: 1967, Swedish citizen
B.Sc. (Business administration), 
Karlstad university
position:
vice president, Fleet management/
equipment rental since 2009
member of the Group management 
team since 2009
employed by Cramo since 2003
primary work experience: 
Cramo aB, product area 
manager Fleet management 
2003−2008; Telia mobile, Business 
development manager 2000−2003; 
aBB, Supply Chain manager 
1998−2000; platzer Bygg, Site 
manager 1989−1995.
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
3,000 (31 dec 2010: 0)

Jarmo laasanen
Born: 1950, Finnish citizen
mBa
position:
Senior vice president, russia and 
Baltics since 2006
member of the Group management 
team since 2006
employed by Cramo since 2004
primary work experience: 
Cramo Suomi oy, president 
2004−2005; addsoft Solutions oy, 
managing director 2001−2004; 
Getronics oy/Corp., General 
manager, north east europe 
area manager, vice president 
1998−2001; olivetti oy, Service 
director, managing director 
1992−1998; unisys oy, Sales 
manager, Sales director 1980−1992.
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
3,611 (31 dec 2010: 2,450)

per lundquist
Born: 1967, Swedish citizen
m.Sc. (eng.), Institute of 
Technology, linköping university, 
Sweden
position:
vice president, CIo since 2010
member of the Group management 
team since 2010
employed by Cramo since 2010
primary work experience: 
Toyota material handling Group, 
CIo/director IT 2004−2010; 
Sogeti aB, Key account manager 
2000−2004; Cap Gemini Telecom 
and media lab atherton Ca uSa, 
project manager/System architect 
1999−2000; Cap Gemini Sverige 
aB, project manager/System 
architect 1996−1999; linköping 
university hospital, research 
engineer neurophysiology and 
medical imaging 1993−1996.
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
0 (31 dec 2010: 0)
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martti ala-härkönen
Born: 1965, Finnish citizen
dr.Sc. (econ.), lic.Sc. (Tech.)
position:
CFo since 2006
member of the Group management 
team since 2006
employed by Cramo since 2006
primary work experience: 
wm-data oy, Svp, Finance and 
administration 2004−2006; 
novo Group oyj, Svp-Business 
development, CFo 1998−2003; 
postipankki ltd, Finance manager, 
manager-Corporate Finance 
1995−1998.
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
61,203 (31 dec 2010: 316,2881)
 

ossi alastalo
Born: 1966, Finnish citizen
Studies at the Tampere university 
of Technology
position:
Senior vice president, Fleet 
management / modular Space 
since 2006
member of the Group management 
team since 2006
employed by Cramo since 2000
primary work experience: 
Tilamarkkinat oy (later Cramo 
Instant oy), managing director 
2001−2006; deputy managing 
director 1999−2001 and logistic 
manager 1989−1999.
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
18,158 (31 dec 2010: 14,029)

erik Bengtsson
Born: 1969, Swedish citizen
m.Sc. (Industrial engineering)
position:
Senior vice president, Sweden 
since 2008
employed by Cramo since 2005
primary work experience: 
Cramo Sverige aB, region 
manager east 2005−2008; Toyota 
materials handling (BT Svenska), 
Sales manager 2001−2005; parker 
hannifin, production engineer and 
field sales 1995−2001.  
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
1,000 (31 dec 2010: 1,000)

Tatu hauhio
Born: 1970, Finnish citizen 
m.Sc. (econ.), helsinki School 
of economics and Business 
administration
position:
Senior vice president, Finland  
since 2006
member of the Group management 
team since 2006
employed by Cramo since 2004
primary work experience: 
rK Group, director for project rental 
and foreign operations 2004−2005; 
Suomen projektivuokraus oy, Business 
development director 2003; Cap 
Gemini oy, IT-consultancy, quality and 
risk management positions 1997−2002. 
other positions of trust:  
Board Chairman: Finnish Technical 
Traders (machine rental)
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
13,432 (31 dec 2010: 5,750)

Finn løkken
Born: 1964, norwegian citizen
machine technician (various 
management programmes)
position:
Senior vice president, norway 
since 2009
member of the Group management 
team since 2009
employed by Cramo since 2003
primary work experience: 
Cramo norway, managing director 
since 2003; Bautas, regions 
manager 1998-2003; Stavdal Øst 
aS, managing director 1996−1998; 
Finn løkken aS, managing 
director 1992−1996.
current positions of trust:  
Board member: norwegian rental 
association
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
0 (31 dec 2010: 0)

dirk Schlitzkus
Born: 1964, German citizen
attorney at law, Julius-
maximilians-university, würzburg, 
Germany
position:
Senior vice president, Central 
europe since 2011
member of the Group management 
team since 2011
employed by Cramo since 2011
primary work experience: 
Theisen Baumaschinen aG, 
member of the Board of 
directors since 2007; Theisen 
Baumaschinen Group, managing 
director since 1998; Theisen 
Baumaschinen Group, Company 
lawyer 1994−1998.
cramo shares on 31 dec 2011:
0 (31 dec 2010: - )

1) Shareholdings for 2010 reported through ownership in Cramo management oy (page 96). 
2) Shareholdings for 2010 reported through ownership in Cramo management oy (316,288) and direct (2,000).



LOREM IPSUM Cramo  aNNUaL rEPorT 2011

 one
 crAmo 
we are easy to find and you know 
what to expect, wherever you are 
– one Cramo.
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 At your
 service 
– close by
You can find our rental professionals, 
efficient logistics and over 400 depots in  
15 European countries.
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boArd of directors’ report  
on the 58th yeAr of operAtion

cramo is a service company specialising 
in equipment rental services, as well as 
the rental and sale of modular space. 
its equipment rental services comprise 
construction machinery and equipment 
rentals and rental-related services. 
These rental-related services include 
construction site and installation services. 

cramo Plc is one of the industry’s 
leading service providers in the nordic 
countries and central and Eastern Europe. 
at the end of 2011, cramo Plc operated 
in finland, sweden, norway, Denmark, 
Estonia, latvia, lithuania, Poland, the 
czech republic, slovakia, russia, Germany, 
austria, switzerland and hungary. 

operAtinG environment1 
in equipment rental, the year 2011 began 
favourably. in many markets, construction 
and industrial investments began to 
recover in the second half of the previous 
year. however, economic uncertainty 
increased in the second half of 2011. 
Economic uncertainty did not significantly 
affect cramo’s business during the 
year. cramo prepared for the weakening 
outlook by cutting its fleet investments 
and, in the second half of the year, shifting 
its focus from strong growth to securing 
profitability.  

in 2011, construction activity is estimated 
to have increased in finland and Germany 
by 3–4%, in sweden by 4–9%, in Denmark by 
2–3%, in russia by 5%, in Poland by 13% and 
in the baltic countries by 17%. in norway, 
estimates of the change in market size vary 
from -4 to 6%. in the czech republic and 
in slovakia, investments in construction 
decreased by about 6%. 

vTT and Era estimate growth in the 
equipment rental sector at about 10% in 
Germany and the nordic countries in 2011, 
and at about 30% in Poland. 

business revieW 
cramo Group’s business segments consist 
of finland, sweden, norway, Denmark, 
central Europe, which includes Germany, 
switzerland, austria and hungary, 
and Eastern Europe, which includes 
Estonia, latvia, lithuania, Poland, the 
czech republic, slovakia and russia. in 

sAles And profit 
cramo Group’s consolidated sales in 2011 
were EUr 679.9 (492.1) million, showing an 
increase of 38.2% on the previous year. in 
local currencies, sales growth was 34.5%, 
while organic growth was 20.9%. strong 
growth was achieved in all markets.

compared with the previous year, 
EbiTa more than doubled to EUr 71.1 
(34.5) million, or 10.5% (7.0) of sales. 
EbiTDa was EUr 168.7 (117.6) million, 
or 24.8% (23.9) of sales. EbiTa excluding 
non-recurring items was EUr 73.1 (28.7) 
million, or 10.7% (5.8) of sales. EbiTDa 
excluding non-recurring items was EUr 
170.7 (111.9) million, or 25.1% (22.7) of 
sales. in the first quarter of 2011, non-
recurring items included expenses of EUr 
2.1 million relating to the acquisition of 
Theisen Group, while non-recurring items 
in the first quarter of 2010 included a net 
capital gain of EUr 5.7 million. 

operating profit (EbiT) for 2011 was 
EUr 54.3 (27.4) million, or 8.0% (5.6) of 
sales. The result includes a writedown of 
EUr 5.5 million of Group goodwill relating 
to the Danish operations. 

The Group’s credit losses and credit 
loss provisions were EUr 5.6 (5.0) million. 
The result also includes impairment 
losses on the fleet totalling EUr 1.1 (0.8) 
million. Expenses associated with options 
totalled EUr 2.8 (2.3) million. net finance 
costs were EUr -22.2 (-22.6) million. 

Profit before taxes was EUr 32.2 (4.8) 
million and profit for the period EUr 23.5 
(-2.2) million. 

in accordance with the prudence 
principle, cramo did not recognise a 
deferred tax asset for all of its loss-making 
companies. Unrecognised deferred tax 
assets for the period was EUr 1.5 (4.8) 
million. 

Earnings per share were EUr 0.60 (-0.06) 
and diluted earnings per share were EUr 
0.60 (-0.06). return on investment (rolling 
12 months) was 6.6% (3.7) and return on 
equity (rolling 12 months) 5.4% (-0.6). 

cApitAl eXpenditure And 
depreciAtion/AmortisAtion
Gross capital expenditure for the period 
was EUr 262.5 (86.2) million, of which 

1)  market forecasts: Euroconstruct 11/2011, the Confederation of Finnish Construction Industries rT 10/2011, the Swedish Construction Federation (Svensk Byggindustrier) 12/2011, the Danish 
Construction association (Dansk Byggeri) 9/2011, Prognosesenteret (Norway) 9/2011 and Era (European rental association) and VTT Technical research Centre of Finland 11/2011. 

addition to segment information, cramo 
also reports on the order book value 
for modular space. The order book and 
profitability of the modular space business 
remained good throughout the year. 

During the financial year, cramo 
expanded its operations to central Europe 
by way of acquiring 100% of the share 
capital of the German rental group Theisen 
baumaschinen aG. cramo expects the 
acquisition to be earnings-accretive 
from 2012 onwards. in June, cramo also 
reinforced its regional market position with 
the acquisition of Tidermans, a swedish 
rental operator in the Gothenburg region, 
and stavdal, a norwegian rental company 
operating in the oslo region. The integration 
of all companies acquired in 2011 into 
cramo Group has progressed as planned. 

sales and EbiTa increased in all 
business segments. all segments except 
Denmark achieved a positive result. 
Profit development was particularly 
strong in central Europe. The recovery 
in the markets and price levels as well 
as adjustments made in previous years 
contributed to the positive development. 
in finland, significant outsourcing 
agreements signed in the second half of 
2010 also added to sales growth. 

finland generated EUr 127.6 (99.6) 
million or 18.5% (19.9) of the total 
consolidated sales for 2011 (excluding 
inter-segment sales), sweden EUr 308.9 
(251.9) million or 44.9% (50.4), norway EUr 
79.3 (69.1) million or 11.5% (13.8), Denmark 
EUr 35.0 (29.5) million or 5.1% (5.9) and 
Eastern Europe EUr 66.6 (49.9) million 
or 9.7% (10.0). central Europe generated 
EUr 71.2 million or 10.3% of the sales, 
of which 90% was generated in Germany. 
The central European business segment, 
consisting of Theisen Group, became part 
of cramo Group on 1 february 2011. 

in order to support the Group’s 
growth strategy and to strengthen its 
balance sheet, cramo arranged a rights 
offering in april. after expenses, the new 
shareholders’ capital amounted to EUr 
97.4 million. 
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EUr 115.4 (32.7) million relates to 
acquisitions and business combinations. 
The investment level was reduced from the 
planned level in the second half of the year. 

reported depreciation and impairment 
on property, plant and equipment and 
software were EUr 97.6 (83.1) million for 
the period. 

amortisation and impairment 
on intangible assets resulting from 
acquisitions were EUr 11.2 (7.1) million. 
additionally there  was also made an 
impairment loss of 5.5 million relating to 
goodwill in Danish operations. after the 
writedown, the Group has no goodwill 
relating to the Danish operations.

at the end of the period, goodwill 
totalled EUr 165.3 (148.0) million.

finAnciAl position And 
bAlAnce sheet
in 2011, cash flow from operating 
activities was EUr 138.5 (68.3) million. 
cash flow from investing activities was 
EUr –193.8 (-40.9) million and cash flow 
from financing activities was EUr 55.8 
(-24.1) million. The Group’s cash flow 
after investments was EUr -55.3 (27.4) 
million. at the end of the period, the 
Group’s balance sheet included EUr 6.7 
(2.7) million of assets available for sale. 

after consolidating Theisen Group, 
cramo has recognised a pension liability 
from Germany (EUr 1.4 million on 31 
December 2011), which is presented in 
pension obligations on the balance sheet.

on 31 December 2011, cramo Group’s 
net interest-bearing liabilities totalled 
EUr 389.4 (382.0) million. at the end of the 
financial year, gearing was 78.7% (103.4). 

EUr 181.6 (181.3) million of variable-
rate liabilities were hedged by way of 
interest rate swaps on 31 December 
2011. hedge accounting is applied to EUr 
145.2 (104.9) million of these interest rate 
hedges. on 31 December 2011, cramo 
Group had undrawn committed credit 
facilities (excluding leasing facilities) of 
EUr 166.2 (135.6) million, of which non-
current facilities totalled EUr 143.0 (118.0) 
million and current facilities EUr 23.2 
(17.6) million.

Tangible assets amounted to EUr 622.2 
(526.3) million of the balance sheet total. 
Growth is due to organic investments 
and business combinations. The balance 
sheet total on 31 December 2011 was EUr 
1,1126.8 (965.7) million and the equity ratio 
was 44.4% (38.7).

rental liabilities associated with 
off-balance sheet operational leasing 
agreements totalled EUr 45.1 (37.6) million 
on 31 December 2011. off-balance sheet 
liabilities for office and depot rents totalled 
EUr 130.9 (98.3) million. The Group’s 

investment commitments amounted to 
EUr 10.4 (1.2) million, of which about 75% 
is related to the acquisition of modular 
space. at the end of the financial year, 
the hybrid bond-related off-balance sheet 
interest liability was EUr 4.0 (4.0) million. 

Group structure
at the end of the financial year, cramo 
Group consisted of the parent company 
cramo Plc, which provides group-level 
services, and as operating companies, 
its wholly-owned subsidiaries in finland, 
sweden, norway, Denmark, Estonia, 
latvia, lithuania, Poland, the czech 
republic, slovakia, russia, Germany, 
austria, switzerland and hungary. cramo 
Plc also owns a financing company in 
belgium, a company in sweden which 
offers group-level services and cramo 
Management oy, which owns 316,288 
cramo Plc shares. 

at the end of the year, equipment rental 
services were provided through a network 
of 409 (288) depots, Growth is almost 
entirely due to acquisitions. 75 (77) of the 
depots were entrepreneur-managed. 

eXecutive committee
at the end of the financial year, cramo 
Group’s Executive committee was 
composed of the following persons: 
Mr vesa Koivula, President and cEo of 
cramo Group; Mr Göran carlson, Deputy 
cEo, with added responsibility for the 
Group’s operations in Denmark, Poland, 
the czech republic and slovakia; and Mr 

Martti ala-härkönen, cfo, with added 
responsibility for the Group’s business 
development, legal function and human 
resource development. The other 
members of the Group management 
team at the end of the financial year were: 
Mr Tatu hauhio, senior vice President, 
finland; Mr Erik bengtsson, senior vice 
President, sweden; Mr Jarmo laasanen, 
senior vice President, baltic countries 
and russia; Mr finn løkken, senior vice 
President, norway; Mr Dirk schlitzkus, 
senior vice President, central Europe; 
Mr ossi alastalo, senior vice President, 
fleet Management/Modular space; Mr 
Martin holmgren, vice President, fleet 
Management/Equipment rental; and Mr 
Per lundquist, vice President, cio.

Mr Dirk schlitzkus, attorney, was 
appointed senior vice President, central 
Europe, and member of the cramo Group 
management team as of 9 May 2011. 

Mr finn løkken, Managing Director 
of cramo norway as and senior vice 
President in the cramo Group management 
team, announced in December that he 
would resign from his position to pursue 
career opportunities outside the rental 
industry. Mr løkken will continue at cramo 
until a successor has been appointed; 
however, no later than June 2012. 

humAn resources 
in 2011, Group personnel averaged 2,580 
(2,083). in addition, the Group employed 
228 (158) persons as temporary staff. 
at the end of the financial year, Group 

number of employees (fte) percent of the entire staff
2011 2010 2011 2010

finland 623 570 23.0 26.7
sweden 791 664 29.2 31.2
norway 221 189 8.2 8.9
Denmark 124 120 4.6 5.6
central Europe 295  10.9  
Eastern Europe 589 532 21.8 25.0
Group activities 64 56 2.4 2.6

of which in parent company 24 20 0.9 0.9

Group total 2,707 2,131 100.0 100.0

stAff by seGment At the yeAr end

number of employees (fte) percent of the entire staff
2011 2010 2011 2010

–23 151 87 5.6 4.1
24–35 822 672 30.4 31.5
36–45 836 638 30.9 29.9
46–59 775 623 28.6 29.2
60– 123 111 4.6 5.2

Group total 2,707 2,131 100.0 100.0

stAff AGe distribution At the yeAr end
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personnel numbered 2,707 (2,131). The 
total amount of salaries and fees paid was 
EUr 103.0 (76,1) million. 

The geographical distribution of 
personnel at the end of the period was 
as follows: finland, 648 (591) employees; 
sweden, 830 (699); norway, 221 (189); 
Denmark, 124 (120); central Europe 295; 
and Eastern Europe, 589 (532). 

in human resources development, the 
focus was on the implementation of group-
wide development projects, launched in the 
previous year. The most important project 
concerns cramopol, a communication tool 
in the form of a game, designed to ensure 
successful implementation of the Group’s 
common values and strategy. Projects 
concerned with the development of customer 
service and sales skills and increasing the 
efficiency of fleet management processes 
were continued on a country-specific basis.

shAres And shAre cApitAl 
on 31 December 2011, cramo Plc’s share 
capital as registered in the finnish Trade 
register was EUr 24,834,753.09 and the 
number of shares was 41,439,086. cramo 
Plc holds 316,288 of these shares through 
its subsidiary cramo Management oy. 

as a result of subscriptions made under 
the stock option rights 2006a, the number 
of cramo Plc shares increased by 694,000 
new shares, which were registered in 
the trade register on 13 January and 10 
february 2011. The share subscription 
period for these stock options ended on 
31 January 2011. on 18 february 2011, the 
number of shares increased by 374,532 
new shares following a directed share 
issue to arrex beteiligungs-Gmbh, the 
shareholder of Theisen baumaschinen aG. 
on 28 february 2011, the number of shares 
increased by 220,488 new shares due to a 
share swap in which cramo acquired all of 
the shares in cramo Management oy from 
the cramo Executive committee. 

in a rights offering, the number of 
cramo Plc shares increased by 9,489,877 
new shares, which were registered in 
the trade register on 26 april 2011. The 
subscription price was EUr 10.50 per 
share, and the subscription right was 
three new shares for every 10 shares held. 
The share subscription period was 1 april–
15 april 2011, and all shares offered were 
subscribed for. cramo’s net proceeds 
from the rights offering amounted to 
approximately EUr 97.4 million.

on 23 september 2011, cramo 
announced it would apply for listing of stock 
options 2006c on nasDaQ oMX helsinki 
to commence on 3 october 2011. a total of 
1,000,000 stock options 2006c have been 
issued, of which 876,500 are held by 86 key 
employees and 121,500 by a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of cramo Plc. The share 
subscription period started on 1 october 
2011 and it will end on 31 January 2013. 

The 2,600 new shares subscribed for 
under the stock option rights 2006c in 
December were registered in the trade 
register on 13 January 2012, and trading in 
them began on 16 January 2012. The entire 
subscription price of EUr 16,822.00 was 
entered in the paid-in capital. as a result 
of the share subscriptions, the number of 
cramo Plc shares increased to 41,441,686. 

current option proGrAmmes 
on 31 December 2011, cramo Group’s key 
personnel held a total of 737,000 stock 
options 2006b, 876,500 stock options 
2006c, 857,000 stock options 2009, 
934,500 stock options 2010 and 964,000 
stock options 2011.

stock options 2006b, 2006c, 2009 
and 2010 did not entitle their holders to 
participate in the rights offering decided 
on by the board of Directors on 24 March 
2011. Therefore, the subscription price and 
subscription ratio of the stock options was 
amended in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of stock options so that 
the share-specific subscription price is 
as follows: for stock options 2006b, EUr 
22.05; stock options 2006c, EUr 6.47; 
stock options 2009, EUr 10.85; and stock 
options 2010, EUr 13.72. Each stock option 
entitles the holder to subscribe for 1.3 new 
cramo Plc shares.

The annual General Meeting held on 
24 March 2011 decided that a maximum 
of 1,000,000 stock options be issued to 
the key personnel (stock options 2011). 
The stock options entitle their owners to 
subscribe for a maximum of 1,000,000 
new shares in the company or existing 
shares held by the company in total. The 
share subscription price will be EUr 7.30 
and it will be based on the prevailing 
market price of the cramo Plc share on 
the nasDaQ oMX helsinki ltd in october 
2011. The share subscription period will be 
1 october 2014 to 31 December 2015. 

AnnuAl GenerAl meetinG 2011 
And boArd AuthorisAtions
cramo Plc’s annual General Meeting was 
held in helsinki on 24 March 2011. The 
annual General Meeting approved the 
consolidated financial statements and the 
parent company’s financial statements for 
2010 and discharged the members of the 
board of Directors and the President and 
cEo from liability. The annual General 
Meeting decided, as proposed by the board 
of Directors, that a dividend of EUr 0.10 per 
share be paid from the distributable funds. 

The number of members of the board 
of Directors was confirmed as seven. Mr 

stig Gustavson, Mr Eino halonen, Mr Jari 
lainio, Mr Esko Mäkelä and Mr victor 
hartwall were re-elected, and Mr J.T. 
bergqvist and Mrs helene biström were 
elected as new board members.

The annual General Meeting confirmed 
the remuneration payable to the chairman 
of the board of Directors as EUr 70,000, 
to the deputy chairman as EUr 45,000 
and to the other members of the board 
as EUr 35,000 per annum. as a rule, 40% 
of the annual remuneration will be paid in 
cramo Plc shares purchased on behalf of 
the board members. in addition, the board 
members will receive an attendance fee of 
EUr 1,000 for committee meetings.

Ernst & Young oy, a firm of authorised 
public accountants, was appointed as 
cramo Plc’s auditor, with Mr Erkka 
Talvinko as responsible auditor.

The annual General Meeting authorised 
the board of Directors to decide on the 
repurchase of the company’s own shares 
and/or their acceptance as pledge. The 
number of own shares to be acquired 
and/or accepted as pledge shall not 
exceed 3,000,000. own shares may 
only be acquired using the company’s 
unrestricted equity and at a price formed 
in public trading on the date of the 
repurchase or otherwise formed on the 
market. The board of Directors decides 
on how own shares will be acquired and/
or accepted as pledge. own shares can 
be acquired otherwise than in proportion 
to the shareholdings of the shareholders. 
own shares can be acquired, among 
other things, to limit the dilutive effects 
of share issues carried out in connection 
with possible acquisitions, to develop 
the company’s capital structure, to be 
transferred in connection with possible 
acquisitions or to be cancelled, provided 
that the acquisition is in the interests of 
the company and its shareholders. The 
authorisation is effective until the close 
of the next annual General Meeting 
of shareholders, or no later than 24 
september 2012.

The annual General Meeting authorised 
the board of Directors to decide on a share 
issue which includes the right to decide on 
the transfer of the company’s own shares, 
as well as on the granting of option rights 
and other special rights entitling to shares 
as referred to chapter 10 of the finnish 
limited liability companies act. The 
shares issued will be new shares in the 
company or shares owned by the company, 
and their maximum number is 12,000,000. 
shares or special rights entitling to shares 
may be issued in one or more tranches. 
The board of Directors was authorised to 
decide on all terms for the share issue and 
the granting of special rights entitling to 

boarD of DirEcTors’ rEPorT
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shares. The authorisation is effective for 
five years from the date of the decision of 
the annual General Meeting.

The annual General Meeting decided 
that stock options be issued to the key 
personnel of cramo Group. The maximum 
total number of stock options issued 
will be 1,000,000 and they will be issued 
gratuitously. The subscription price will be 
credited in its entirety to the reserve for 
invested unrestricted equity. 

chAnGes in shAreholdinGs
on 27 april 2011, cramo Plc received 
a notification according to which 
the combined share of the following 
companies and individuals of cramo Plc 
shares and voting rights had on 26 april 
2011 fallen below one-quarter: hartwall 
capital oy (15.67%), K. hartwall invest 
oy (6.59%) and Kusinkapital ab, Gustav 
Tallqvist, Pinewood invest oÜ, christel 
hartwall, Pallas capital oy, fyrklöver-
invest oy ab, antonia hartwall, Emma 
hartwall, axel hartwall, Gulle Therman, 
Josefina Tallqvist, victor hartwall, Peter 
Therman and Mats Therman. at the time of 
the announcement, the combined holding 
of the parties listed above was 24.14% of 
cramo Plc shares and votes.

corporAte GovernAnce  
And Auditors 
at the end of the financial year, cramo Plc’s 
board of Directors was composed of Mr stig 
Gustavson, Mr Eino halonen, Mr Jari lainio, 
Mr Esko Mäkelä, Mr victor hartwall, Mr J.T. 
bergqvist and Mrs helene biström. The audit 
committee members were Mr Eino halonen 
(chairman), Mr J.T. bergqvist and Mr Esko 
Mäkelä. The members of the nomination 
and compensation committee were Mr stig 
Gustavson (chairman), Mrs helene biström, 
Mrs Jari lainio and Mr victor hartwall. 

Until the annual General Meeting held 
on 24 March 2011, cramo Plc’s board of 
Directors consisted of Mr stig Gustavson, 
Mr Eino halonen, Mr Jari lainio, Mr Esko 
Mäkelä, Mr fredrik cappelen, Mr victor 
hartwall and Mr Thomas von hertzen.

on 31 December 2011, the board 
members, the President and cEo and 
his deputy held, either directly or through 
companies in which they exercise control, 
a total of 2,770,443 cramo Plc shares, 
which represents 6.69% of the company’s 
shares and votes, and a total of 318,000 
stock options.

The company’s auditors were Ernst & 
Young oy, authorised Public accountants, 
with Mr Erkka Talvinko, aPa, as 
responsible auditor.

cramo Plc observes the finnish 
corporate Governance code, which 
entered into force on 1 october 2010. 

cramo Plc’s insider guidelines are based 
on the finnish securities Markets act, 
rules and regulations issued by the 
financial supervision authority and the 
insider guidelines of the stock exchange. 
Euroclear finland ltd maintains an 
insider register of cramo Plc’s permanent 
insiders, whose holdings are also available 
on cramo Plc’s website.

The corporate Governance statement 
issued by cramo Plc’s board of Directors 
can be found on the cramo Plc website.

strAteGic tArGets 
cramo’s strategic targets for 2010–2013 
are to be the customers’ first choice as 
well as the “best in town” in the rental 
business. other strategic targets are to 
grow profitably faster than the market and 
to act as a driver of rental development. 

cramo Group’s financial targets for 
2010–2013 are as follows: sales growth 
above 10% per annum, EbiTa margin 
above 15% of sales, return on equity (roE) 
above 15% and maximum gearing at 100%. 

achieving the strategic targets requires 
the roll-out of a uniform cramo concept 
and harmonised key processes in all 
markets, the roll-out of the “best in town” 
strategy in existing and new geographical 
areas in Europe, and expanding the 
modular space business outside finland 
and sweden more strongly than before. 
success naturally also requires the input 
of competent and committed personnel. 

essentiAl risKs  
And uncertAinties
The main sources of uncertainty in 
cramo’s business are related to global 
economic developments, as well as 
the economic cycles and financial 
development of each country, fluctuations 
in interest and exchange rates, availability 
of financing, credit loss risks, the success 
of the Group’s acquisitions and information 
system projects, personnel-related risks, 
availability of competent management 
and recruitment-related risks, tax risks 
and other business risks. as a result of 
the economic downturn, the risks related 
to rental prices in different markets as 
well as credit loss risks have increased. 
in addition, the downturn increased the 
impairment risks to the balance sheet 
values resulting from acquisitions.

The recent debt crisis in certain 
euro zone countries has increased the 
uncertainty of near-term economic 
development in Europe, which has 
increased the levels of risks associated 
with cramo’s business operations. The 
economic uncertainty may be visible 
in cramo’s operations as weakening 
demand on one or several market areas, 

lower rental prices, higher finance costs 
or customers experiencing financial 
difficulties. 

cramo Group’s risk management 
is aimed at ensuring that the company 
identifies its business-related risks 
and assesses and monitors them on an 
ongoing basis. 

sTraTEGic risKs
The Group’s business is closely linked 
to general economic development and 
the construction and property markets. 
Unfavourable development in these 
markets may have a negative impact on 
the Group’s operations, profit and financial 
position. Efforts have been made to reduce 
the risks associated with demand and price 
development by dividing the business into 
different product and customer segments 
and by reducing dependence on a single 
geographic market.

The construction industry is 
characterised by seasonal fluctuations, 
and the Group’s sales and profit vary in 
different quarters in a manner typical 
of equipment rental operations. The 
modular space business is less dependent 
on economic cycles than the equipment 
rental business. The Group also strives to 
minimise the impact of economic trends 
through continuous optimisation of the 
rental equipment fleet’s utilisation rate.

Expansion and business development 
are partly based on acquisitions. The 
risks of acquisitions are in part related to 
knowledge of local markets, customers, 
key persons and suppliers. Expansion into 
new geographical areas means exposure 
to cultural, political, economic, regulatory 
and legal risks. The target is to take the 
risks into consideration through careful 
preparation and, in particular, by investing 
in the integration of acquisitions.

in addition, there are risks associated 
with the amount, allocation and timing 
of Group investments, and with other 
business decisions at the strategic level. 
The aim is to control the risks associated 
with investments by means of a careful 
approval process for investments, 
optimising fleet use on a group-wide basis, 
financing some investments through 
operative leasing, and utilising external 
and internal indicators to forecast future 
market development. indicators that 
illustrate the future are monitored by 
each country company on a monthly basis. 
strategy follow-up includes an actively 
followed set of forward-looking indicators 
to give an early indication of any changes in 
the market environment or the operations 
of the company.
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oPEraTivE risKs
The Group’s most significant operative 
risks include risks associated with the 
business and the staff, contract risks, 
occupational safety risks, iT-related 
risks, risks associated with compliance 
with general laws and regulations, and 
risks related to the Group’s administrative 
principles. in order to control the most 
significant strategic and operative risks, 
the Group and its subsidiaries have their 
own contingency plans.

EconoMic anD financinG risKs
The objective of economic and financing 
risk management is to safeguard the 
company’s high-quality external and 
internal financial reporting and the 
availability of Group financing, as well 
as to minimise the harmful impacts that 
changes in the operating environment 
and financial markets have on the Group’s 
profit and financial position.

The Group’s primary financing risks 
are interest risk on cash flow, currency 
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. in 
order to manage the interest risk, Group 
borrowing and investments have been 
dispersed to fixed and variable interest 
instruments. Derivative contracts, such 
as interest rate swaps, are also used to 
manage the interest risk. The exchange 
rate risk mainly comprises net investments 
in foreign units and currency-denominated 
loans, with currency forwards as protection 
instruments. The Group’s financing 
policy specifies the responsibilities and 
procedures of the financing function 
as well as the targets and principles of 
protection activities. Group financing is 
handled in a centralised manner, primarily 
through internal Group loans.

TransacTion risKs
The Group’s transaction risks include 
risks associated with uninterrupted 
equipment rental and operations, which 
can be managed by means of insurance. 
comprehensive insurance coverage is 
an essential part of cramo Group’s risk 
management.

EnvironMEnTal risKs
Environmental responsibility is an 
important part of cramo’s business 
model. The Group seeks to reduce the 
environmental load of construction by 
maintaining high utilisation rates for 
its equipment. cramo’s environmental 
responsibility involves ensuring that 
its rental equipment and modular 
space solutions are of high quality and 
carefully serviced and overhauled. 
The environmental load caused by 
equipment manufacture and use is taken 

into consideration before purchasing. 
The Group strives to minimise the 
environmental load by delivering its 
equipment fully tested and without 
unnecessary packaging. long equipment 
service life is maintained through 
careful maintenance. all material from 
equipment that is removed from use 
is recycled as effectively as possible. 
regional profit centres are responsible for 
the appropriate storage and reprocessing 
of chemicals and hazardous waste. 
cramo’s processes in sweden, Denmark 
and norway are based on the iso 14001 
environmental certificate and the iso 9001 
quality system certificate. in finland, the 
Group’s quality management system 
is based on the iso 9001:2000 quality 
management certificate granted by Det 
norske veritas.

outlooK for 2012 
The general economic uncertainty is 
still at a high level in Europe. so far the 
uncertainty has not had any significant 
effects on cramo’s business.

Euroconstruct, the construction market 
analyst, predicted in its november-
December market forecast a two per 
cent decline for construction activity in 
finland in 2012. however, vTT Technical 
research centre of finland predicts a 
growth rate of four per cent for equipment 
rental in finland. for construction in 
sweden, norway, Denmark and Germany, 
Euroconstruct forecasts growth ranging 
between two and six per cent in 2012. 
consequently, also equipment rental is 
expected to grow. in Eastern Europe, the 
outlook is positive, particularly in russia, 
Poland and Estonia.

cramo is maintaining contingency 
plans for the event of a weaker market in 
the second half of 2012.

cramo believes that in spite of the 
general economic uncertainty, rental 
services continue to be a growth industry. 
arrangements whereby companies 
outsource their equipment fleet to a 
rental service company are attractive to 
many companies, especially in periods of 
uncertainty.

The board of Directors expect the 
Group’s sales will grow in 2012 and the 
EbiTa margin will improve compared with 
2011. Gearing will decrease due to positive 
cash flow.

profit distribution policy And 
boArd of directors’ proposAl 
for profit distribution
cramo Plc’s profit distribution goal is to 
distribute around one-third of the Group’s 
annual profit in terms of share buybacks 
and/or dividends. The aim is to maintain a 

steadily improving flow of dividends, while 
taking into account the Group’s investment 
requirements for growth. 

cramo Plc’s distributable profits are 
EUr 160,216,615.40, of which the profit for 
the period is EUr 12,710,949.54.

The board of Directors proposes to the 
annual General Meeting to be held on 23 
March 2012 that the distributable profits 
be used as follows: a dividend of EUr 0.30 
per share and the rest carried forward in 
equity.

siGnificAnt events After the 
bAlAnce sheet dAte
no significant events have occurred after 
the balance sheet date.
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Key fiGures And rAtios

Key fiGures on finAnciAl performAnce
ifrs
2011 

ifrs
2010

ifrs
2009

ifrs
2008

ifrs
2007

sales MEUr 679.9 492.1 446.7 579.8 496.4
change -% % +38.2 +10.2 -23.0 +16.8 +23.4

operating profit/loss MEUr 54.3 27.4 -11.5 91.8 91.8
% of sales % 8.0 5.6 -2.6 15.8 18.5

Profit/loss before taxes MEUr 32.2 4.8 -34.2 63.7 75.8
% of sales % 4.7 1.0 -7.7 11.0 15.3

Profit/loss for the year MEUr 23.5 -2.2 -39.9 48.7 57.5
% of sales % 3.5 -0.4 -8.9 8.4 11.6

return on equity % 5.4 -0.6 -12.1 14.9 18.4
return on investment % 6.6 3.7 -1.2 12.0 13.7
Equity ratio % 44.4 38.7 37.4 32.3 37.3
Gross capital expenditure MEUr 147.1 53.5 31.5 201.2 175.5

% of sales % 21.6 10.9 7.0 34.7 35.4
Gross capital expenditure (including 
acquisitions) MEUr 262.5 86.2 31.9

% of sales % 38.6 17.5 7.1
Equity MEUr 494.8 369.4 338.4 319.5 333.7
net interest-bearing liabilities MEUr 389.4 382.0 383.7 477.1 365.0
Gearing % 78.7 103.4 113.4 149.3 109.4
average number of personnel no. 2,580 2,083 2,356 2,688 2,070

per-shAre rAtios

Earnings per share2 EUr 0.60 -0.06 -1.18 1.43 1.70
Earnings per share diluted1,2 EUr 0.60 -0.06 -1.16 1.43 1.69
shareholders' equity per share2 EUr 10.83 9.50 8.58 9.41 9.83
Dividend per earnings % 49.9* neg. 0.0 12.6 34.6
Dividend per share2 EUr 0.30* 0.09 0.00 0.18 0.59
Trading volume of shares2 no. 30,446,719 18,051,757 42,673,720 43,085,115 50,614,901

% of total number % 74 53 126 127 149
issue-adjusted average number of shares2 no. 39,098,751 33,596,870 33,794,653 33,947,065 33,864,967
issue-adjusted average number of shares at 
year end2 no. 41,122,798 33,596,870 33,596,870 33,947,065 33,947,065
P/E ratio 13.2 neg. neg. 2.9 9.2
Effective dividend yield % 3.8* 0.5 0.0 4.3 3.8
Market capitalisation of share capital MEUr 327.8 585.0 367.6 141.0 531.0
average price2 EUr 11.89 12.84 6.97 9.90 24.08
closing price at year end2 EUr 7.91 17.23 10.83 4.15 15.64
lowest quotation2 EUr 5.68 9.97 4.32 3.84 15.13
highest quotation2 EUr 20.23 17.56 11.80 16.71 35.04

1) adjusted by the dilution effect of shares entitled by warrants
2) Previous years have been adjusted retrospectively for the bonus element of the rights issue completed in april 2011, see note 1
*) The Board proposes to the annual General meeting a dividend of EUr 0.30 
     
DisclaiMEr      
The report includes certain forward-looking statements based on management’s expectations at the time they are made. Therefore, they involve risks and 
uncertainties and are subject to change due to changes in general economic and industry conditions.
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consolidAted bAlAnce sheet
eur1,000 note 31 dec 2011 31 dec 2010

Assets
non-current assets
Tangible assets 4 622,214 526,326
intangible assets 3 288,567 249,999
Deferred tax assets 15 15,312 14,301
available-for-sale financial assets 7 350 347
shares in joint ventures 29 48
Derivative financial instruments 14 1,053
Trade and other receivables 9 3,553 3,613

total non-current assets 930,043 795,638

current assets
inventories 10 18,310 13,803
Trade and other receivables 9 142,954 125,333
income tax receivables 5,563 5,114
Derivative financial instruments 14 730 825
cash and cash equivalents 11 22,532 22,313

total current assets 190,089 167,388

assets available for sale 5 6,680 2,671

totAl Assets 1,126,812 965,697

eQuity And liAbilities
equity
share capital 12 24,835 24,835
share issue 12 17 1,871
other reserves 12 300,723 186,926
fair value reserve 12 119 117
hedging fund 12 -5,168 -1,197
Translation differences 12 1,041 3,426
retained earnings 12 123,604 103,309

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company 445,172 319,287
non-controlling interest 12 503
hybrid capital 12 49,630 49,630

total equity 494,802 369,420

non-current liabilities 
interest-bearing liabilities 13 310,511 346,776
Derivative financial instruments 14 6,775 2,543
Deferred tax liabilities 15 85,399 78,348
Pension obligations 32 1,448
other non-current liabilities 16 3,369 4,207

total non-current liabilities 407,502 431,875

current liabilities
interest-bearing liabilities 13 101,422 57,569
Derivative financial instruments 14 1,838 1,853
Trade and other payables 17 116,485 100,984
income tax liabilities 4,763 3,997

total current liabilities 224,508 164,403

total liabilities 632,010 596,277

totAl eQuity And liAbilities 1,126,812 965,697
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consolidAted income stAtement
eur 1,000 note 1 Jan–31 dec 2011 1 Jan–31 dec 2010

revenue 679,892 492,103

other operating income 19 9,042 15,110

change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 20 -425 1,015
Production for own use 20 10,302 4,694
Materials and services 20 -248,393 -183,479

Employee benefit expenses 21 -135,751 -101,939
Depreciation and impairment on tangible assets and assets available for sale 22 -97,624 -83,145
amortisation and impairment on intangible assets resulting from acquisitions 22 -16,751 -7,089
other operating expenses 23 -145,971 -109,880

operating profit 54,320 27,389

financial income 24 1,215 733
financial expenses 24 -23,384 -23,318

Total financial income and expenses -22,169 -22,586

income from joint ventures 29 22

profit before tax 32,173 4,804

income taxes 25 -8,668 -7,007

profit/loss for the year 23,505 -2,203

attributable to 
Equity holders of the parent company 23,505 -2,142
non-controlling interest -61

23,505 -2,203
earnings per share for profit attributable  
to the equity holders of the parent company 
basic, EUr 27 0.60 -0.06
Diluted, EUr 27 0.60 -0.06

consolidAted comprehensive income
Profit/loss for the year 23,505 -2,203
other comprehensive income

change in hedge fund, net of tax -3,971 1,099
change in exchange rate differences, net of tax 301 33,956

Total other comprehensive income -3,670 35,055

total comprehensive income 19,835 32,852

attributable to
Equity holders of the parent company 19,835 32,913
non-controlling interest -61

19,835 32,852

consoliDaTED incoME sTaTEMEnT
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chAnGes in consolidAted 
stAtement of eQuity

Attributable to equity holders of the parent company

non-
controlling 

interesteur 1,000
share 

capital
share 
issue

other 
reserve

fair 
value 

reserve
hedging 

fund

Trans-
lation 

difference

invested 
unre-

stricted 
equity 

retained 
earnings Total

hybrid 
capital

Total 
equity

At 1 Jan 2010 24,835 186,910 117 -2,296 -12,431 91,117 288,252 503 49,630 338,385
Translation 
difference 15,857 20,011 35,868 35,868
Tax on translation 
difference* -1,912 -1,912 -1,912
hedging fund 1,099 1,099 1,099
loss for the year -2,203 -2,203 -2,203

comprehensive 
income 1,099 15,857 15,896 32,852 32,852
Exercise of share 
options 1,871 1,871 1,871
share-based 
payments 2,312 2,312 2,312
hybrid capital -6,000 -6,000 -6,000
changes within 
equity 16 -16
At 31 dec 2010 24,835 1,871 186,926 117 -1,197 3,426 103,309 319,287 503 49,630 369,420

At 1 Jan 2011 24,835 1,871 186,926 117 -1,197 3,426 103,309 319,287 503 49,630 369,420
Translation 
difference -2,385 2,662 277 277
Tax on translation 
difference* 23 23 23
hedging fund -3,971 -3,971 -3,971
Profit for the year 23,505 23,505 23,505
comprehensive 
income -3,971 -2,385 26,190 19,834 19,834
Exercise of share 
options -1,854 9,133 7,279 7,279
rights issue 97,398 97,398 97,398
Direct share issue** 7,266 7,266 7,266
Dividend distribution -3,163 -3,163 -3,163
share-based 
payments 2,843 2,843 2,843
non-controlling 
interest 427 427 -503 -76
hybrid capital -6,000 -6,000 -6,000
changes within 
equity 2 -2
At 31 dec 2011 24,835 17 186,926 119 -5,168 1,041 113,797 123,604 445,172 49,630 494,802

*) Unrecognised tax asset on equity hedge value change.
**) Issue of shares related to business combinations.
Further information about share capital and equity funds is given in note 12.
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consolidAted  
cAsh floW stAtement
eur 1,000 note 1 Jan–31 dec 2011 1 Jan–31 dec 2010

cash flow from operating activities
Profit before tax 32,173 4,804
non-cash adjustments 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges 22 114,375 90,234
income from joint ventures 29 -22
other non cash corrections 26 -584 -9,558
finance cost (net) 24 22,169 22,586

operating profit before changes in working capital 168,111 108,066

change in working capital
change in inventories -2,053 -1,313
change in trade and other receivables 3,101 -14,535
change in trade and other payables 1,891 6,789

cash generated from operations 171,050 99,007

interest paid -20,546 -19,427
interest received 942 670
other financial items -1,607 -2,239
income taxes paid -11,343 -9,678

net cash flow from operating activities 138,496 68,333

cash flow from investing activities
investments in tangible and intangible assets -149,485 -50,354
sale of tangible and intangible assets 19,307 35,634
acquisition of subsidiaries and business operations, net of cash aquired -63,626 -26,220

net cash flow from investing activities -193,804 -40,940

cash flow from financing activities
change in interest-bearing receivables 244 -610
change in finance lease liabilities -32,944 -35,309
Proceeds from interest-bearing liabilities 13,607 24,278
repayments of interest-bearing liabilities -20,571 -8,326
hybrid capital -6,000 -6,000
Proceeds from share options exercised 7,279 1,871
Proceeds from share issue 97,397
non-controlling interest -76
Dividends paid 12 -3,163

net cash flow from financing activities 55,773 -24,095

change in cash and cash equivalents 465 3,298
cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 22,313 18,520
Translation differences -246 495

cash and cash equivalents at year end 11 22,532 22,313
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notes to the consolidAted 
finAnciAl stAtements
1.  AccountinG policies relAtinG 

to the consolidAted 
finAnciAl stAtements

compAny profile
cramo is a service company specialising in 
equipment rental services, as well as the 
rental and sale of modular space. cramo 
operates in fifteen countries in the nordic 
and in central and Eastern Europe with 
409 depots and 2.580 employees.

The Group‘s parent company, cramo 
Plc, is a finnish public limited company, 
established in accordance with finnish 
legislation, and its business iD is 0196435-4.  
The address of cramo Plc’s registered 
office is Kalliosolantie 2, 01740 vantaa.  
cramo Plc has its listing on the main list 
of nasDaQ oMX helsinki ltd.

a copy of the consolidated financial 
statements is available on the internet 
at www.cramo.com or can be obtained at 
the parent company’s head office, address 
Kalliosolantie 2, 01740 vantaa.

in its meeting on 13 february 2012, 
the board of Directors approved these 
consolidated financial statements for 
issue. according to the finnish companies 
act, the shareholders have the opportunity 
to approve or reject the financial 
statements at the annual General Meeting 
held after their publication. furthermore, 
the annual General Meeting can decide on 
modifications to be made to the financial 
statements.

bAsis of prepArAtion
The consolidated financial statements of 
cramo have been prepared in accordance 
with international financial reporting 
standards (ifrs), including international 
accounting standards (ias) and the sic 
and ifric interpretations valid on 31 
December 2011. in the finnish accounting 
act and ordinances based on the provisions 
of the act, ifrs refer to the standards 
and their interpretations adopted in 
accordance with the procedures laid down 
in regulation (Ec) no.1606/2002 of the 
European Parliament and of the council. 
The notes of the consolidated financial 
statements also conform to the demands 
of the finnish accounting and corporate 
legislation which supplement the ifrs.

The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention, except the available-for-sale 

financial assets, which have been 
recognised at fair value and share-based 
payments measured at fair value at the 
grant date (granted option rights). The 
information in the financial statements is 
presented in thousands of euros.

There are no ifrss or ifric 
interpretations that are effective for the first 
time for the financial year beginning on or 
after 1 January 2011 that would be expected 
to have a material impact on the Group.

 The preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with ifrss requires the 
performance of certain assessments by 
the Group management and data about 
the judgements they have made. The data 
about such judgements the management 
have used in applying the Group’s 
accounting principles for the preparation of 
financial statements and which affect the 
consolidated financial statements most 
significantly is presented in accounting 
Principles under the section “accounting 
principles requiring the management’s 
judgement and the principal uncertainties 
of estimates.”

compArAtive fiGures
basic and diluted earnings per share (and 
any other share related key ratio) have 
been adjusted retrospectively using the 
adjustment factor 1.11 as a consequence 
of that cramo’s right issue in 2011 includes 
a bonus element. The adjustment factor 
has been calculated according to ias 33. 
see note 27 “Earnings per share” for more 
information.

consolidAtion principles

sUbsiDiariEs
The consolidated financial statements 
include the parent company, cramo Plc, 
and those subsidiaries over which the 
Group has control. The Group has control 
of an entity when it has an interest of 
more than one half of the voting rights or 
otherwise exerts control. The existence 
of potential voting rights has also been 
taken into consideration in estimating the 
conditions of control when the instruments 
entitling an entity to potential voting rights 
are viable at the time of the consideration. 
control refers to the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of a 
business so as to obtain benefits from 
its activities. acquired subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the date on which 

control is transferred to the Group, and 
are no longer consolidated from the date 
that control ceases. The subsidiaries are 
listed in note 37.

The Group’s mutual holding of shares 
is eliminated by the purchase method. The 
acquisition cost is based on the fair value 
of the assets acquired, equity instruments 
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed 
at the date of exchange, plus costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition. The 
separately identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities of the acquisition 
are estimated at their fair value at the 
acquisition date, without deducting non-
controlling interest. The excess of the 
costs of acquisition over the fair value of 
the company’s share of the identifiable net 
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. if 
the cost of acquisition is less than the fair 
value of the Group’s share of the net assets 
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference 
is recognised directly in the income 
statement.

all of the Group’s intercompany 
transactions, receivables, liabilities and 
unrealised gains, as well as its internal 
profit distribution are eliminated; unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless cost 
cannot be recovered. The distribution of 
the financial year’s profit or losses to the 
owners of the parent company and the 
non-controlling interest is presented in 
a separate income statement, and the 
distribution of the comprehensive income 
to the owners of the parent company and 
the non-controlling interest is presented 
with the statement of comprehensive 
income. The non-controlling interest’s 
share of capital and reserves is presented 
in the balance sheet as a separate item 
as part of the shareholders’ equity. The 
non-controlling interest’s share of the 
accumulated losses is limited to the amount 
of non-controlling investment.

associaTEs anD JoinT vEnTUrEs
The consolidated financial statements 
include those entities in which the Group 
holds 20–50% of the voting power and has 
a participat ing interest of at least 20% or 
in which the Group has considerable influ-
ence. investments in associated compa-
nies are accounted for in the consolidated 
financial statements under the equity 
method. Group’s share of the profit or 
loss of an associated company is shown 
in the consolidated statement of income 
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as a separate item, and its investments 
in the associated companies upon the 
date of acquisition, adjusted for changes 
in the associated companies’ equity after 
the date of acquisition, are shown in 
the con solidated statement of financial 
position under “shares in joint ventures”. 
The share of associated companies net 
income includes also the revaluations of 
the previously held interest in connec tion 
with step acquisitions.

sPEcial PUrPosE EnTiTY
in accordance with sic 12, cramo 
Management oy, which was established 
for the share holding programme of 
the members of the Group’s Executive 
committee, has been consolidated until 31 
January 2011. on 15 february 2011 cramo 
Plc acquired all the shares in cramo 
Management oy from cramo Executive 
committee members through a share 
swap. in this arrangement cramo Plc 
received 316,288 own cramo Plc shares 
through cramo Management oy as well as 
the company’s loan receivable from cramo 
Management oy. for more information 
is included in the section on accounting 
policies called share-based payment.

foreiGn currency trAnslAtion
items concerning the performance and 
financial position of the Group’s units 
are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which 
the entities operate (“the functional 
currency”). The consolidated financial 
information is presented in euros, which is 
the functional and presentation currency 
of the parent company.

forEiGn cUrrEncY 
TransacTions
foreign currency transactions are recorded 
in the functional currency using the rate 
of exchange prevailing at the transaction 
date. in practice, it is often necessary 
to use a rate that is close to the rate of 
the transaction date. foreign currency 
monetary items are translated into the 
functional currency using the rates of the 
last trading day of the reporting period. 
foreign currency non-monetary items, 
which have been recognised at fair value, 
are translated into the functional currency 
using the rate of fair value measurement 
date. otherwise, non-monetary items are 
translated using the rate of the transaction 
date. Gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions, and from 
the translation of monetary assets and 
liabilities are reported through profit and 
loss. The foreign exchange gains and losses 
from operating activities are included 
in the respective items above operating 

profit. The currency exchange gains and 
losses are included in the finance income 
and financing costs except for exchange 
differences for those loans, which are set 
as hedges for the net investments made 
in foreign entities and which are effective 
as such. These exchange differences are 
stated in other items of the comprehensive 
income and the accumulated exchange 
differences are presented as a separate 
item in equity until the foreign entity is 
partially disposed of or sold.

TranslaTinG ThE cUrrEncY  
of ThE financial sTaTEMEnTs  
of forEiGn EnTiTiEs 
income statements of foreign entities 
are translated into euros at the weighted 
average exchange rates for the year, while 
balance sheets are translated using the 
exchange rates of the last trading day 
of the reporting period. The translation 
of the profit (loss) for the period using 
different rates in the income statement 
and the balance sheet causes a translation 
difference in the balance sheet which is 
recognised in equity and whose adjustment 
is recognised in other items of the 
comprehensive income. The translation 
differences arising from the elimination of 
the acquisition cost of foreign subsidiaries 
and the translation of the accumulated 
equity items after the acquisition as well 
as the change in hedging result of net 
investments made in them are recognised 
in other items of the comprehensive 
income. when a subsidiary is partially 
or completely sold, the accumulated 
translation differences are recognised as 
part of capital gain or loss. The translation 
differences generated before 1 January 
2004, which is when the Group transferred 
to ifrss, have been recognised in retained 
earnings in accordance with the exemption 
rule allowed by ifrs 1 at the time the 
Group transferred to these standards, 
and they will not later be recognised 
through profit and loss in connection with 
the sale of a subsidiary. since the date of 
this transfer, the translation differences 
created while preparing the consolidated 
financial statements have been presented 
in equity as a separate item.

since 1 January 2004, the fair value 
adjustments and goodwill arising from the 
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity in 
the functional currency of the entity. They 
are translated into euros at the rate of the 
last trading day of the reporting period. 
The goodwill and fair value adjustments 
which have occurred before 1 January 
2004 are stated in euros.

intAnGible Assets

GooDwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the 
cost of an acquisition at the date of the 
transaction over the net fair value of the 
Group’s share of the separately identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
of the subsidiary acquired after 1 January 
2004. in addition, the acquisition cost 
includes other costs caused directly by the 
acquisition, such as expert remuneration 
where acquisition has taken place before 
1.1.2010. The goodwill arising from the 
acquisitions before 2004 represents 
the book value of the previous financial 
reporting framework, which has been 
used as a deemed cost in accordance 
with ifrss. Goodwill is not amortised but 
tested annually for impairment. for this 
purpose, goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units. Goodwill is carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses.

cUsToMEr rElaTionshiPs  
anD DEPoT nETworK
initial measurement of customer 
relationships has been prepared by 
applying the Multi-period Excess Earnings 
Method. The depot network has been 
measured based on estimated benefit 
gained, compared to the earnings of a 
depot in the normal course of business 
with the earnings of a start-up depot. 

branD anD co-branD
Group’s main brand is “cramo”, which 
useful life has been defined indefinite 
because there is no foreseeable limit to 
the period over which the asset is expected 
to generate cash flows. The cramo brand 
is not amortised but tested annually for 
impairment. The cramo brand has been 
considered a corporate-level asset and for 
testing purposes the brand is reallocated 
to cash generating units annually based on 
sales. The reallocation of assets to units is 
presented in note 6. The brand is carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses.

in acquisitions brand related to acquired 
entity transfers to cramo Group. The fair 
value of co-brand has been determined by 
applying the relief-from-royalty method 
regardless of whether the Group intends 
to use the brand. The- co-brand is of a 
temporary nature and they are amortised 
on a straight-line basis over the economic 
useful lives of 1–10 years. The co-brand 
has bigger importance right after the 
acquisition. The co-brand is allocated to 
same segment as the acquired entity.

rEsEarch anD DEvEloPMEnT
research expenditure is recognised as 
an expense as incurred. Development 
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costs are capitalised when an entity 
can demonstrate the technological and 
commercial feasibility of a product and 
the cost can be measured reliably. other 
development expenditures are recognised 
as expenses. 

currently the development work the 
entity is performing is of such a nature 
that it does not fulfil the criteria of 
capitalisation and thus the development 
costs are recognised as expense as 
incurred.

oThEr inTanGiblE assETs
intangible assets are recorded in the 
balance sheet initially at cost if the cost can 
be reliably measured and if it is probable 
that the anticipated future economic 
benefit resulting from the asset will benefit 
the Group. Those intangible assets with a 
finite useful life are amortised through 
profit and loss on a straight-line basis over 
their expected lives. intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives are not amortised 
but tested annually for impairment.

Estimated useful lives are:
customer relationships 3–10 years
Depot network 20 years
co-brands 1–10 years
other intangible assets 2–5 years

property, plAnt  
And eQuipment
all property, plant and equipment 
are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and less any impairment 
losses. This cost includes expenditure that 
is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the items. subsequent costs are 
included in the asset’s carrying amount 
or recognised as a separate asset when 
it is probable that the future economic 
benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the Group, and the cost can be 
measured reliably. The expenditure on 
repairs and maintenance of property, plant 
and equipment are recognised as expense 
when incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated economic useful lives as 
follows:
buildings and structures 15–50 years
for rental:  
• Modular space 10–15 years
• Machinery and equipments 3–10 years
Machinery and 
equipment for services 6–10 years
Machinery and 
equipments for own use 3–6 years
other tangible assets 3–10 years

The residual value and useful life of 
the assets are reviewed at least at the end 

of each financial year and, if necessary, 
adjusted to reflect any changes in 
expectations of economic value. 

The depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment ceases when the asset is 
classified as held for sale in accordance 
with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Gains or losses on decommissioning 
and disposal are recognised through profit 
and loss.

where the carrying amount of an asset 
is greater than its estimated recoverable 
amount, it is written down immediately to 
its recoverable amount. Gains and losses 
on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the carrying amount, and 
are included in the operating profit.

Government GrAnts
Grants from the government are 
recognised as reductions of the carrying 
amount of property, plant and equipment 
where there is a reasonable assurance that 
the grant will be received and the Group will 
comply with all inherent conditions. Grants 
are recognised in the income statement 
in the form of smaller depreciation over 
the economic life of the related asset. 
research and development grants and 
grants received as reimbursement for 
actual costs are charged to profit during 
the period in which the right to collect the 
grant emerge. Grants such as these are 
presented in other operating income.

impAirment of tAnGible And 
intAnGible Assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet 
date whether there are indications that 
the carrying amount of an asset may not 
be recoverable. if such indications exist, 
the recoverable amount of the asset in 
question will be measured. in addition, 
the recoverable amount will be estimated 
annually from the following assets whether 
there are indications of impairment or not: 
goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives and in-process intangible 
assets. for the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are examined at the 
level of cash-generating units, i.e. at the 
lowest level that is mainly independent 
of other units and for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows, largely 
independent from those of corresponding 
units.

The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use. The value in use is 
determined by reference to discounted 
future cash flows expected to be generated 
by the asset. The discount rate used is pre-
tax and reflects the time value of money 
and asset specific risks.

impairment loss is recognised when 
the carrying amount of the asset is 
greater than its recoverable amount. 
impairment loss is charged directly to the 
income statement. if a cash-generating 
unit is subject to an impairment loss, it 
is allocated first to decrease the goodwill 
and subsequently, to decrease the 
other assets of the unit. at recognition 
of the impairment loss, the useful life 
of the assets amortised is reassessed. 
impairment loss from other assets than 
goodwill is reversed in the case that a 
change has occurred in the estimates used 
in measuring the recoverable amount of 
the asset. The increased carrying amount 
must not, however, exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised 
in prior years. Previously recognised 
impairment loss of goodwill is not reversed 
in any circumstance. 

rentAl contrActs

lEssEE
The rental agreements concerning 
property, plant and equipment where 
the Group carries a significant share 
of the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership are classified as financial 
leasing contracts. assets acquired 
through financial leasing are capitalised 
at the lease’s commencement at the 
lower of the fair value of the leased asset 
and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. The property, plant 
and equipment acquired under finance 
leases are depreciated over the economic 
useful life of the asset or the lease term, 
if there is uncertainty about acquisition of 
ownership at the end of the rental period. 
The payable leasing rates are divided into 
the interest element of the finance cost 
and the decrease in liabilities over the 
lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period. 
rental liabilities are included in financial 
liabilities. 

leases where the risks and rewards 
of ownership are retained by the lessor 
are treated as operating leases. other 
operating lease payments are treated 
as rentals and charged to the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

lEssor
The Group leased assets whose risks and 
rewards of ownership have essentially 
been transferred to the lessee are 
treated as financial leasing contracts and 
recognised as receivables in the balance 
sheet. receivables are recognised at their 

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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present value. other assets not leased 
under financial leasing contracts are 
included in property, plant and equipment 
in the balance sheet. They are depreciated 
over their useful lives in the same way 
as corresponding property, plant and 
equipment in the company’s own use are.

rental revenue recognition is presented 
in accounting Principles under the section 
“Principles of revenue recognition”.

finAnciAl Assets  
And liAbilities

financial assETs
The company classifies its financial assets 
in the following categories; a) financial 
assets at fair value through profit and loss, 
b) loans and receivables, and c) available-
for-sale investments. The classification 
of assets is performed upon the initial 
recognition and determined in line with the 
aim of the asset, and re-evaluation is done 
on a regular basis. assets with maturities 
under 12 months are included in balance 
sheet under current assets, and those 
with maturities over 12 months under non-
current assets.
a)   Financial assets at fair value through 

profit and loss
financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are financial assets held 
for trading. a financial asset is classified 
in this category if acquired principally 
for the purpose of selling in the short 
term. Derivatives are classified as held 
for trading unless hedge accounting 
is applied. assets in this category are 
classified as current assets.

b)  Loans and receivables
loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. They 
are included in current assets, except 
for maturities greater than 12 months 
after the balance sheet date. These are 
classified as non-current assets. loans 
and receivables are classified as trade 
and other receivables in the balance 
sheet in note 9.

c)   Available-for-sale financial assets
available-for-sale financial assets 
are non-derivatives that are either 
designated in this category or not 
classified in any of the other categories. 
They are included in non-current assets 
unless management has the express 
intention of holding the investment for 
less than 12 months from the balance 
sheet date, in which case they are 
included in current assets.

Purchases and sales of financial assets 
are recognised on the trade date, which is 

the date that the Group commits to purchase 
or sell the asset. investments are initially 
recognised at fair value plus transaction 
costs for all financial assets not carried at 
fair value through profit and loss.

financial assets carried at fair value 
through profit and loss, are initially 
recognised at fair value, and transaction 
costs are expensed in the income 
statement. available-for-sale financial 
assets and financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss are subsequently 
carried at fair value. loans and receivables 
are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

all unrealised gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of available-
for-sale securities are recognised in 
equity. when securities classified as 
available-for-sale are sold or impaired, 
the accumulated fair value adjustments 
recorded in equity are included in the 
income statement in financial income and 
expenses.

financial assets are derecognised 
when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the investment have expired or have 
been transferred, and the Group has 
substantially transferred all risks and 
rewards of ownership.

iMPairMEnT of financial assETs
The book values of assets are reviewed 
regularly, at least annually, in order 
to assess whether an asset has been 
impaired. The Group assesses at each 
balance sheet date whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired. 
in assessing impairment both external 
and internal sources, of information are 
considered. External sources include a 
significant decline in market value that 
is not result of the passage of the time 
or a normal use of the assets or increase 
in interest rates. internal sources of 
information include evidence of the 
obsolescence of, or damage to, an asset.

in the case of equity securities 
classified as available for sale, a significant 
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
security below its cost is considered as an 
indicator that the securities are impaired. 
if any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative 
loss – measured as the difference between 
the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that 
financial asset previously recognised in 
profit or loss – is removed from equity 
and recognised in the income statement. 
impairment losses recognised in the 
income statement on equity instruments 
are not reversed through the income 
statement.

financial liabiliTiEs
financial liabilities are initially recognised 
at fair value, and transaction costs are 
included in the initial carrying amount. 
subsequently, all financial liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. financial 
liabilities are included in both current and 
non-current liabilities. Unless the Group 
has a non-contingent right to postpone the 
amortisation of a liability by a minimum of 
12 months from the balance sheet date, it 
is classified as current.

borrowing costs are recognised in 
the accounting period during which they 
have incurred. credit fees related to 
loan commitments are recognised as 
transaction costs to the extent that it is 
probable that the total loan commitment or 
a part of it will be raised. This means that 
the fee is recognised in the balance sheet 
until the loan is raised. in connection with 
the drawdown, the credit fee related to 
loan commitments is recognised as part of 
the transaction costs. To the extent that it 
is probable that the loan commitment will 
not be raised, the credit fee is recognised 
as prepaid expense in respect of the 
liquidity related services and is accrued 
for period of the loan commitment.

for the measurement policies of the 
fair values of all financial assets and 
liabilities, refer to note 8 “fair values of 
financial assets and liabilities”.

derivAtive finAnciAl 
instruments And  
hedGinG Activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair 
value on the date a derivative contract is 
entered into, and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value. The method 
of recognising the resulting gain or loss 
depends on whether the derivative is 
designated as a hedging instrument, and 
if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 
The Group designates certain derivatives 
as either:
a)  hedges of the fair value of recognised 

liabilities (fair value hedge);
b)  hedges of a particular risk associated 

with a recognised liability or a highly 
probable forecast transaction (cash flow 
hedge); or

c)  hedges of a net investment in a foreign 
operation (net investment hedge).

The Group documents, at the inception 
of the transaction, the relationship 
between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, as well as its risk management 
objectives and strategy for undertaking 
various hedging transactions. The Group 
also documents its assessment, both at 
hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, 
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of whether the derivatives that are used in 
hedging transactions are highly effective 
in offsetting changes in fair values or cash 
flows of hedged items. 

The effective portion of changes in 
the fair value of derivatives that are 
designated and qualify as cash flow 
hedges are recognised in equity. The gain 
or loss relating to the ineffective portion 
is recognised immediately in the income 
statement and classified in finance cost.

amounts accumulated in equity are 
recognised in the income statement in 
the periods when the hedged item affects 
profit or loss. The gain or loss relating to 
the effective portion of an interest rate 
swap hedging variable rate borrowings is 
recognised in the income statement within 
finance costs. when a hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, or when a hedge no 
longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss 
existing in equity at that time remains in 
equity and is recognised when the forecast 
transaction is ultimately recognised in 
the income statement. when a forecast 
transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that 
was reported in equity is immediately 
transferred to the income statement 
within finance cost.

Derivatives, for which hedge accounting 
is not applied are measured at fair value 
through profit and loss. changes in the 
fair value of these derivative instruments 
are recognised immediately in the income 
statement, and classified in finance cost.

The Group had loans in swedish crone 
which loans are considered as a hedge 
to net investment in a foreign operation 
on the balance sheet date. hedges of 
net investments in foreign operations 
are treated in a manner similar to that 
of cash flow hedges. any gain or loss on 
the hedging instrument relating to the 
effective portion of the hedge is recognised 
in translation differences in equity. The 
gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognised immediately in 
the income statement and classified in 
net finance expenses. Gains and losses 
accumulated in equity are included in 
the income statement when the foreign 
operation is partially disposed of or sold.

The fair values of various derivative 
instruments used for hedging purposes 
are disclosed in note 14. Movements on 
the hedging reserve in shareholders’ 
equity are shown in note 12. The full fair 
value of a hedging derivative is classified 
as a non-current asset or liability when 
the remaining hedged item is more than 12 
months; it is classified as a current asset 
or liability when the remaining maturity of 
the hedged item is less than 12 months. 

Derivatives, for which hedge accounting 
is not applied, are classified as a current 
asset or liability.

inventories
inventories are measured at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. cost is 
determined using the first-in, first-out 
(fifo) method. The cost of finished goods 
and work in progress comprises raw 
materials, direct labour, other direct costs 
and related production overheads. net 
realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, 
less the cost of selling.

trAde receivAbles
Trade receivables are recognised in the 
amount of their initial billing. impairment 
is recognised when there is objective 
evidence suggesting that impairment 
loss has been identified. in addition, 
impairment is recognised if there is 
otherwise some evidence of the debtor’s 
insolvency, bankruptcy or liquidation. 
credit losses are recognised as an expense 
in the income statement.

cAsh And cAsh eQuivAlents
cash and cash equivalents, which include 
cash accounts and short-term cash 
deposits at banks, have maturities of up to 
three months. bank overdrafts are shown 
within borrowings in current liabilities in 
the balance sheet.

non-current Assets  
held for sAle And 
discontinued operAtions
non-current assets (or a group of disposed 
items) and the assets and liabilities 
related to discontinued operations are 
reclassified as held for sale if their 
amount corresponding to their carrying 
amount will accrue principally from the 
sale of assets instead of continuing use. 
The conditions for the classification of a 
held for sale asset are considered to be 
met when its sale is very probable and the 
asset (or the group of disposed items) is 
directly saleable in its current condition 
under general and customary conditions 
after management has committed itself 
to the sale and the transaction is expected 
to occur within a year of the classification.

immediately before being classified 
as held for sale, the assets or the assets 
and liabilities of the disposed groups are 
measured according to the applicable ifrss. 
from the date of the classification, the 
assets held for sale (or groups of disposed 
items) are measured at their carrying 
amount or at the lower of the fair value, less 
costs to sell. Depreciation of these assets is 
ceased on the date of classification.

The group of disposed items include 
assets which are not included in the scope 
of the ifrs 5 valuation regulation, and 
liabilities are measured according to the 
applicable ifrss also after the date of 
classification.

The result of discontinued operations 
is presented as a separate item in the 
Group’s consolidated income statement. 
assets held for sale, groups of disposed 
items, items related to assets held for 
sale and recognised in other items of the 
comprehensive income and the liabilities 
included in the groups of disposed items 
are presented separately from other items 
in the balance sheet.

shAre cApitAl

sharE caPiTal aTTribUTablE  
To EQUiTY holDErs of ThE 
ParEnT coMPanY
Equity shares are presented as issued 
share capital. costs related to the issue of 
equity instruments or to an acquisition are 
presented as a reduction in share capital. 

when a company of the Group 
purchases own shares, the amount paid 
and the directly attributable incremental 
costs are shown as a deduction, net of tax, 
in equity from the proceeds.

where any Group company purchases 
the company’s equity share capital 
(treasury shares), the consideration paid 
and any directly attributable incremental 
costs (net of taxes) are deducted 
from retained earnings within equity. 
The treasury shares held by cramo 
Management oy are presented in retained 
earnings as a deduction of equity.

in the option plans as well as in directed 
share issues in 2011 , the proceeds gained 
from share subscriptions, adjusted by 
possible transaction costs, are recorded 
according to the conditions of the plans 
into the invested unrestricted equity fund.

non-conTrollinG inTErEsT
cramo Management Plc’s equity is 
presented in its entirety as the non-
controlling interest of the Group until 31 
January 2011.

hYbriD bonD
a hybrid bond is an equity bond with 
no maturity that is subordinated to 
a company’s other debt instrument. 
however, it is senior to other equity 
instruments. The interest on hybrid bond 
is paid if the annual General Meeting 
decides to pay a dividend or in other ways 
to distribute capital to shareholders. if a 
dividend is not paid the company has the 
right to decide on the possible payment of 
interest at its own discretion. non-payable 

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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interest accumulates and is disclosed as 
off-balance sheet commitment. Payable 
interest is presented as a reduction of 
equity and as liability from the date the 
liability to pay arises to the date it is paid. 
hybrid bond do not confer to holders the 
right to vote at shareholder meetings.

provisions And  
continGent liAbilities
a provision is recognised when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive 
obligation, as a result of past events, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate of the amount 
can be made. Provisions are measured at 
the present value of the required costs to 
cover the obligation. for the calculation 
of the present value, the chosen discount 
rate is one that reflects the time value 
of money and the risks included in the 
obligation at the time of observation. if it 
is possible to receive reimbursement for 
part of the obligation from a third party, 
the reimbursement is stated as a separate 
asset when receipt is practically certain.

a contingent liability is a possible 
obligation, incurred as a result of earlier 
events, whose existence is confirmed 
only when an uncertain event outside the 
control of the Group is realised. an existing 
liability that does not likely require the 
fulfilment of a payment obligation or whose 
amount cannot be reliably measured is 
also considered a contingent liability. 
contingent liability is disclosed in note 18.

employee benefits

PEnsion obliGaTions
currently all pension plans are classified 
as defined benefit or defined contribution 
plans. in defined contribution plans, the 
Group makes fixed payments to separate 
entities. The Group has no legal or 
constructive obligation to make additional 
payments if the party receiving them is 
unable to pay the pension benefits in 
question. all arrangements that do not 
fulfil these conditions, are considered 
defined benefit pension plans. The 
payments made to defined contribution 
pension plans are recognised through 
profit and loss in the accounting period to 
which the payment pertains. 

on January 2011 cramo Plc acquired 
all the shares in Theisen baumaschinen 
aG. in this acquisition all the pension 
obligations related to defined benefit plan 
have been transferred to cramo Group. 
The defined benefit plan applies to retired 
employees of Theisen Group. The net 
present value of the pension obligation is 
calculated by using discount rate, which 

reflects the market yield of high quality 
corporate bonds. The net present value in 
the balance sheet is reduced by benefits 
paid less interest cost during the period 
as well as by unrecognised actuarial gains 
and losses. Unrecognised actuarial gains 
and losses are recognised through profit 
and loss account. The benefit plan doesn’t 
include any funded assets.

all the other Group’s pension plans are 
defined contribution plans.

sharE-basED PaYMEnTs
The Group has the following current share-
based compensation plans: stock option 
plan 2006 with two current series 2006b and 
2006c and stock option plans 2009, 2010 
and 2011. The total amount to be expensed 
over the vesting period is determined by 
reference to the fair value of the options 
granted, excluding the impact of any non-
market vesting conditions. The amount 
of the share-based compensation plan is 
allocated as an expense over the vesting 
period and the corresponding adjustment 
is charged to equity. at each balance sheet 
date, the Group revises its estimates of 
the number of options that are expected 
to become exercisable and recognises the 
impact of the revision of original estimates, 
if any, in the income statement, with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity.

The expense measured on the date 
that the options were granted is based 
on the Group’s estimate of the number of 
options expected to become exercisable at 
the end of the vesting period. The Group 
updates the assumption of the total 
number of options on each final day of the 
reporting period. The change in estimates 
is treated through profit and loss. The fair 
value of the option plans is defined using 
the black-scholes option pricing model. 
apart from market conditions, such as 
profitability and a given growth target for 
earnings, conditions are not taken into 
account when defining the fair value of an 
option, but they affect the estimation of the 
total number of options.

principles  
of revenue recoGnition
The revenue presented includes the fair 
value of revenues acquired through the 
sale of goods and services adjusted by 
indirect tax, discounts and the exchange 
differences of currency sales.

rEnTal incoME
rental revenues from the rental 
agreements of machines, devices and 
modular space are recognised as income 
in equal items over the lease term.

The sales of modular space, which 
also include a rental agreement with the 

third party, and when the modular space 
has been sold to a finance company on 
a repurchase commitment, has been 
considered a lease agreement, because 
the significant risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership are not considered to transfer 
to the finance company. The proceeds of 
the sale of the buildings with the related 
rental agreements are recognised as 
rental income over time. interest on the 
liability is calculated using the effective 
interest rate method.

when assets are leased out under 
a finance lease, the lease income is 
recognised over the term of using the 
net investment method, which reflects a 
consistent periodic rate of return. capital 
gain is recognised in a manner similar to 
sale of goods.

GooDs anD sErvicEs solD
sales of goods are recognised when 
the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership, interests and control have 
been transferred to the buyer. This mainly 
occurs in connection with the contractual 
transfer of the goods. revenues from the 
services are recognised in the accounting 
period during which the service is 
performed.

conTracT rEvEnUE
The Group has from time to time larger 
contracts as well. These contracts may 
include several components such as a 
lease or sale items, as well as significant 
services, such as assembly, transport 
and disassembly. The contract revenue is 
recognised according to ias 11 as revenue 
respectively by reference to the stage of 
completion of the contract activity at the 
end of the reporting period. 

inTErEsT anD DiviDEnDs
interest income is recognised using the 
effective interest rate method. Dividend 
yield is recognised when the right to 
dividend is established.

borroWinG costs
borrowing costs are recognised as an 
expense when incurred. borrowing costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying 
asset are capitalised as part of the asset.

tAXes bAsed on tAXAble  
income And deferred tAXes
Tax expense consists of the taxes based 
on taxable income and deferred taxes for 
the current accounting period. Taxes are 
recognised through profit and loss, except 
when they relate directly to equity or the 
items recognised in the comprehensive 
income statement. in such cases, tax is 
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also charged to these items. The taxes 
based on taxable income for the current 
accounting period are calculated for 
taxable profit on the basis of the effective 
tax rate of each country.

Deferred taxes are calculated for 
temporary differences between the 
book values of assets and liabilities and 
the tax basis of assets and liabilities. 
Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised, 
however, if they are attributable to the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction other than business 
combination and the transaction, at 
the time it occurs, does not affect the 
accounting profit or taxable profit.

The deferred tax for investments in 
subsidiaries and associated companies is 
recognised, except when the Group is able 
to determine the timing of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not be cancelled 
in the foreseeable future.

The most significant temporary 
differences arise from the depreciation 
of property, plant and equipment items; 
the measurement of derivative financial 
instruments at fair value; unutilised tax 
losses and fair value adjustments made in 
connection with acquisitions.

Deferred taxes are calculated using the 
tax rates enacted by the final day of the 
reporting period or those which have, in 
practice, been accepted by the final day of 
the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be 
utilised.

dividend distribution
The dividend proposed by the board of 
Directors to the annual General Meeting 
has not been deducted from equity; 
instead, dividends will be recognised after 
a decision has been made on the matter at 
the annual General Meeting.

ebitA
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
does not define the concept of operating 
profit. The Group uses the term EbiTa 
for operating profit and has defined it in 
the following way: operating profit is a 
net amount which is formed when other 
operating income is added to revenue 
and when the following expenses are 
deducted from it: materials and services 
adjusted by the changes in the inventories 
of finished goods and work in progress, 
expenses caused by production for 
own use, employee benefit expenses, 
depreciation and possible impairment 
losses (except for intangible assets 

attributable to acquisitions) and other 
operating expenses. all other income 
statement items aside from those 
mentioned above are presented under 
operating profit. Exchange differences and 
the changes in fair value of derivatives are 
included in operating profit if they arise 
from operating items; otherwise they are 
recognised in financial items.

AccountinG policies  
reQuirinG discretion by 
mAnAGement And criticAl 
fActors of uncertAinty 
AssociAted With estimAtes
Estimates and assumptions regarding 
the future have to be made during the 
preparation of financial statements, and 
the outcome may differ from the estimates 
and assumptions made. furthermore, the 
application of accounting policies requires 
consideration.

ManaGEMEnT consiDEraTion 
in choosinG anD aPPlYinG 
accoUnTinG PoliciEs To 
financial sTaTEMEnTs
it is the duty of the Group’s management 
to make judgements relating to the 
choice and application of the accounting 
policies of the financial statements. This 
is especially true in those cases where 
the operative ifrss allow alternative 
ways of recognition, measurement or 
presentation. 

The most significant sector in which 
the management has applied the above-
described discretion regards rental 
agreements of property, plant and 
equipment (with the Group as lessee). The 
Group has both financial leasing contracts 
and rental agreements classified as other 
types of leases.

facTors of UncErTainTY 
associaTED wiTh EsTiMaTEs
The estimates made when preparing the 
financial statements are based on the 
management’s best knowledge of current 
events and actions at balance sheet date. 
forming the background of these estimates 
are previous experiences and assumptions 
of the future which are considered 
the most probable at the date of the 
financial statement’s preparation. These 
assumptions concern, among other things, 
the development of the Group’s sales and 
level of costs. The management together 
with business units follow the realisation 
of these assessments and assumptions 
and the changes in background factors 
regularly using several internal as well as 
external sources of information. Possible 
changes to estimations and assumptions 
are recorded in accounting in the reporting 

period during which one or both of them 
are adjusted and in all consecutive years.

The critical assumptions concerning 
the future and the factors of uncertainty 
associated with estimates made on the 
final day of the reporting period which 
cause a significant risk to the stability 
of the Group’s book value of assets and 
liabilities during the following financial 
year are presented below. The Group’s 
management consider these sections of 
the financial statements the most crucial, 
because the accounting principles involved 
are the most complicated from the point 
of view of the Group and their application 
requires the use of significant estimations 
and assumptions more than any other in, 
for example, the measurement of assets. 
furthermore, the effects of possible 
changes on the actual facts behind 
these assumptions and assessments are 
expected to be the greatest.

Impairment testing
in order to observe possible impairment 
and to prevent it, the Group performs annual 
tests of goodwill, intangible assets not yet 
available for use and intangible assets with 
indefinite useful life. in addition, any signs 
of impairment are carefully estimated 
following the principles described above 
in accounting policies. The recoverable 
amounts of the cash generating units are 
defined using calculations based on value 
in use. in these calculations, cash flows are 
based on the financial plans approved by 
the management which cover a period of 
5 years.

More information on the sensitivity of 
recoverable amounts to changes in used 
assumptions is provided in the note 6 
impairment testing of goodwill and other 
intangible assets with indefinite useful life.

Income taxes
The Group is subject to tax in several 
countries. Determining the Group’s income 
tax requires significant assessment. The 
quantification of the final tax for many 
transactions and calculations of normal 
business is uncertain. Deferred taxes are 
presented in note 15 Deferred taxes.

Share-based payments
The Group has share-based compensation 
plans. The fair value of options is estimated 
on the grant date using the black-scholes 
model and basing the assessment on 
certain assumptions. The assumptions 
relate, among other things, to expected 
dividend yield, volatility and term. These 
variables make fair value estimation 
of options difficult. These assumptions 
are described in note 28 share-based 
payments.

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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Valuation of the rental equipment fleet
The optimisation of the rental equipment 
fleet’s utilisation rate is managed on the 
Group level. The valuation of the rental 
equipment fleet is based on calculations 
of value in use, taking into account the 
possibility of transferring it to another 
entity of the Group. The preparation of 
these calculations requires estimations.

Determining the fair value of the assets 
acquired through business combinations 
with regard to tangible assets, the Group’s 
financial department and if necessary the 
fleet Management make the comparisons 
to the market prices of corresponding 
assets, as well as estimate of the decrease 
in value attributable to the age, wear and 
tear and other similar factors of acquired 
assets. The determination of the fair 
value of intangible assets is based on 
assessments concerning the cash flows of 
assets, because information on the sales 
of similar assets has not been available. 
More information on the measurement 
of intangible assets acquired through 
business combinations is presented in 
note 30 business combinations. The 
management believes that the estimations 
and assumptions used are a sufficiently 
accurate basis for the determination of 
fair value. in major business combinations, 
the Group utilises an outside advisor to 
estimate the fair values of tangible and 
intangible assets. furthermore, possible 
signs of impairment in both tangible 
and intangible assets are discussed and 
considered at the least at each balance 
sheet date.

ApplyinG the neW  
And revised ifrss
iasb has published the following new or 
revised standards and interpretations 
which the Group has not yet applied. They 
will be adopted in the Group from the date 
they come into force or, if that date is not 
the first day of the financial year, from the 
beginning of the next financial year after it 
has come into effect.
• ias 1 Financial Statement Presentation 

– Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income (effective on 
financials periods beginning on or 
after January 2013). The amendments 
to ias 1 change the grouping of items 
presented in oci. items that could 
be classified (or ‘recycled’) to profit 
or loss at a future point in time could 
be presented separately from items 
that will never be reclassified. The 
amendment affects presentation only 
and has there no impact on the Group’s 
financial position or performance.

• amendments to ias 19 Employee 
Benefits (effective on financials 
periods beginning on or after January 
2013). The iasb has issued numerous 
amendments to ias 19. These range 
from fundamental changes such as 
removing the corridor mechanism and 
the concept of expected returns on 
plan assets to simple clarifications and 
re-wording.

• revised to ias 28 Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures (effective 
on financials periods beginning on or 
after January 2013). as a consequence 
of the new ifrs 11 and ifrs 12. ias 28 
has been renamed ias 28 Investments 
in Associates and Joint Ventures, and 
describes the application of the equity 
method to investments in joint ventures 
in addition to associates.

• ifrs 9 Financial Instruments: 
Classification and Measurement 
(effective on financials periods 
beginning on or after January 2013). 
ifrs 9 as issued reflects the first phase 
of the iasbs work on the replacement 
of ias 39 and applies to classification 
and measurement of financial assets 
and financial liabilities as defined in 
ias 39. in subsequent phases, the iasb 
will address hedge accounting and 
impairment of financial assets. The 
Group is yet to assess the full impact of 
the amendments.

• ifrs 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements (effective on financials 
periods beginning on or after January 
2013). ifrs 10 replaces the portion 
of ias 27 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements that addresses the 
accounting for consolidated financial 
statements. it also includes the issues 
raised in sic-12 Consolidation — Special 
Purpose Entities. ifrs 10 establishes 
a single control model that applies to 
all entities including special purpose 
entities. The changes introduced by 
ifrs 10 will require management 
to exercise significant judgement to 
determine which entities are controlled, 
and therefore, are required to be 
consolidated by a parent, compared with 
the requirements that were in ias 27.

• ifrs 11 Joint Arrangements (effective 
on financials periods beginning on or 
after January 2013). ifrs 11 replaces 
ias 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and 
sic-13 Jointly-controlled Entities — Non-
monetary Contributions by Venturers. 
ifrs 11 removes the option to account 
for jointly controlled entities (JcEs) 
using proportionate consolidation. 
instead, JcEs that meet the definition 
of a joint venture must be accounted 
for using the equity method. The Group 

accounts for jointly controlled entities 
using the equity method. Thus the 
application of this new standard has no 
impact on the financial position of the 
Group.

• ifrs 12 Disclosure of Involvement 
with Other Entities (effective on 
financials periods beginning on 
or after January 2013). ifrs 12 
includes all of the disclosures that 
were previously in ias 27 related to 
consolidated financial statements, 
as well as all of the disclosures that 
were previously included in ias 31 
and ias 28. These disclosures relate 
to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, 
joint arrangements, associates and 
structured entities. a number of new 
disclosures are also required.

• ifrs 13 Fair Value Measurement 
(effective on financials periods 
beginning on or after January 2013). 
ifrs 13 establishes a single source 
of guidance under ifrs for all fair 
value measurements. ifrs 13 does 
not change when an entity is required 
to use fair value, but rather provides 
guidance on how to measure fair value 
under ifrs when fair value is required 
or permitted. The Group is currently 
assessing the impact that this standard 
will have on the financial position and 
performance.
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2. seGment reportinG

The business segment structure of cramo Group was slightly modified in 
2011. a new business segment central Europe was formed in connection 
with the acquisition of Theisen baumachinen aG in January 2011. The 
business segment consists of Theisen Group which has operations in 
Germany, switzerland, austria and hungary. Theisen Group was consolidated 
into cramo Group as from 1 february 2011. as announced at the time of the 
acquisition, cramo will not publish comparison data for central Europe for 
2010. Due to this new business segment, the name of the former business 
segment central and Eastern Europe was changed to Eastern Europe. 

The business segment structure reflects the Group’s internal reporting 
structure, in which equipment rental and modular space businesses have 
been combined under the management of each country. in addition to 
segment information, cramo has continued to report the order book value 
for modular space.

consequently, cramo Group’s business segments in 2011 were as 
follows:
• Finland
• Sweden
• Norway
• Denmark
• Central Europe
• Eastern Europe

in all of its business segments, cramo provides modern rental solutions 
through the cramo concept. Under the cramo concept, construction 

companies and customers in trade, industry and the public sector, as well 
as private customers, are provided with machinery, equipment and modular 
space through different rental solutions and services.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units 
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation 
and performance assessment. segment performance is evaluated 
based on EbiTa which refers to operating profit before amortisation and 
impairment on intangible assets resulting from acquisitions. according 
to management’s view, this is the most appropriate measure when 
comparing how the segment performance and the performance of other 
companies engaged in the same industry stand vis-à-vis each other. The 
Group management, as the highest operative decision-making body, is 
responsible for the abovementioned decisions about resource allocation 
and performance assessments.

segment assets and liabilities are business items that are employed by 
a segment in its operating activities and that either are directly attributable 
to the segment or can be allocated to segment on a reasonable basis. 
however, Group financing (including finance costs and finance income), 
income taxes as well as other items that are managed on a group basis 
are not allocated to operating segments. capital expenditure refers to the 
additions to segment assets that are expected to be used during more than 
one period (property, plant, equipment, and intangible assets).

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length 
basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.

business seGments 2011

eur 1,000 
income statement finland sweden norway denmark

central 
europe

eastern 
europe

non-
allocated

elimi-
nations

total 
Group

External revenue 124,810 303,522 79,265 34,681 71,125 66,489 679,892
inter-segment revenue 2,754 5,428 284 88 86 -8,640

total revenue 127,565 308,949 79,265 34,965 71,213 66,575 -8,640 679,892

Depreciation -17,873 -36,573 -10,808 -3,988 -8,991 -19,512 -507 628 -97,624

ebitA 20,238 58,047 857 -2,132 3,708 1,708 -11,756 402 71,072

amortisation and impairment on intangible 
assets resulting from acquisitions -2,297 -4,707 -931 -5,729 -1,738 -1,349 -16,751

net finance items -22,169

share of profit from associate 22

ebt 32,173

income taxes -8,668

profit for the year 23,505

segment assets and liabilities
intangible assets 43,808 129,600 25,404 1,997 29,955 23,782 34,021 288,567
Tangible and other assets 132,499 377,739 86,638 42,378 66,010 115,649 18,906 -1,575 838,245

total assets 176,307 507,339 112,042 44,376 95,965 139,431 52,927 -1,575 1,126,812

non-financial liabilities 30,329 115,490 15,335 7,388 17,520 14,272 26,942 -7,198 220,078

other disclosures
capital expenditure 27,594 93,519 26,174 5,460 90,043 17,989 1,727 262,506

number of employees 31 Dec 623 791 221 124 295 589 64 2,707
average number of employees 628 734 210 123 260 564 62 2,580

vAlue of outstAndinG orders for the sAles And rentAl of modulAr spAce 2011

eur 1,000 finland sweden norway denmark
central 
europe

eastern 
europe

non-
allocated

elimi-
nations

total 
Group

sales 6,350 694 7,044
rental 36,584 44,156 4,578 10,298 95,615

total 42,934 44,156 4,578 10,992 102,660

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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business seGments 2010

eur 1,000 
income statement finland sweden norway denmark

central 
europe

eastern 
europe

non-
allocated

elimi-
nations

total 
Group

External revenue 97,745 246,612 69,120 29,344 49,281 492,103
inter-segment revenue 1,838 5,245 148 604 -7,837

total revenue 99,583 251,857 69,120 29,493 49,886 -7,837 492,103

Depreciation -14,566 -31,916 -9,613 -5,692 -21,399 -497 538 -83,145

ebitA 12,466 41,186 303 -5,328 -11,464 -2,634 -52 34,478

amortisation and impairment on intangible 
assets resulting from acquisitions -626 -3,820 -620 -219 -1,803 -7,089

net finance items -22,586

ebt 4,804

income taxes -7,007

loss for the year -2,203

segment assets and liabilities
intangible assets 45,380 114,732 21,101 7,719 25,625 35,441 249,999
Tangible and other assets 119,526 334,859 77,314 41,431 121,278 23,163 -1,872 715,698

total assets 164,906 449,591 98,415 49,150 146,903 58,604 -1,872 965,697

non-financial liabilities 33,653 106,344 13,538 7,106 13,074 24,486 -6,270 191,932

other disclosures
capital expenditure 34,854 35,133 8,453 690 5,143 1,946 86,219

number of employees 31 Dec 570 665 189 120 532 56 2,131
average number of employees 529 677 184 117 518 59 2,083

vAlue of outstAndinG orders for the sAles And rentAl of modulAr spAce 2010

eur 1,000 finland sweden norway denmark
central 
europe

eastern 
europe

non-
allocated

elimi-
nations

total 
Group

sales 4,424 4,424
rental 29,019 36,776 7,067 10,399 83,261

total 33,443 36,776 7,067 10,399 87,685
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3. GoodWill And other intAnGible Assets
Goodwill other intangible assets total

eur 1,000
cramo-

brand
co- 

brands

customer 
relation-

ships
depot  

network

 non-
competition 
agreement

other 
intangible 

assets software

Acquisition cost
At 1 Jan 2010 158,711 29,500 986 29,047 47,160 4,306 4,172 8,400 282,281
Translation differences 11,573 50 2,607 4,142 357 26 925 19,679
additions 675 240 1,584 2,499
business acquisitions (note 31) 900 13,172 14,072
reductions -1,564 -2,294 -3,858

At 31 dec 2010 169,620 29,500 1,036 45,501 51,302 4,663 2,145 10,908 314,674

Accumulated depreciation,  
amortisation and 
impairment
At 1 Jan 2010 -21,373 -986 -14,576 -11,191 -2,595 -1,338 -2,043 -54,100
Translation differences -248 -50 -1,291 -935 -234 -26 -92 -2,876
reductions 263 263
reclassification between 
asset categories -6 -6

Depreciation (note 22) -292 -573 -865
amortisation resulting from 
acquisitions (note 22) -3,485 -2,417 -1,187 -7,089

At 31 dec 2010 -21,621 -1,036 -19,352 -14,544 -4,016 -1,392 -2,714 -64,674

Acquisition cost
At 1 Jan 2011 169,620 29,500 1,036 45,501 51,302 4,663 2,145 10,908 314,674
Translation differences 154 -24 -10 25 -37 1 -320 -211
additions 67 1,370 1,437
business acquisitions (note 31) 22,632 7,341 2,637 19,906 2,023 385 54,925
reductions -5,510 -173 -5,683
reclassification  
between asset categories 44 -45 0

At 31 dec 2011 186,896 29,500 8,352 48,128 71,233 6,648 2,257 12,126 365,141

Accumulated depreciation,  
amortisation and 
impairment
At 1 Jan 2011 -21,621 -1,036 -19,352 -14,544 -4,016 -1,392 -2,714 -64,674
Translation differences 43 20 38 -28 37 -1 122 232
reductions 5,510 161 5,671
reclassification between 
asset categories -7 -7

Depreciation (note 22) -265 -779 -1,044
amortisation resulting from 
acquisitions (note 22) -1,216 -5,811 -3,376 -838 -11,241
impairment loss (note 22) -5,510 -5,510

At 31 dec 2011 -21,578 -2,233 -25,124 -17,948 -4,816 -1,658 -3,217 -76,574

net book value:
At 1  Jan 2010 137,339 29,500 14,471 35,969 1,711 2,835 6,357 228,182
At 31 dec 2010 147,998 29,500 26,149 36,758 647 752 8,194 249,999
At 31 dec 2011 165,318 29,500 6,119 23,004 53,285 1,832 599 8,909 288,567

net book value of goowill and intangible assets increased by EUr 38.6 
million from EUr 250.0 million to EUr 288.6 milllion in 2011. increase 
in net book value was due to business acquisitions, which resulted in an 
increase of EUr 54.9 million in intangible assets (see more in note 31). 
The increase outweigthed the annual amortisation and depreciation on 
intangible assets (EUr 12.3 million) and impairment loss realised on 
goowill in Denmark (EUr 5.5 million).

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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4. tAnGible Assets

eur 1,000 land
buildings and 

improvements
machinery and 

equipment
uncompleted 

purchases total

Acquisition cost
At 1 Jan 2010 2,148 19,787 738,132 760,067
Translation differences 94 762 65,534 66,390
additions 828 49,906 265 50,999
business acquisitions (note 31) 18,649 18,649
reductions -116 -2,674 -31,531 -34,320
reclassification between asset categories 98 33 1,399 90 1,621
reclassification to assets available for sale (note 5) -10,729 -10,729

At 31 dec 2010 2,225 18,736 831,361 355 852,677

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 Jan 2010 -15 -11,359 -226,501 -237,875
Translation differences -508 -29,072 -29,580
reductions 2,268 12,195 14,463
reclassification between asset categories -4 -804 -808
reclassification to assets available for sale (note 5) 9,518 9,518
Depreciation (note 22) -1,566 -79,963 -81,529
impairment loss (note 22) -19 -519 -538

At 31 dec 2010 -15 -11,189 -315,146 -326,350

Acquisition cost
At 1 Jan 2011 2,225 18,736 831,361 355 852,677
Translation differences -60 -141 -1,697 -7 -1,905
additions 3,041 142,511 85 145,638
business acquisitions (note 31) 2,359 58,147 60,506
reductions -168 -47,774 -20 -47,962
reclassification between asset categories -3 -61 6,649 -297 6,288
reclassification to assets available for sale (note 5) 4,334 4,334

At 31 dec 2011 2,162 23,766 993,531 116 1,019,575

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 Jan 2011 -15 -11,189 -315,146 -326,350
Translation differences 8 946 954
reductions 75 33,038 20 33,134
reclassification between asset categories 3 -6,027 -6,024
reclassification to assets available for sale (note 5) -2,793 -2,793
Depreciation (note 22) -1,795 -93,675 -95,471
impairment loss (note 22) -6 -784 -20 -810

At 31 dec 2011 -15 -12,905 -384,441 -397,361

net book value:
At 1   Jan 2010 2,133 8,428 511,631 522,191
At 31 dec 2010 2,210 7,547 516,215 355 526,326
At 31 dec 2011 2,147 10,861 609,090 116 622,214

5. Assets AvAilAble for sAle

eur 1,000 2011 2010

net book value at 1 Jan 2,671 6,148
Translation differences 24 114
additions 2,505
business acquisitions (note 31) 4,310
reclassification to assets available for sale -1,540 1,211
reductions -992 -4,589
impairment loss -299 -213

net book value at 31 dec 6,680 2,671

net book value of tangible assets increased by EUr 95.9 million from EUr 
526.3 million to EUr 622.2 million in 2011. The net book value increased 
due to investments (EUr 145.6 million) and business acquisitions (EUr 
60.5 million), which were higher than depreciation (EUr 95.5 million) and 
asset sales (EUr 14.9 million). impairment loss of EUr 0.8 (0.5) million was 
recognised on tangible assets in 2011.    

impairment loss of EUr 0.3 (0.2) million was recorded on assets available 
for sale. assets available for sale is measured at lower of its carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell.  

 Machinery and equipment includes assets acquired through finance 
lease contracts. acquisition cost of such equipment at the end of period 
was EUr 241.5 million (243.5), accumulated depreciation EUr 93.0 (89.4) 
million  and net book value EUr 148.5 (154.1) million.
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6. impAirment testinG of GoodWill And other intAnGible Assets With indefinite useful lives

2011 2010
eur 1,000 Goodwill cramo brand Goodwill cramo brand

finland 30,119 6,095 30,119 5,856
sweden 91,144 14,761 80,237 14,811
norway 18,199 3,787 15,844 4,065
Denmark 1,671 5,508 1,734
central Europe 9,946
Estonia 11,806 602 11,806 551
latvia and lithuania 948 678 948 672
Poland 3,119 733 3,498 712
The czech republic and slovakia 358 315
russia 38 816 38 785
total 165,318 29,500 147,998 29,500

 2011 ebitA-%

compound annual 
growth rate  

five-year period, 
%

Growth rate  
beyond the  

five-year period, 
%

 
discount rate, %

finland 17.4–20.9 1.3 1.0 7.53 
sweden 17.6–21.3 1.8 1.0 7.53 
norway 7.8–13.8 5.5 1.0 7.98 
Denmark 3.6–9.2 2.0 1.0 8.28 
central Europe 6.0–14.0 2.4 1.0 7.98 
Eastern Europe 7.2–21.5 3.0–8.3 2.0 8.28–9.93 

 2010 ebitA-%

compound annual 
growth rate  

five-year period, 
%

Growth rate  
beyond the  

five-year period, 
%

 
discount rate, %

finland 18.3–21.0 3.6 1.0 7.44 
sweden 19.9–22.0 4.1 1.0 7.44 
norway 9.3–10.5 3.5 1.0 7.89 
Denmark 1.5–7.5 6.8 1.0 8.19 
Eastern Europe -6.3–19.3 7.3–19.8 2.0 8.19–10.29 

The allocation of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives
Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives acquired 
through business combinations have been allocated to cash-generating 
units for impairment testing. a cGU encompasses the business operations 
of the segment in each country, except for central Europe, latvia and 
lithuania, and the czech republic and slovakia. central Europe consists 

of business in Germany, austria, switzerland and hungary. from 2011 
onwards latvia and lithuania has been combined as one cGU and russia 
as one cGU due to operational changes. The cramo brand has been 
considered as a corporate-level asset which is annually allocated to cGUs 
for impairment on the basis of cGU sales. sales is believed to best reflect 
the future cash inflows the brand generates.

Goodwill and the cramo brand have been allocated to cGUs as follows:

Basis for impairment testing
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or on a more frequent basis should 
there be an indication of a potential impairment. The latest impairment test has 
been performed in December 2011. The test was based on the balance sheet as 
at 31 october 2011. in impairment testing the assets of a cGU are compared to 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of a cGU has been determined 
based on value in use which is calculated by using the discounted cash flow 
method. The cash flow projections used in the calculations are based on the next 
year’s financial budget and the forecasts for the subsequent four years approved 
by management. The cash flow projections, covering all together a period of five 
years, are based on experience as well as on the estimated future development 
of the markets. The projections are in line with the external information to the 
extent such projections are available. Management has approved the plans upon 
which the impairment tests are based.

Summary development in 2011
The rental market has continued to recover in 2011. Utilisation rates have 
continued to increase during 2011. also the rental prices have continued to 

increase during 2011. in order to support profitable growth the Group also 
started to invest during 2011. as a result net sales and profitability have 
improved compared to 2010. The pace of recovery has varied country by 
country. 

Impairment loss in 2011
as a result of the impairment test performed in conjunction with 
preparation of financial statements 2011, an impairment loss of EUr 5.5 
million was recognised in 2011. The impairment loss was recorded in 
Denmark segment. The impairment loss of EUr 5.5 million was recorded 
against goodwill. The impairment loss is attributable to difficult rental 
market in Denmark, which has not recovered at the pace earlier expected. 
as a result of continued recovery, utilisation rates and prices have 
increased. however, the price level is still low.

Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations:

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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2011 2010

capital structure
share of equity capital, % 60.0 60.0 
share of debt capital, % 40.0 40.0 

cost of debt
risk-free rate, % 2.60 2.81 
credit spread, % 1.83 1.80 
cost of debt, % 4.43 4.61 

cost of equity
Market risk premium, % 5.00 4.80 
cost of equity (market), % 7.60 7.61 
beta 1.20 1.20
cost of equity, % 8.60 8.57 
cramo pre-tax WAcc, % 6.93 6.99 

EBITA margin
in 2011 profitability has improved mainly due to increasing utilisation 
rates and rental prices. Utilisation rates and prices are still expected to 
gradually improve, which is expected to improve the profitability of cramo’s 
cGUs during the forecasting period 2012–2016. The forecasted EbiTa 
margins of 3.6–21.5% within 2012–2016 (-6.3–22.0 within 2011–2015) do 
not, however, exceed the profitability level of years 2007–2008 in cGUs 
other than norway, central Europe and Denmark. in norway, the market 
recovery together with efficiency improvements will assist EbiTa margin 
improvement from current low level. in central Europe, profitability is 
expected to improve as the Group gradually implements its “best in town” 
strategy. There has been a severe downturn in the Danish construction 
market, which has led to heavy adjustments in operations. Medium-term 
estimates have been increased from the previous year due to a more 
positive outlook than a year ago. increased prices and utilisation rates 
are expected to improve profitability from the current low level. in Eastern 
Europe, there has been clear turnaround in profitability during 2011. 
overall, the Group’s EbiTa margins vary still significantly between cGUs. 
    
Growth rate for the five year period
There has been a clear recovery in utilisation rates during 2011. however, 
the Group still expects to improve its utilisation rates from the current 
level during the forecast period. rental price level has gradually improved, 
but it still does not reflect the long-term outlook in most of the Group’s 
market areas. sales is expected to reach an annual average growth rate 
of 1.3–8.3% (3.5–19.8) in 2012–2016. Growth is based on improving price 
levels, utilisation rates and on the forecasted investments. Major growth 
investments have been adjusted away. in the nordic countries the annual 
average growth rate is expected to vary between 1.3–5.5% (3.5–6.8), 
depending on the unit. in russia the growth in sales is expected to be 
the strongest, an annual average rate of 8.3% in 2012–2016. in the baltic 
countries, the annual average growth rate is expected to be 4.4–5.2% (7.3–
10.6). baltic countries have shown faster recovery than earlier expected. 
  
Growth rate beyond the five years
The growth rate beyond five years for Eastern Europe countries equals two 
percent per year and for the nordic and central Europe businesses equals 
one percent per year. This is predicted to reflect a moderate long-term 
inflation forecast.

Fleet mobility
The value-in-use calculations take into account the plans for the adjusments 
of rental fleet through both sales and transfers between the countries.

Discount rate
cramo Group’s pre-tax weighted average cost of capital (pre-tax wacc) 
consitutes the basis for the determination of the discount rate. in 
determining the unit-specific discount rates the weighted average cost of 
capital is increased by a cGU specific risk factor which is determined for 
each unit separately. The cGU specific discount rate reflects the markets 
risks inherent to each cGU under testing.

The cGU-specific market risk factor is determined by assessing the 
country, currency and price risks inherent to each unit. Each component 
of risk is given a value ranging from 0 to 10, whereby the risk points range 
from 0 to 30. one risk point equals an increase of  0.15% in interest rate. 
altogether, the market risk factor can range from 0% to 4.5%, depending 
on the risk points. see below for the cGU specific discount rates, which 
reflect the senior management’s view on the cGU specific market risks of 
cramo’s business. Unit-specific risks are not readily available from a single 
source. instead, they are based on senior management’s best assessment 
which relies on various kinds of market and risk estimates. compared to 
2010, the cGU-specific market risks have decreased or remained stable in 
relatively high-risk cGUs, but increased in relatively low-risk cGUs.

The pre-tax wacc of the Group has decreased by 0.06% units from the 
impairment test performed in 2010.

The pre-tax wacc of the Group has been determined based on the 
following factors: Equity and debt finance are expected to consitute 60% 
(60) and 40% (40), respectively, of the capital structure in the long haul. The 
capital structure is inline with the Group’s financial targets.

The cost of debt has decreased by 0.18% units from the test performed 
in 2010. This is due to decrease in the risk free rate.

The cost of equity has remained stable since 2010. The market risk 
premium has increased by 0.20% units from the 2010 level. cramo’s company-
specific risk level (beta) has remained at same level as in 2010. both market 
risk premium and equity beta are based on long-term data.

2011
country risk, 

0–10 p.
currency risk, 

0–10 p.
price risk, 

0–10 p.
market risk, 
total 0–30 p.

cash generating 
unit specific 

market risk, %

cramo’s  
pre-tax  

WAcc, %
cGu specific 

discount rate, %

finland 0 1 3 4 0.60 6.93 7.53 
sweden 0 3 1 4 0.60 6.93 7.53 
norway 0 3 4 7 1.05 6.93 7.98 
Denmark 0 2 7 9 1.35 6.93 8.28 
central Europe 2 1 4 7 1.05 6.93 7.98 
Eastern Europe 3–8 1–6 4–7 8–20 1.20–3.00 6.93 8.13–9.93 

2010
country risk, 

0–10 p.
currency risk, 

0–10 p.
price risk, 

0–10 p.
market risk, 
total 0–30 p.

cash generating 
unit specific 

market risk, %

cramo’s  
pre-tax  

WAcc, %
cGu specific 

discount rate, %

finland 0 0 3 3 0.45 6.99 7.44
sweden 0 2 1 3 0.45 6.99 7.44
norway 0 2 4 6 0.90 6.99 7.89
Denmark 0 1 7 8 1.20 6.99 8.19
Eastern Europe 4–9 0–6 4–7 8–22 1.20–3.30 6.99 8.19–10.29
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change in ebitA 
margin  

max. decrease  
in %-units

compound annual 
growth rate, five-

year period  
max. decrease  

in %-units

Growth  
rate beyond  

five-year period  
max. decrease  

in %-units

discount rate  
max. increase  

in %-units 

the amount  
by which  

the recoverable 
amount exceeds 

the carrying 
amount,  

eur million

the amount  
by which  

the recoverable 
amount exceeds 

the carrying 
amount, %-range

finland -10.7 -20.0 -36.8 10.5 215.5 > 100 
sweden -9.5 -15.9 -16.6 7.3 459.5 > 100 
norway -1.9 -5.5 -3.0 2.0 27.9 20–50 
Denmark 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
central Europe -1.3 -2.6 -1.2 0.9 14.2 10–20 
Eastern Europe -6.8– -1.5 -15.3– -3.3 -18.8– -1.7 1.1–7.4 2.0–16.1 10–100 

Sensitivity analysis of the main assumptions
The figures below represent the maximum changes of the main 
assumptions, for each assumption separately, after which the carrying 

amount of the unit equals its recoverable amount. in the sensitivity 
analysis, each parameter was varied independently whilst holding the other 
parameters constant.

Summary of the sensitivity analysis
in Denmark recoverable amount equals the carrying amount after 
impairment loss of EUr 5.5 million. Denmark has improved its profitability 
during 2011. The utilisation rates are at a good level, but prices are still 
low. a better supply and demand balance of rental fleet is expected to 
improve price levels and profitability in 2012. 
 in the czech republic and slovakia recoverable amount exceeds carrying 
amount by EUr 2.0 (0.1) million. The czech republic and slovakia has clearly 
improved profitability in 2011 as a result of improved prices and utilisation 
rates. Profitability is still at unsatisfactory level, but improvement is expected 
to continue in 2012. Unless the expected improvement does not continue 
impairment may be required.

in sweden and finland recoverable amount exceeds carrying amount by 
over 100%. at the end of period, the total amount of goodwill allocated to 
cGUs in finland and sweden totalled EUr 121.3 (110.4) million. i.e. 73.4% 
(74.6) of the Group’s goodwill. The total amount of cramo brand allocated to 
these countries totals approximately EUr 20.9 (20.7) million.

in norway recoverable amount exceeds carrying amount by 20–50% 
(50–100).

in central Europe recoverable amount exceeds carrying amount by 
10–20%.

in Eastern Europe the recoverable amount exceeds carrying amount by 
20–50% (50–100) in russia, by 20–50% (20–50) in Estonia, by 50–100% in 
latvia and lithuania and Poland.

eur 1,000 2011 2010

At 1 Jan 347 340
Translation differences 1 8
Disposals 1
reclassification from non current receivable 2

At 31 dec 350 347

Total non-current available-for-sale  
financial assets 350 347

During 2011 and 2010 the Group has not reclassified financial assets at fair 
value through profit and loss or financial assets at amortised cost.

available-for-sale financial assets consist of shares in as oy saarihely, 
Golf sarfvik, rym shok oy and Ehitustööriist oÜ as well as of unquoted 
shares in telephone companies. The unquoted shares in telephone 
companies are measured at historical cost. The value of other shares is 
based either on the assessment of an external expert or on the reference 
from the market.

7. AvAilAble-for-sAle finAnciAl Assets

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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8. fAir vAlues of finAnciAl Assets And liAbilities

eur 1,000
At 31 dec 2011 note

financial 
asset/liability 

at fair value 
through profit 

and loss
loans and 

receivables

available- 
for-sale  

financial 
assets

loans and 
borrowings

hedge 
accounted 

derivatives
book  
value

fair 
 value

fair value 
hierarchy

non-current financial assets
available-for-sale financial 
investments 7 350 350 350 –

Derivative financial instruments 14
Trade and other receivables 9 3,553 3,553 3,553 –

current financial assets
Derivative financial instruments 14 730 730 730 2
Trade and other receivables 9 142,954 142,954 142,954 –
cash and short-term deposits 11 22,532 22,532 22,532 –

total 730 169,039 350 170,119 170,119

non-current financial liabilities
interest-bearing liabilities 13 310,510 310,510 310,718 –
Derivative financial instruments 14 1,855 4,920 6,775 6,346 2
other non-current liabilities 16 3,369 3,369 –

current financial liabilities
interest-bearing liabilities 13 101,422 101,422 101,422 -
Derivative financial instruments 14 1,837 1,837 1,837 2
Trade and other payables 17 116,485 116,485 –

total 3,692 531,786 4,920 540,398 420,323

eur 1,000
At 31 dec 2010 note

financial 
asset/liability 

at fair value 
through profit 

and loss
loans and 

receivables

Available- 
for-sale  

financial 
assets

loans and 
borrowings

hedge 
accounted 

derivatives
book  
value

fair  
value

fair value 
hierarchy

non-current financial assets
available-for-sale financial 
investments 7 347 347 347 –
Derivative financial instruments 14 1,053 1,053 1,053 2
Trade and other receivables 9 3,613 3,613 3,613 –

current financial assets
Derivative financial instruments 14 825 825 825 2
Trade and other receivables 9 125,333 125,333 125,333 –
cash and short-term deposits 11 22,313 22,313 22,313 –

total 1,878 151,259 347 153,484 153,484

non-current financial liabilities
interest-bearing liabilities 13 346,776 346,776 349,802 –
Derivative financial instruments 14 926 1,617 2,543 2,543 2
other non-current liabilities 16 4,207 4,207 4,207 –

current financial liabilities
interest-bearing liabilities 13 57,569 57,569 57,569 –
Derivative financial instruments 14 1,853 1,853 1,853 2
Trade and other payables 17 100,984 100,984 100,984 –

total 2,779 509,536 1,617 513,932 516,958

Available-for-sale financial assets
available-for-sale financial assets consist of shares in Ehitustööriist oÜ, 
as oy saarihely, Golf sarfvik and rym shok oy as well as of unquoted 
shares in telephone companies. The unquoted shares are measured at 
historical cost due to missing markets, and because the Group has no 
intention to sell these shares. The value of other shares is based either 
on the assessment of an external expert or on the reference from the 
market.    
  
Derivative financial instruments
The fair value of forward contracts is determined by using the forward 
rates of 31 December for respective contracts. for interest rate swaps 

the fair value is computed by discounting the future cash flows using the 
market rates at annual closing. if the market value given by a counterparty 
is utilised, company produces also its own calculation using generally 
accepted valuation methods.   
    
Interest-bearing liabilities
The fair value of loans is based on the discounted cash flows. The rate used 
for measurement, is the rate which would apply for the Group’s new external 
financing. The overall rate consists of risk free rate and the risk premium for 
the company. The fair value of leasing contracts is computed by discounting 
the cash flows with a rate corresponding with similar contracts.
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Trade and other receivables and liabilities
The fair value of trade and other receivables and liabilities corresponds 
with the historical cost. The effect of discounting is not relevant due to 
short maturity of the instrument.

Fair value hierarchy disclosures for each class of financial instruments:
Effective 1 January 2009, the Group adopted the amendment to ifrs 7 for 
financial instruments that are measured in the balance sheet at fair value. 
This requires disclosure of fair value measurements according to the fair 
value measurement hierarchy. 

•  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (level 1).

•  Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

•  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

9. trAde And other receivAbles

eur 1,000 2011 2010

non-current receivables
interest-bearing non-current receivables

finance lease receivables 2,238 2,523
non-interest-bearing non-current 
receivables

other receivables 1,316 1,089
reclassification to  
available-for-sale financial assets -2

total 3,553 3,613

current receivables
interest-bearing current receivables

finance lease receivables 285 241
other receivables 32 9

non-interest-bearing current receivables
Trade receivables 125,035 105,019
other receivables 2,744 5,879
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 14,858 14,185

total 142,954 125,333

finance lease receivables fall due as 
follows
not later than one year 429 400
later than one year and not later than five years 1,265 1,566
later than five years 2,114 2,242

Gross investment in finance leases 3,808 4,208

present value of minimum lease 
receivables
not later than one year 285 241
later than one year and not later than five years 872 1,107
later than five years 1,366 1,417

present value of minimum lease receivables 2,523 2,764

Unearned financial income 1,285 1,444

Gross investment in finance leases 3,808 4,208

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and are generally on 14–60 day 
terms.

a total amount of EUr 5,565 (4,950) thousand of trade receivables has 
been recognised in the income statement as impairment losses. see below 
for the movements in the provision for impairment of receivables. for further 
guidance, see credit risk note 14.

eur 1,000  
movements in the provision  
for impairment of receivables 2011 2010

At 1 Jan 7,762 7,783
charge for the year 5,565 4,950
Utilised -5,395 -4,972

At 31 dec 7,931 7,762

The balance sheet values best correspond to the amount which is the 
maximum credit risk exposure before deducting the fair value of collateral 
in case other contractual parties fail to meet their obligations related to the 
financial instruments. The manner in which the Group operates does not 
require the obtaining of collateral in respect of trade and other receivables. 
Trade and other receivables do not contain any significant concentration of 
credit risk. The management considers that the carrying amount of trade 
and other receivables approximates their fair value.  
  Material items included in prepaid expenses and accrued income relate 
to prepaid premises and leasing expenses, and investments.

eur 1,000  
Ageing analysis of trade receivables 2011 2010

Trade receivables, not due at reporting date 89,032 85,373
Trade receivables 1–30 days overdue 24,635 11,507
Trade receivables 31–60 days overdue 3,459 3,487
Trade receivables 61–90 days overdue 2,725 1,771
Trade receivables 91–180 days overdue 2,594 1,687
Trade receivables more than 180 days overdue 2,590 1,193

total 125,035 105,019

eur 1,000 
trade receivables by currencies 2011 2010

EUr 28,480 14,320
sEK 62,112 59,105
noK 14,192 12,992
DKK 8,477 7,929
Pln 3,217 3,243
rUb 3,841 3,395
other 4,716 4,033

total 125,035 105,019

Trade receivables are arising from a large number of customers and 
are mainly denominated in sEK, EUr and noK, therefore mitigating the 
concentration of risk.

eur 1,000 2011 2010

Materials and supplies 12,800 9,317
work in progress 5,510 4,485

total 18,310 13,803

at the end of the period, inventories have been written down by EUr 172 
(180) thousand to correspond to their net realisable value. The amount of 
write-down is recognised in cost of sales.

10. inventories

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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eur 1,000 2011 2010

cash in hand and at banks 22,532 22,313

total 22,532 22,313

cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and bank deposits 
available at call. cash and cash equivalents have original maturities of 
three months or less. bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in 
current liabilities in the balance sheet.

11. cAsh And cAsh eQuivAlents

cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank 
deposit rates.

at 31 December 2011, the Group had available EUr 166.2 (135.6) 
million of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which all 
conditions precedent had been met.

for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise the abovementioned figures for cash in hand and at 
banks at 31 December.

12. shAre cApitAl And eQuity funds

eur 1,000 
share capital number of shares share capital share issue other reserves total

at 1 Jan 2010 30,660,189 24,835 1,871 186,926 213,632

At 31 dec 2010 30,660,189 24,835 1,871 186,926 213,632

Exercise of share options 694,000 -1,854 9,133 7,279
rights issue 9,489,877 97,398 97,398
Direct share issue 595,020 7,266 7,266

At 31 dec 2011 41,439,086 24,835 17 300,723 325,575

eur 1,000 
other equity funds fair value reserve hedging fund total

at 1 Jan 2010 117 -2,296 -2,179
cash flow hedges

fair value losses in period 1,486 1,486
Tax on fair value losses -387 -387

At 31 dec 2010 117 -1,197 -1,080

cash flow hedges
fair value gains in period -5,228 -5,228
Tax on fair value losses 1,257 1,257
Effect of change in tax percent 2 2

At 31 dec 2011 119 -5,168 -5,049

Fair value reserve   
The fair value reserve includes fair value changes of assets classified as 
available-for-sale financial assets. 

Hedging fund
The Group applies hedge accounting for some interest rate derivatives that 
are designated as cash flow hedges. The effective portion of changes in 
the fair value of those derivatives is recognised in hedging fund. The gain 
or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the 
income statement and classified within finance expenses.

nAture And purpose of other reserves As stAted in the 
consolidAted stAtement of chAnGes in eQuity  
    
Translation differences
Translation differences arise from the consolidation of the results of 
subsidiaries outside the Euro zone.

at the balance sheet date the Group had hedged swedish crone 
-denominated equity with an external currency loan. The effective portion of 
foreign exchange difference arising from the loan is recognised in translation 
differences. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in the income statement and classified in finance expenses. 

Hybrid capital
cramo Plc issued in april 2009 a EUr 50 million hybrid bond to finnish 
investors. The coupon rate of the bond is 12.0% per annum. The bond 
has no maturity but  the company may call the bond after four years. 
The bond is treated as equity in the Group’s ifrs financial statements. 
The issuance of the bond does not dilute holdings of company’s 
shareholders. 

Non-controlling interest
The board of Directors of cramo Plc accepted in June 2009 a new share 
ownership program for cramo’s Executive committee. for the purpose of 
the share ownership, cramo Executive committee members  established 
a company called cramo Management oy. in the Group’s ifrs financial 
statements, cramo Management oy is reported as a special purpose entity 
until 31 January 2011. because the limit-values of the agreement were 
exceeded, cramo Plc acquired all the shares in  cramo Management oy.

dividends 
The board proposes to the aGM a dividend of EUr 0.30 (0.10) per share for 
year 2011. The total dividend amounting to EUr 3,163 thousands was paid 
on 5 april 2011.

a total of 2,600 new shares were subscribed for under the company’s 
stock option rights 2006c by 31 December 2011. The number of shares will 
increase to 41,441,686 when the shares subscribed will be entered in the 
trade register. The entire subscription price will be entered in the invested 
unrestricted equity fund. cramo Plc has three option right plans in force 
and an analysis of the share-based payments is given in note 28.

Each share entitles the holder to one vote at the annual General 
Meeting and to an equal dividend. at the balance sheet date share capital 
was fully paid and entered in the trade register.

   
Other reserves
other reserves includes the premium received on exercise of share options 
and other share issues under the old limited liability companies act.
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13. interest-beArinG liAbilities

eur 1,000 2011 2010
non-current interest-bearing liabilities book value fair value book value fair value

syndicated bank loan 230,581 230,581 254,119 255,161
other bank loans 761 761 1,967 1,967
Pension loans 1,271 1,277 3,814 3,876
repurchase liabilities 1,807 2,009 1,807 1,981
finance lease liabilities 76,090 76,090 85,068 85,068

total 310,510 310,718 346,776 348,053

current interest-bearing liabilities book value book value

syndicated bank loan
other bank loans 1,166 1,293
Pension loans 2,543 2,543
repurchase liabilities 802
finance lease liabilities 34,137 29,484
commercial papers 63,576 23,447

total 101,422 57,569

total interest-bearing liabilities 411,932 404,345

book values of current liabilities approximate their fair values. all bank 
loans are at floating rate and thus their fair values do not differ materially 
from their carrying amounts. Pension loans and repurchase liabilities are 
at fixed rate and their fair values are calculated by discounting contract 
amounts with the market rate.

other bank loans mainly consist of overdraft limits and hire purchase 
liabilities.

at the year end the Group had available undrawn committed credit 
facilities totalling EUr 166.2 (135.6) million, of which long-term  
EUr 143.0 (118.0) million and short-term EUr 23.2 (17.6) million.

The main financial covenants of the syndicated loan facility are the 
net debt to EbiTDa ratio and gearing. in addition, there are other general 

terms related to the loan facility. net debt is the actual value on a testing 
date and EbiTDa is calculated as accumulated EbiTDa of the previous 
12 months including pro forma EbiTDa of the acquisitions and business 
combinations made during the period. Taking pro forma EbiTDa of the 
acquisitions and business combinations into account balances the growth 
of net Debt caused by acquisitions and business combinations and results 
somewhat lower values for net Debt to EbiTDa. Gearing is calculated by 
dividing the net debt by the total equity. net debt to EbiTDa determines the 
applied margin for the syndicated loan quarterly. The maximum values of 
the financial covenants will change during the loan period. The maximum 
and actual values of the financial covenants as at 31 December 2011 are 
presented below:

eur 1,000 Actual 2011 Actual 2010
value of covenants

2010–2011 2012 2013–

net debt to EbiTDa, maximum 2.28 3.13 4.00 3.50 3.50
Gearing, maximum 78.70 103.41 130.00 120.00 115.00

The following table presents a sensitivity analysis of financial covenants with the 
actual values at 31 December 2011. The table shows the maximum deviation of each  
essential parameter before breaking the financial covenant value.     
      

net debt ebitdA equity

eur millions max increase max decrease max decrease

net debt to EbiTDa, maximum 292.5 73.1
Gearing, maximum 253.8 195.3

eur 1,000 
interest-bearing liabilities mature as follows, 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017+ total

syndicated bank loan 230,581 230,581
other bank loans 1,166 585 62 62 53 1,927
Pension loans 2,543 1,271 3,814
repurchase liabilities 1,069 140 46 553 1,807
finance lease liabilities 34,137 29,590 12,818 12,754 8,501 12,427 110,227
commercial papers 63,576 63,576

total 101,422 31,446 244,530 12,956 8,600 12,980 411,932

eur 1,000 
syndicated loan by currency and maturity, 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017+ total

EUr 153,986 153,986
sEK 76,595 76,595

total 230,581 230,581

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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eur 1,000 
interest-bearing liabilities mature as follows, 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016+ total

syndicated bank loan 254,119 254,119
other bank loans 1,293 1,628 339 3,260
Pension loans 2,543 2,543 1,271 6,357
repurchase liabilities 802 1,069 140 598 2,609
finance lease liabilities 29,484 25,636 20,148 13,512 12,310 13,462 114,552
commercial papers 23,447 23,447

total 57,569 29,807 21,758 268,700 12,450 14,060 404,345

eur 1,000 
syndicated loan by currency and maturity, 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016+ total

EUr 177,982 177,982
sEK 76,137 76,137

total 254,119 254,119

eur 1,000 
Gross finance lease liabilities  
– minimum lease payments 2011 2010

Payable < 1 year from balance sheet date 41,243 32,007
Payable 1–5 years from balance sheet date 62,669 75,685
Payable > 5 years from balance sheet date 12,781 13,865

total 116,694 121,557

future finance charges on finance leases 6,467 7,005
present value of minimum future finance 
lease payments 110,227 114,552

Finance lease liabilities
The Group has entered into financial leases on certain vehicles and items 
of machinery. These leases have an average life of between three and five 
years. financial lease liabilities mainly have floating rates based on market 
rates between one and three months. Tables below specify the future 
minimum cash flows under financial leases by maturity and by currency as 
at 31 December.

eur 1,000 
finance lease liabilities by currency 2011 2010

sEK 45,354 54,472
noK 20,831 21,626
DKK 3,446 4,361
EUr 25,703 20,984
other 14,893 13,109

total 110,227 114,552

2011 2010

Weighted average maturity 
and interest rates at 31 dec

maturity, 
years

interest, 
%

maturity, 
years

interest, 
%

bank loans 3.0 3.70 2.7 3.55
bank loans including  
interest rate swaps 3.0 4.48 2.7 4.41
Pension loan 0.9 4.75 1.4 4.75
finance leases 2.3 3.82 2.4 4.62
repurchase liabilities 3.7 4.15 3.0 3.97
commercial papers 0.2 2.14 0.2 1.78

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market 
risk (including currency risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk. The objective of the Group’s risk management is to 
minimise the negative effects on the Group’s financial performance caused 
by changes in financial markets. The Group uses derivative financial 
instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.

risk management is carried out by a central treasury function (Group 
Treasury). The Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial 
risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units according 
to the Treasury policy approved by the board. The objective of treasury 
management is to secure sufficient funding for business operations, 
avoiding financial constraints at all times, to provide business units with 
financial services, to minimise the costs of financing, to manage financial 
risks (currency, interest rate, liquidity and funding, credit and operational 
risks) and to provide the management with information on the financial 
position and risk exposures of cramo and its business units. in addition, 
Group Treasury actively monitors the actual values of Group’s financial 
covenants   and anticipated financial headroom in relation to maximum 
values   of these financial covenants as part of the Group’s business 
planning.

mArKet risK   
    
Interest rate risk   
fluctuations in market interest rates have an effect on consolidated 
interest outflows and the fair value of interest-bearing receivables, loans 
payable and derivative instruments. The objective of interest rate risk 
management is to mitigate the impact of interest rate changes on the 
income statement, balance sheet and cash flow, while also taking into 
account the market value of net debt. 

The Group’s interest rate risk arises mainly from its long-term 
borrowings. The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate risk, 
which arises from liabilities at variable rates. at the balance sheet date, 
47.6% (51.6) of outstanding interest-bearing liabilities were at fixed interest 
rates when including the effect of derivatives used. During 2011 and 2010, 
the Group’s borrowings at variable rate were denominated in the EUr 
and the sEK. The currency specification of financial lease liabilities is 
presented in table later in this note. The weighted average fixing period for 
loan portfolio was 1.8 years (2.0 years). The Treasury Policy states the limit 
for the portion of fixed interest to be 20–60% of the whole loan portfolio and 
duration to stay in a range from one to three years. During the financial 
period the Group moved slightly downwards in both values. 

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using interest 
rate swaps in accordance with the Treasury Policy. such interest rate swaps 
have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to 

14. finAnciAl risK mAnAGement
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fixed rates. The nominal value of the Group’s interest rate swaps was EUr 
181.6 million at 31 December 2011 (2010: EUr 181.3 million). ias 39 hedge 
accounting was applied to a part of these interest rate swaps representing a 
total nominal value of EUr 145.2 (EUr 104.9) million. The maturity structure 
of these derivatives is presented in a table following in this note.

for interest rate sensitivity analysis in accordance with ifrs 7, if 
interest rates at 31 December 2011 on EUr-denominated borrowings had 
been 1 % higher/lower with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit 

for the year would have been EUr 0.4 (1.4) million lower/higher, as a result 
of changes in the interest flows on floating rate borrowings and hedging 
instruments and the change of market value of the non-hedge accounted 
interest rate swaps; other components of equity would have been EUr 
4.6 (3.3) million higher/lower, as a result of a change in the fair value of 
interest rate swaps for which hedge accounting is applied. The following 
table illustrates the sensitivity analysis.

2011 2010
income statement equity income statement equity

+ 1% - 1% + 1% - 1% + 1% - 1% + 1% - 1%

interest-bearing liabilities -2.9 2.9 -2.8 2.8
interest rate derivatives

hedge accounted 1.1 -1.1 4.6 -4.6 0.8 -0.8 3.3 -3.3
non-hedge accounted 1.5 -1.5 3.4 -3.4

total -0.4 0.4 4.6 -4.6 1.4 -1.4 3.3 -3.3

foreign exchange risk arising from internal funding, recognised assets and 
liabilities is managed primarily through forward contracts. a table following in 
this note presents the maturity structure of these derivatives. The changes in 
the fair value of derivatives are recognised in the income statement.

sales in Group companies are carried out in the functional currency of 
the local entities. These transactions do not expose the Group to significant 
foreign exchange risk. Purchases are carried out both in Euros and local 
currencies. The currency risk arising from purchases is considered 
insignificant. hence, according to the Treasury Policy, future purchase 
commitments are not hedged.

sensitivity analysis, in accordance with ifrs 7, aims to represent the 
sensitivity of the consolidated income and equity with respect to foreign 
exchange rate fluctuations. The open Euro exposure against other functional 
currencies arises from account payables, leasing liabilities in other than local 
currency, as well as from the open exposure of the Group Treasury.

The following table presents the Group’s currency exposure and the 
sensitivity effects to profit before tax results in the income statement and 
to equity. The sensitivity calculation is based on a change of 5% in the Euro 
exchange rate against all the functional currencies that the Group operates in.

as the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, the Group’s 
income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes 
in market interest rates. The Group’s interest-bearing liabilities and their 
average interest rates are presented in note 13.

Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to risks arising from 
foreign exchange rate fluctuations, primarily from exposures with respect 
to the swedish crone. foreign exchange risk arises primarily from 
internal funding and net investments in foreign operations as well as from 
recognised assets and liabilities.

since cramo has subsidiaries outside the Euro zone, the euro 
denominated value of the shareholders’ equity is exposed to fluctuations in 
exchange rates. Equity changes caused by movements in foreign exchange 
rates are shown as a translation difference in the Group consolidation. The 
Group Treasury regularly monitors and evaluates the translation risk. at 
the balance sheet date the Group had hedged swedish crone -denominated 
equity with an external currency loan. The foreign exchange difference 
arising from the loan is recognised in equity under translation differences.

eur 1,000 
translation risk and hedging 31 dec 2011 seK noK dKK lvl ltl pln rub cZK chf huf total

net investment exposed to translation risk 316,138 31,323 5,566 3,021 1,789 10,857 -3,331 9,369 -260 20 374,492
lending designated as part of net investment 14,965 14,965
hedging loans -76,593 -76,593
open exposure 239,545 31,323 5,566 3,021 1,789 10,857 11,634 9,369 -260 20 312,864

eur 1,000 
sensitivity analysis, 5% depreciation  
of each currency against euro seK noK dKK lvl ltl pln rub cZK chf huf total

net investment exposed to translation risk -15,807 -1,566 -278 -151 -89 -543 167 -468 13 -1 -18,725
lending designated as part of net investment -748 -748
hedging loans 3,830 3,830
total -11,977 -1,566 -278 -151 -89 -543 -582 -468 13 -1 -15,643
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a proportion of the Group’s sEK -denominated borrowing amounting to 
EUr 76.6 (76.1) million is designated as a hedge of the net investment in 
the Group’s swedish subsidiaries. The fair value of the borrowing at 31 
December 2011 was EUr -0.1 (0.3) million. The foreign exchange loss of 
EUr 0.5 (loss 8.2) million on translation of the borrowing to currency at 
the end of the reporting period is recognised in translation differences, in 
shareholders’ equity.

a proportion of the Group’s rUb- and lvl -denominated lending to its 
subsidiaries totalling EUr 15.0 (24.5) million has been designated as a 
part of the net investment in the respective subsidiaries. The fair value of 
the lending at 31 December 2011 was EUr -3.2 (-2.9) million. The foreign 
exchange loss of EUr 0.3 (0.8) million on translation of the borrowing to 
currency at the end of the reporting period is recognised in translation 
differences, in shareholders’ equity.

eur 1,000 
transaction risk and hedging 31 dec 2011 seK noK dKK lvl ltl pln rub cZK chf huf total

Transaction exposure 33,949 45,762 28,957 2,135 2,774 9,342 20,082 3,345 875 147,221
hedges -34,728 -44,429 -27,441 -2,001 -2,683 -9,197 -18,089 -3,296 -836 -142,700

open exposure -779 1,333 1,516 134 91 145 1,993 49 39 4,521

eur 1,000 
sensitivity analysis, 5% depreciation  
of each currency against euro seK noK dKK lvl ltl pln rub cZK chf huf total

Transaction exposure -1,697 -2,288 -1,448 -107 -139 -467 -1,004 -167 -44 -7,361
hedges 1,736 2,221 1,372 100 134 460 904 165 42 7,135

total 39 -67 -76 -7 -5 -7 -100 -2 -2 -226

eur 1,000 
transaction risk and hedging 31 dec 2010 seK noK dKK lvl ltl pln rub cZK chf huf total

Transaction exposure -8,645 27,919 24,183 9,527 3,276 7,062 12,995 2,716 79,033
hedges 6,692 -28,782 -22,808 -3,186 -6,918 -10,534 -2,514 -68,050

open exposure -1,953 -863 1,375 9,527 90 144 2,461 202 10,983

eur 1,000 
sensitivity analysis, 5% depreciation  
of each currency against euro seK noK dKK lvl ltl pln rub cZK chf huf total

Transaction exposure 432 -1,396 -1,209 -476 -164 -353 -650 -136 -3,952
hedges -335 1,439 1,140 159 346 527 126 3,403

total 98 43 -69 -476 -5 -7 -123 -10 -549

Price risk
The Group holds a minor amount of unquoted shares, which do not expose  
to material price risk. The Group is not exposed to commodity price risk.

eur 1,000 
translation risk and hedging 31 dec 2010 seK noK dKK lvl ltl pln rub cZK chf huf total

Equity exposed to translation risk 296,805 33,249 14,968 2,974 1,735 11,843 -1,144 11,662 372,092
lending designated as part of net investment 9,233 15,311 24,544
hedging loans -76,136 -76,136
open exposure 220,669 33,249 14,968 12,207 1,735 11,843 14,167 11,662 320,500

eur 1,000 
sensitivity analysis, 5% depreciation  
of each currency against euro seK noK dKK lvl ltl pln rub cZK chf huf total

Equity exposed to translation risk -14,840 -1,662 -748 -149 -87 -592 57 -583 -18,605
lending designated as part of net investment -462 -766 -1,227
hedging loans 3,807 3,807
total -11,033 -1,662 -748 -610 -87 -592 -708 -583 -16,025
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eur 1,000 
fair values 31 dec 2011 positive fair value negative fair value net fair value

fX forward contracts 730 -1,837 -1,107
interest rate swaps, non-hedge accounting -1,855 -1,855
interest rate swaps, cash flow hedges -4,920 -4,920

total 730 -8,612 -7,882

non-current portion
fX forward contracts
interest rate swaps, non-hedge accounting -1,855 -1,855
interest rate swaps, cash flow hedges -4,920 -4,920

non-current portion -6,775 -6,775

current portion 730 -1,838 -1,108

eur 1,000 
fair values 31 dec 2010 positive fair value negative fair value net fair value

fX forward contracts 825 -1,853 -1,028
interest rate swaps, non-hedge accounting 1,053 -926 127
interest rate swaps, cash flow hedges -1,617 -1,617

total 1,878 -4,396 -2,518

non-current portion
fX forward contracts
interest rate swaps, non-hedge accounting 1,053 -926 127
interest rate swaps, cash flow hedges -1,617 -1,617

non-current portion 1,053 -2,543 -1,490

current portion 825 -1,853 -1,028

derivAtive finAnciAl instruments

The derivatives used in 2011 and 2010 were currency forward contracts and 
interest rate swaps.These were used for hedging purposes in line with the 
Group’s hedging policy.

The fair value of currency derivatives and non-hedge accounted interest 
rate derivatives has been recognised in the income statement. The fair 
value of hedge accounted interest rate derivatives has been recognised 
equity, as net of tax, and other items of comprehensive income. at 31 
December 2011 the open derivative exposure reflects well the exposure 
retained during the financial year.

eur 1,000 
nominal values of derivative  
financial instruments 2011 2010

fX forward contracts 202,932 177,380
interest rate swaps 181,645 181,331

total 384,577 358,711

eur 1,000 
derivative instruments mature as follows, 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017+ total

currency derivative instruments 202,932 202,932
interest derivative instruments 

EUr 10,000 91,000 20,000 121,000
sEK 54,197 54,197
noK 6,448 6,448

total interest derivative instruments 257,129 10,000 6,448 91,000 20,000 384,577

eur 1,000 
derivative instruments mature as follows, 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016+ total

currency derivative instruments 177,380 177,380
interest derivative instruments 

EUr 10,000 111,000 121,000
sEK 53,921 53,921
noK 6,410 6,410

total interest derivative instruments 177,380 53,921 10,000 6,410 111,000 358,711

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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credit risK   
The Group’s policy identifies counterparty credit rating requirements 
and principles of investment for clients, investment transactions and 
derivative financial instruments. The Group has no significant credit risk 
concentrations since it has a broad clientele, which is geographically 
spread over a wide area. credits are granted to companies and private 
persons, which have proper credit information. The Group’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk is represented by the fair values of receivables and 
other financial assets at 31 December 2011.

The maturity structure of accounts receivables is presented in note 9.
also the credit losses and increase of provision for bad debts are 

presented in note 9. receivables do not include significant credit risk 
concentrations.

refundinG And liQuidity risK
The Group Treasury manages the Group’s liquidity risk and ensures flexibility 
in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines. The 
Group uses diverse funding sources and borrowings are primarily long-
term. The Group has committed borrowing facilities or other lines of credit 
that it can access to meet liquidity needs. at 31 December 2011 undrawn 
committed credit facilities totalled EUr 166.2 (135.6) million. 

in order to decrease the refinancing risk the Group aims to diversify 
the maturity structure of its interest-bearing debt and negotiates new 
committed credit lines well in advance of need. The table below analyses 
the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and net-settled derivative 
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. Derivative 
instruments are included in the analysis if their contractual maturities are 
essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

eur 1,000 
maturities of financial liabilities at 31 dec 2011 less than 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years over 5 years total

Derivatives
fX forward contracts, outflow -1,442 -1,442
fX forward contracts, inflow 789 789
interest rate swaps, outflow -5,020 -3,389 -8,254 -567 -17,230
interest rate swaps, inflow 3,343 1,730 4,139 345 9,557

derivatives, net -2,330 -1,659 -4,115 -222 -8,326

accounts payable and other non-interest bearing liabilities -116,487 -116,487
borrowings (excl. finance lease liabilities) -76,640 -10,428 -235,027 -322,095
finance lease liabilities -41,244 -26,420 -36,249 -12,781 -116,694
repurchase liabilities -75 -75 -1,304 -564 -2,018

total -234,446 -36,923 -272,580 -13,345 -557,294

eur 1,000 
maturities of financial liabilities at 31 dec 2010 less than 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years over 5 years total

Derivatives
fX forward contracts, outflow -1,390 -1,390
fX forward contracts, inflow 852 852
interest rate swaps, outflow -4,845 -4,998 -9,230 -2,981 -22,054
interest rate swaps, inflow 2,362 2,406 3,518 1,135 9,421

derivatives, net -3,020 -2,592 -5,712 -1,846 -13,170

accounts payable and other non-interest bearing liabilities -100,984 -100,984
borrowings (excl. finance lease liabilities) -36,787 -13,464 -260,124 -310,375
finance lease liabilities -36,567 -26,276 -44,850 -13,865 -121,558
repurchase liabilities -890 -72 -1,257 -610 -2,829

total -175,228 -39,812 -306,231 -14,475 -535,746

eur 1,000 2011 2010

interest-bearing liabilities 411,932 404,345
cash and cash equivalents -22,532 -22,313

net interest-bearing liabilities 389,400 382,032

total equity 494,802 368,203

Gearing, % 78.7 103.4 

cApitAl structure   
The Group’s objectives when managing capital structure are to safeguard 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain the 
optimum capital structure. The targets for capital structure are determined 
by the board of Directors. The Group’s treasury regularly monitors the 
development of the capital structure. in april, cramo carried out a rights 
offering, which yielded EUr 97.4 million in new equity after expenses.

consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on 
the basis of the gearing ratio. Gearing is calculated as the ratio of interest-
bearing liability to total equity. During 2011 one of the essential targets of 
the Group was to further decrease the gearing ratio. This target was met 
(gearing at 31 December 2011 78.7%, 31 December 2010 103.4%).

The net interest-bearing liability of the Group at 31 December 2011 
totalled EUr 389.4 million, while at 31 December 2010 EUr 382.0 million.

net debt and gearing are represented in the table beside.
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Deferred tax liability has not been recognised on Estonian undistributed 
earnings because distribution is in the control of the Group and such 
distribution is not probable within foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets arising from tax loss carried forward of EUr 1,523 
(4,766) thousand have not been recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements in respect of subsidiaries that are currently making loss. as for 
the subsidiaries that are expected to return to black, deferred tax assets 
have been recognised to the extent that the realisation of the related 
tax benefit through future profits is probable. of this amount, EUr 167 
thousand expires year 2014 and the remainder thereafter.

eur 1,000  
other non-current liabilities 2011 2010

advances received 3,243 3,914
other non-current liabilities 127 293

total 3,369 4,207

16. other non-current liAbilities

17. trAde And other pAyAbles

eur 1,000 2011 2010

Trade payables 50,420 46,163
advances received 8,214 7,114
accrued expenses and deferred income 48,881 39,155
other current liabilities 8,970 8,552

total 116,485 100,984

Material items included in accrued expenses and deferred income consist 
of personnel expenses and periodised customer bonuses.

The management considers that the carrying amount of trade and 
other liabilities approximates their fair value.   
    
Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:
•  Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 

14–60 day terms
•  Other current liabilities are non-interest bearing and have an average 

term of three months
•  For explanations on the Group’s credit risk management processes, refer 

to note 14.

18. collAterAls And continGent liAbilities 

eur 1,000 2011 2010

collateral given on own behalf
Debts, secured by collateral

finance lease liabilities 110,227 114,552
collateral given

Pledges, finance lease 148,502 154,091
commitments, secured by collateral

construction and warranty guarantees 643 580
other contingent liabilities

contingent interest liability on  
hybrid capital* 4,022 4,044
investments 10,431 1,226

eur 1,000  
commitments to office and depot rents 2011 2010

Payable < 1 year from balance sheet date 26,795 22,052
Payable 1–5 years from balance sheet date 76,133 56,618
Payable > 5 years from balance sheet date 27,951 19,601

total 130,880 98,271

eur 1,000  
operational lease payments 2011 2010

Payable < 1 year from balance sheet date 22,976 21,712
Payable 1–5 years from balance sheet date 22,107 15,890

total 45,084 37,602

*)  In april 2009 Cramo Plc issued a EUr 50 million hybrid bond with a coupon rate of 12.0% 
per annum. The bond has no maturity but the company may call the bond after four years. 
obligation to pay cumulated interest to the investors comes into effect when the board 
declares payment of dividend.

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain vehicles and 
items of machinery. These leases have an average life of between three 
and five years. The maximum maturity of operational lease payments is 
five years. operational lease liabilities mainly have floating rates and are 
based on Euribor, stibor, nibor or cibor varying between 1 and 3 months.

15. deferred tAXes

eur 1,000 2011 2010

deferred tax assets
Tax losses carried forward 5,937 4,647
financial leases 8,306 9,977
fair value of hedging fund 1,677 420
Exchange rate difference of net investments 969 1,059
Derivative financial instruments 433 672
Elimination of internal profit 1,912 1,751
other temporary differences 2,012 1,653

total 21,246 20,179

deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation difference and other  
untaxed reserves 49,476 46,476
financial leases 9,601 9,931
Exchange rate difference of net investments 969 1,059
Derivative financial instruments 179 488
valuation of assets to fair value in  
business combinations 28,885 21,889
Unrealised exchange rate gains 0 1,689
other temporary differences 2,223 2,694

total 91,333 84,226

deferred tax liabilities net 70,087 64,047

reflected in the balance sheet as follows
Deferred tax asset 15,312 14,301
Deferred tax liabilities 85,399 78,348

deferred tax liabilities net 70,087 64,047

change in deferred tax liabilities and assets 
recognised in the balance sheet
Deferred tax liabilities net  
at beginning of the year 64,047 59,899
acquired and disposed subsidiaries 10,516 1,512
change in tax rates -390
other items recognised in  
the income statement -3,320 -3,799
items recognised in equity -1,257 387
Exchange rate differences 491 6,048

deferred tax liabilities net at year end 70,087 64,047

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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19. other operAtinG income

eur 1,000 2011 2010

capital gain on sale of tangible assets 4,772 12,875
rent on premises 810 615
income from insurance companies 691 21
income from education provided for customers 1,123 460
other income 1,646 1,139

total 9,042 15,110

20. mAteriAls And services

eur 1,000 2011 2010

Purchases -49,543 -29,774
External services -198,850 -153,705

total -248,393 -183,479

change in inventories of work in progress  
(-) decrease/(+) increase -425 1,015

Production for own use 10,302 4,694

22. depreciAtion And impAirment

eur 1,000 2011 2010

Depreciation of tangible assets -95,471 -81,529
Depreciation of intangible assets* -1,044 -865

total depreciation -96,515 -82,394

impairment of tangible assets -810 -538
impairment of assets available for sale -299 -213

depreciation and impairment related  
to tangible and intangible assets -97,624 -83,145

amortisation on intangible assets  
resulting from acquisitions -11,241 -7,089
impairment related to intangibles  
resulting from acquisitions -5,510

Amortisation and impairment  
resulting from acquisitions -16,751 -7,089

total depreciation,  
amortisation and impairment -114,375 -90,233

Depreciation of tangible assets -95,471 -81,529
Depreciation of intangible assets* -1,044 -865
amortisation of intangible assets  
resulting from acquisitions -11,241 -7,089

total depreciation and amortisation -107,756 -89,482

impairment of tangible assets -810 -538
impairment of assets available for sale -299 -213
impairment related to intangibles  
resulting from acquisitions -5,510

total impairment -6,619 -751

total depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment -114,375 -90,233

21. employee benefit eXpenses

eur 1,000 2011 2010

wages and salaries, including  
restructuring costs EUr 640 (2010: 1,073) -102,996 -76,091
social security costs -20,200 -15,218
share-based payment transaction expense -2,843 -2,312
Pension costs – defined contribution plans -9,711 -8,318

total -135,751 -101,939

Average number of personnel 2,580 2,083

The employee benefits of the Group’s management are disclosed in note 30 
and information concerning stock option plans are presented in note 28.

Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses increased by EUr 24.1 
million to EUr 114.4 (90.2) million in 2011. Depreciation increased by EUr 14.1 
million to EUr 96.5 (82.4) million mainly as a result of increased investments in 
rental machinery. amortisation of intangible assets resulting from acquisitions 
increased by EUr 4.2 million to EUr 11.2 (7.1) million as a result of business 
combinations made in 2010 and 2011. impairment losses increased by EUr 5.9 
million to EUr 6.6 (0.8) million mainly as a result of  an impairment loss of EUr 5.5 
million which was recorded on goodwill in Denmark. see impairment testing note 6.

*  Depreciation of intangible assets relates to depreciation of software and other intangibles, which 
are, among others, capitalised transport and assembly costs which are charged from customers 
and depreciated over the rental period.

During 2011, an impairment loss of EUr 810 (538) thousand was recorded on 
tangible assets. During 2011, an impairment loss of EUr 299 (213) thousand was 
recorded on assets available for sale.

23. other operAtinG eXpenses

eur 1,000 2011 2010

rent for premises -29,722 -22,579
other expenses for premises -13,802 -10,475
operational leases -30,203 -20,418
bad debts -5,565 -4,951
Marketing -9,375 -8,326
Temporary staff -12,695 -7,632
other personnel related expenses -10,625 -8,453
other administrative expenses -32,640 -25,220
capital loss on sale of tangible assets -1,345 -1,004
other expenses -822

total -145,971 -109,880

Audit fees
authorised Public accountants Ernst & Young
audit fees -710 -654
Tax consultation -180 -94
other services -906 -249

total -1,796 -997

other auditing firms -130
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26. other non-cAsh corrections

eur 1,000 2011 2010

capital gain on sale of tangible assets -4,772 -12,875
capital loss on sale of tangible assets 1,345 1,004
share-based payments 2,843 2,312

total -584 -9,558

25. income tAX eXpense

eur 1,000 2011 2010

current tax -11,848 -9,929
Tax from previous financial periods -140 -877
change in deferred taxes 3,320 3,799

total -8,668 -7,007

The difference between income taxes at the domestic tax rate in finland 
26% and income taxes recognised in the consolidated income statement 
is reconciled as follows:

Profit before tax 32,173 4,804

Tax calculated with  
domestic corporate tax rate -8,365 -1,249
foreign subsidiaries divergent tax rate +/- -687 -2,724
change in tax rates 390
non-taxable income -26 468
non-deductable expenses -2,587 -1,867
items not recognised in accounting 2,865 3,049
share based payments -739 -601
Tax losses for which no deferred income 
tax asset was recognised -1,523 -4,766
interest of hybrid capital 1,560 1,560
cost of rights issue 584
Tax from the previous financial periods -140 -877

taxes in income statement -8,668 -7,007

Group’s effective tax rate, % 26,9 145,9

Deferred taxes have been recalculated due to the following changes in tax 
rates: finland (2011: from 26% to 24.5%)

There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of 
dividends in either 2011 or 2010 by the Group to its shareholders.

27. eArninGs per shAre

2011 2010

profit/loss for the year attributable to 
equity holders of the parent company,  
eur 1,000 23,505 -2,142

number of shares
basic weighted average number of shares 
outstanding at the beginning of the year 30,343,901 30,343,901
avarage number of issued shares 
before the rights issue 1,136,051

weighted avarage number of shares 
outstanding before bonus elements  
and new issue of shares 31,479,952 30,343,901
bonus element1 1,014,884 3,252,969

weighted avarage number of shares 
outstanding before new issue of shares 32,494,837 33,596,870
avarage number of shares  
related to the rights issue 6,603,914

basic weighted average number  
of shares outstanding 39,098,751 33,596,870
Effect of options granted 281,776 1,406,840

diluted weighted average number  
of shares outstanding 39,380,527 35,003,710

Earnings per share from profit/loss 
attributable to equity holders of the parent 
company

basic, EUr 0,60 -0,06
Diluted, EUr 0,60 -0,06

basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable 
to the parent’s equity holders by the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by 
adjusting the weighted average number of all shares to assume conversion 
of all potentially dilutive shares. The Group operates a share option 
scheme with a dilutive affect, which increases the number of the shares. 
The share options have a dilutive affect when their exercise price is lower 
than the fair value of a share.

The dilutive effect is the number of the shares which has to be issued 
without consideration, because the Group could not use the assets received 
from the exercise of the share at fair value. The fair value of a share is 
based on the average share price during the period.

1)  The number of ordinary shares in issue in prior years have been adjusted retrospectively for 
the bonus element of the rights issue complemented in april 2011.   
      

24. finAnciAl income And eXpenses

eur 1,000 2011 2010

interest income on loans receivable and 
cash and cash equivalents 942 671
other financing income 273 62

financial income, total 1,215 733

interest expenses on financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost -13,626 -13,475
interest expenses on financial leases -4,941 -4,033
interest income and expenses on interest 
rate derivatives, cash flow hedges -1,292 -2,552
interest income and expenses on interest 
rate derivatives, non-hedge accounted -643 -1,083
change in fair value of interest rate 
derivatives, non-hedge accounted 13 645

change in fair value of foreign exchange rate 
derivatives, non-hedge accounted -116 -1,226
other exchange rate differences -392 1,125

arrangement and commitment fees 
relating to interest-bearing loans -2,079 -2,179
other financing expenses -309 -541

financial expenses, total -23,384 -23,318

net financial expenses -22,169 -22,586

in accordance with the Treasury Policy, the Group uses interest rate 
swaps as the hedging instruments designated as cash flow hedges. all 
terms of these hedges match with the terms of the hedged instrument 
(loan). hedges are effective and therefore no gains or losses arising from 
ineffectiveness have been recognised in net finance expenses during the 
period.

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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28. shAre-bAsed pAyments

in the end of the period cramo had option plans 2006, 2009, 2010 and 2011 
in operation. Under the plans the board of Directors is authorised to grant 
up to 5 milloin stock options to the key employees of cramo Group or to 
the subsidiary of cramo for future grants. The options are forfeited if the 

employee leaves the Group before the options vest. when the excercise 
period has commenced, the options can be freely transferred or exercised. 
Key characteristics and terms of cramo option schemes are listed in the 
table below.

options 
changes during the period 2010

stock 
options 

2009

stock 
options 

2010 total

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price in eur*

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
life, years

stock options 2006

2006A 2006b 2006c

1 Jan 2010
outstanding at the beginning of the 
period 694,000 820,000 949,500 955,000 3,418,500 13.40

changes during the period
Granted 1,000,000 1,000,000 14.79
forfeited 83,000 67,000 60,000 210,000 15.00
Exercised 142,191 142,191 13.16
Expired
weighted average share price, EUr 14.22 16.48 – – –

31 dec 2010
outstanding at the end of the period 551,809 737,000 882,500 895,000 1,000,000 4,066,309 13.66 2.31
Exercisable at the end of the period 551,809 737,000 1,288,809 20.29

*)  Exercise price in the beginning of the period is status at 31 December, 2009. Dividend adjustment has been taken into account during the period and exercise price is based on the status at 
31 December, 2010.

options
basic information

stock options 2006 stock options 
2009

stock options 
2010

stock options 
20112006A 2006b 2006c

Annual General shareholders' meeting date 20-nov-06 20-nov-06 20-nov-06 26-Mar-09 13-apr-10 24-Mar-11
Grant dates 21-Dec-06 14-nov-07 10-nov-08 2-nov-09 4-nov-10 oct-2011

27-feb-07 2-apr-08 21-Dec-09
12-May-08

Maximum number of stock options 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
The number of shares subscribed by one option* 1 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1
initial exercise price, EUr 14.51 26.47 5.56 11.06 14.79 7.3
Dividend adjustment Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Exercise price Dec. 31, 2009, EUr 13.16 25.62 5.36 11.06 – –
Exercise price Dec. 31, 2010, EUr 13.16 25.62 5.36 11.06 14.79 –
Exercise price Dec. 31, 2011, EUr* - 22.05 6.47 10.85 13.72 7.30
beginning of exercise period, date (vesting) 1-oct-09 1-oct-10 1-oct-11 1-oct-12 1-oct-13 1-oct-14
End of excercise period, date (expiration) 31-Jan-11 31-Jan-12 31-Jan-13 31-Dec-13 31-Dec-14 31-Dec-15
remaining contractual life Dec. 31, 2011, years – 0.1 1.1 2.0 3.0 4.0
number of persons Dec. 31, 2011 expired vested vested 98 111 119

*)  Based on a rights offering decided by the Board of Directors of Cramo on 24 march 2011, the Board of Directors has decided to amend the subscription price and subscription ratio of the 
Stock options 2006B, 2006C, 2009 and 2010 to ensure the equal treatment of stock option holders and shareholders and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Stock options.

options 
changes during the period 2011

stock 
options 

2009

stock 
options 

2010

stock 
options 

2011 total

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price in eur*

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
life, years

stock options 2006

2006A 2006b 2006c

1 Jan 2011
outstanding at the beginning of the 
period 551,809 737,000 882,500 895,000 1,000,000 4,066,309 13.66

changes during the period
Granted 964,000 964,000 7.30
forfeited 4,000 38,000 65,500 107,500 12.44
Exercised 551,809 2,000 553,809 13.14
Expired
weighted average share price, EUr 19.51 – 7.94 – – –

31 dec 2011
outstanding at the end of the period 737,000 876,500 857,000 934,500 964,000 4,369,000 11.69 2.15
Exercisable at the end of the period 737,000 876,500 1,613,500 13.59

*)  Exercise price in the beginning of the period is status at 31 December, 2010. Exercise price for the options forfeitured during the period is based on the status at 31 December, 2011. 
Exercise price for the options exercised during the period is based on the realised excercise price.
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most significant inputs in black–scholes model
Granted in 2011 Granted in 2010 Granted in 2009 Granted in 2008

2011 2010 2010 2006c 2006b 2006c

number of granted options 964,000 1,000,000 957,000 13,000 30,000 1,000,000
average price of share at grant date, EUr 7.3 16.56 10.90 11.02 15.86 5.4
subscription price, EUr* 7.3 14.79 11.06 5.36 26.25 5.6
interest rate, % 1.25 1.52 2.4 1.7 3.8 3.3 
Maturity, years* 3.5 4.0 3.5 2.6 3.8 4.2
volatility, %** 29 35 35 35 32 31 
Expected dividends, EUr*** 0 0 0 0 0 0
fair value totally, EUr 1,306,407 4,694,601 2,674,754 70,976 22,549 1,102,926

Determination of fair value
The fair value of options have been determined upon grant and the fair 
value is recognised to personnel expenses during the vesting period. The 
decision of the board of directors to grant stock options is considered as 
the grant period. The change in the share subscription ratio and share 
subscription price triggered by the rights offering in 2011, did not change 
the fair value of stock options due to changes being made according to 
the terms and conditions of the stock options and by ensuring the equal 
treatment of the stock options holders and shareholders, so that the 
changes equalled the change in the fair value of the company share. The 
fair value of stock options have been determined by using black–scholes 
valuation model. The most significant inputs used to estimate the fair value 

are presented on the table below. The total fair value of options granted 
during the year was EUr 1.31 million. The effect of all employee stock 
options on the company’s earnings in 2011 was EUr 2.84 million (2010: 
EUr 2.31 million) of which 2006c options accounted for EUr 0.31 million, 
2009 options accounted for EUr 0.88 million, 2010 options accounted for 
EUr 1.57 million and 2011 options accounted for EUr 0.08. illiquidity of 
the employee stock options secondary market has been taken into account 
in the stock options 2006 valuation: 90% of the theoretical b&s value is 
assumed to be realised. illiquidity discount of 10% will decreased the 
ifrs2 expense in 2009: EUr 0.75 million, in 2010: EUr 0.14 million and in 
2011: EUr 0.03 million.

    *)  It has been assumed that the options 2006C and onwards will be exercised steadily during 
the subscription period.

  **)  Volatility has been estimated on the basis of historical data during a five year period 
regarding the valuation of stock options 2006a and 2006B. regarding the stock options 
2006C and onwards historical data of 10 years is used to estimate expected volatility. 

Implied volatility has been taken into account, if available from other Cramo stock options 
trading upon grant.

***)  From the share subscription price of stock options will be deducted the amount of the 
dividend distributed annually. Thus expected dividends are not taken into account when 
estimating the fair value.

29. Joint ventures

eur 1,000 
net book value 1 Jan 2011 2010

business acquisitions (note 31) 26
share of net profit 22
Translation differences

net book value 31 dec 48

The Group has 50% share in a joint venture fellesutleie as. The company 
became part of the Group as a result of stavdal acquisition. The company 
operates in machinery rental in norway. The table below shows the 
joint venture’s assets, liabilities and income and expenses since the 
consolidation. fellesutleie as has been consolidated to the Group since 
30 June 2011. The joint venture is consolidated with equity mentod i.e. the 
joint venture’s net result is consolidated to the Group’s result before taxes.

Assets
non-current 728
current 100

total 828

liabilities
non-current 670
current 61

total 730

net assets 97

income 253
Expenses -208

net result 45

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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30. relAted pArty trAnsActions

eur 1,000 
executive remuneration 2011 2010

compensation to president and ceo
salaries, bonuses and fringe benefits 447 427
Post-employment benefits 84 84
share-based payments 299 243

total 830 754

compensation to the Group management team
salaries, bonuses and fringe benefits 2,022 1,583
Post-employment benefits 51 23
share-based payments 1,027 863

total 3,100 2,469

total compensation to president  
and ceo and other Group management 3,930 3,223

The value of share-based payments represents the ifrs 2 expense 
of the stock options held by the President and cEo and other Group 
management.

The retirement age for the President and cEo is 63 years. in addition 
to the statutory pension system, cramo offers a voluntary pension 
insurance for the President and cEo and for three Group management 
team members. The period of notice on the President and cEo’s executive 
contract is 6 months, during which time he receives a full salary. in case 
that the contract is terminated by the employer, there can additionally be a 
severance payment of 18 months salary. 

eur 1,000 
compensation to board members 2011 2010

stig Gustavson 72 63
J.T. bergqvist 38
helene biström 36
Eino halonen 50 45
victor hartwall 37 32
Jari lainio 37 33
Esko Mäkelä 40 35
fredrik cappelen 1 34
Thomas von hertzen 1 34
Erik hartwall 2
hannu Krogerus 1
Gunnar Glifberg 1

total 312 280

an amount of EUr 116 (100) thousand of the board fees has been paid in 
the form of cramo shares.

Related party transactions
Tatu hauhio, senior vice President of finland is a joint-owner of Kiinteistö 
oy hosionrinne, to which cramo paid real estate rents amounting to EUr 
1,551 (1,171) thousand in 2011.

The board of Directors of cramo Plc accepted during 2009 a new 
share ownership program for cramo’s Executive committee. as part 
of management incentive arrangement, cramo Plc granted to cramo 
Management oy an interest-bearing loan amounting to EUr 2.0 million 
to finance the acquisition of the cramo Plc shares. in the arrangement 
the loan was agreed to be repaid in full by 31 December 2012. cramo 
Management oy had an obligation to repay the loan prematurely by selling 
cramo Plc shares held by it in case the share price of the company other 
than temporarily exceeded a certain level determined in the arrangement. 
This condition was met on 14 february 2011.

in 2011 cramo Plc acquired all the shares in cramo Management oy 
from cramo Executive committee members through a share swap. To 
implement the share swap, the board of Directors of cramo Plc decided on 
a directed share issue in which the company offered, in derogation from 
the shareholders’ pre-emptive subscription rights, 220,488 new cramo 
Plc shares to the shareholders of cramo Management oy against share 
consideration (share swap). in the share swap, the shareholders of cramo 
Management oy conveyd the cramo Management oy shares they hold and 
received new cramo Plc shares in return.

in this arrangement, all the shares in cramo Management oy were 
transferred to cramo Plc. Through cramo Management oy, the company 
received 316,288 own cramo Plc shares as well as the company’s loan 
receivable from cramo Management oy. afterwards the intention is to 
merge cramo Management oy with cramo Plc through a subsidiary 
merger. in this connection the loan granted to cramo Management oy will 
be set off and the cramo Plc shares held by cramo Management oy will 
transfer to the company’s direct ownership.

loans to key management of the Group 

eur 1,000 2011 2010

1 Jan 2,087 2,027
amortisations during the period -2,000
accrued interest 8 60
Paid interest -95

31 dec 2,087

Loans to related parties
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31. business combinAtions

business combinAtions 2011

Theisen Baumaschinen AG   
on 11 January 2011 cramo announced that it has acquired Theisen Group. 
Theisen has some 280 employees and operates in Germany, austria, 
switzerland and hungary in 95 depots. Theisen Group was consolidated to the 
Group as of 1 february 2011. Theisen forms a new operating segment central 
Europe for cramo Group. Theisen Group is among the top-three providers of 
equipment rental services in Germany with a rental fleet consisting primarily 
of construction machinery, but also of access equipment and tools. in addition 
to equipment rental, the company carries out a smaller equipment trading 
operation.

Total purchase price for Theisen Group shares was EUr 45.9 million out 
of which EUr 38.6 million was paid in cash and EUr 7.3 million in cramo plc 
shares (374,532 shares). additionally the Group assumed net debt of EUr  
35.3 million. During 2011 Theisen contributed to the Group sales by EUr 71.2 
million and to the Group EbiTa by EUr 3.7 million. There were  EUr 2.1 million 
expenses related to acquisition of Theisen Group in the 2011. These expenses 
have not been allocated to any of the segments.

had the acquisition occurred on 1 January 2011, the Group’s sales 
would have increased by some EUr 2.9 million and EbiTa decreased by 
some EUr 1.7 million.

Tidermans Hyrmaskiner and Stavdal Utleiesenter  
The Group announced on 23 June 2011, that it had acquired norwegian 
stavdal Utleiesenter as and stavdal invest as (”stavdal”). The company 
has headquarters in oslo with a total of 25 employees. stavdal has a solid 
portfolio of small and medium-sized customers and is well established in 
the oslo region with 4 depots. stavdal  was consolidated to the Group under 
norway segment as of 30 June 2011.

The Group announced also on 23 June 2011, that it had acquired all 
shares in Tidermans hyrmaskiner ab and Tidermans hyrmec ab. The 
company has four depots in sweden’s second largest city Gothenburg and 
one depot in nearby falkenberg.  The company has 60 years history as a 
rental company during which it has gained strong market position in western 
sweden. Tidermans was consolidated to the Group under sweden segment 
as of 30 June 2011.

in 2010, the companies (stavdal and Tidermans) had together sales  
about EUr 21.1 million. The purchase price for the companies shares was 

eur 1,000 
purchase price

Total purchase price 45,914
fair value of the net assets acquired 35,968
Goodwill 9,946

acquisition resulted in a goodwill of EUr 9.9 million, which consists of 
expected synergy benefits, e.g. in purchasing operations and financing, as 
well as skilled personnel.

acquired assets and liabilities have been valued at fair value at the 
acquisition date. below is presented the carrying amount, fair value and fair 
value at balance sheet date’s exchange rates.

eur 1,000 
purchase price

Total purchase price 32,070
fair value of the net assets acquired 19,691
Goodwill 12,379

eur 1,000

fair value  
at balance sheet 

date's exchange rate
translation 
differences

fair value at 
acquisition date

Acquiree's  
carrying amount

Assets
non-current assets
brand 4,988 4,988
Depot network 15,839 15,839
non-competion agreement 591 591
Goodwill 9,946 9,946
software 385 385 385
Tangible assets 40,485 38 40,448 40,448
Deferred tax assets 1,823 1,823 1,823

total non-current assets 74,057 38 74,019 42,656

current assets
inventories 2,160 2 2,158 2,158
Trade and other receivables 14,937 14 14,923 14,923
cash and cash equivalents 7,017 6 7,011 7,011
assets available for sale 4,315 4 4,311 4,311

total current assets 28,429 26 28,403 28,403

totAl Assets 102,486 64 102,422 71,059

liAbilities
interest-bearing liabilities 42,346 39 42,307 42,307
Deferred tax liabilities 6,460 6,460
Pension liabilities 1,495 1 1,494 1,494
Trade and other payables 6,252 6 6,247 6,247

totAl liAbilities 56,553 46 56,507 50,048

net Assets 45,932 18 45,914 21,011

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs

EUr 32.1 million. additionally the Group assumed net debt of some EUr 
4.5 million as a result of acquisitions. During 2011 the acquired companies 
contributed to the Group sales by EUr 13.3 million and EbiTa by EUr 3.4 million. 
had the acquisition occurred on 1 January 2011, the Group’s sales would 
have increased by some EUr 12.5 million and EbiTa increased by some EUr 
1.1 million.
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eur 1,000 
purchase price

Total purchase price 32,425
fair value of the net assets acquired 31,525
Goodwill 900

business combinAtions 2010

During 2010 the Group concluded six business combinations. Total 
purchase price for the business combinations concluded in 2010 was 
EUr 32.4 million. During 2010 business combinations contributed to 
the Group sales by some EUr 3.0 million. Total unpaid amount for the 
business combinations made in 2010 was EUr 2.0 million at the year end. 
acquisition of svensk byggleasing and outsourcing agreement with frijo 
ab were made in sweden. in finland the Group made three outsourcings 
with lemminkäinen Group. Two of them were treated as business 
combinations. additionally the Group concluded one outsourcing in finland 
with lambertsson and at the same time extended frame agreement with 
Peab in sweden. in norway the Group made one business combination.

business combinations resulted in a goodwill of EUr 0.9 million, which 
is attributable mainly to synergy benefits expected from lemminkäinen 
outsourcing.

acquired assets and liabilities have been valued at fair value at the 
acquisition date. below is presented the carrying amount, fair value and fair 
value at balance sheet date’s exchange rates.

eur 1,000

fair value  
at balance sheet 

date's exchange rate
translation 
differences

fair value at 
acquisition date

Acquiree's  
carrying amount

Assets
non-current assets
customer relationship 2,637 75 2,562
brand 2,353 58 2,295
Depot network 4,067 67 4,000
non-competion agreement 1,432 30 1,402
Goodwill 12,686 307 12,379
Tangible assets 20,018 426 19,591 16,240
shares in joint venture 26 26 14

current assets
inventories 266 8 258 258
Trade and other receivables 4,955 107 4,849 4,849
cash and cash equivalents 484 4 480 480

totAl Assets 48,924 1,082 47,842 21,840

liAbilities
interest-bearing liabilities 5,025 46 4,979 4,979
Deferred tax liabilities 5,770 133 5,637 2,001
Trade and other payables 5,267 112 5,155 5,155

totAl liAbilities 16,062 291 15,771 12,135

net Assets 32,862 791 32,070 9,704

eur 1,000

fair value  
at balance sheet 

date's exchange rate
translation 
differences

fair value at 
acquisition date

Acquiree's  
carrying amount

Assets
customer relationship 13,172 107 13,065
Goodwill 900 900
Tangible assets 18,649 117 18,531 16,831
Trade and other receivables 419 8 411 411
cash and cash equivalents 2,857 119 2,738 2,738

total assets 35,997 352 35,645 19,980

liAbilities
Deferred tax liabilities 1,512 33 1,479
interest-bearing liabilities 1,478 26 1,452 1,452
Trade and other payables 294 5 288 288

total liabilities 3,284 64 3,220 1,740

net assets 32,713 288 32,425 18,240

Unpaid amount of the purchase price at the end of 2010 2,000

business combinations resulted in a goodwill of EUr 12.4 million, which 
consists of expected synergy benefits, e.g. gross selling to existing 
customers,  optimisation of depot network in transport, repairs and also 
skilled employees.

acquired assets and liabilities have been valued at fair value at the 
acquisition date. below is presented the carrying amount, fair value and 
fair value at balance sheet date’s exchange rates.
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34.  notificAtions reGArdinG chApter 2,  
section 9 And 10 in AccordAnce  
With the securities mArKet Act

on 27 april 2011, cramo Plc received a notification according to which the 
combined share of the following companies and individuals of cramo Plc 
shares and voting rights had on 26 april 2011 fallen below one-quarter: 
hartwall capital oy (15.67%), K. hartwall invest oy (6.59%) and Kusinkapital 
ab, Gustav Tallqvist, Pinewood invest oÜ, christel hartwall, Pallas capital 
oy, fyrklöver-invest oy ab, antonia hartwall, Emma hartwall, axel hartwall, 
Gulle Therman, Josefina Tallqvist, victor hartwall, Peter Therman and Mats 
Therman. at the time of the announcement, the combined holding of the 
parties listed above was 10,001,681 shares or 24.14% of cramo Plc shares 
and votes.

35. cAlculAtion of the Key fiGures And rAtios

Key fiGures on finAnciAl performAnce: 

return on equity, %
 Profit for the period   =

 Total equity (average)   
x 100

return on investment, %
 Profit before taxes + interest and other financial expenses          =

 balance sheet total – non-interest-bearing liabilities (average)   
x 100

equity ratio, %
 Total equity                                                                     =

 balance sheet total – advance payments received   
x 100

net interest-bearing liabilities
= interest-bearing liabilities – cash and cash equivalents

Gearing, %
 net interest-bearing liabilities  =

 Total equity                                   
x 100

personnel on average
= The average number of employees at the end of each calendar month  
 during the accounting period, adjusted with the number of part-time  
 employees   
   
 
per-shAre rAtios:   
    
earnings per share (eps)   
 net income attributable to the shareholders of the parent company =

 average number of issue-adjusted shares during the period   
   
shareholders’ equity per share   
 shareholders’ equity                                                                    =

 number of issue-adjusted shares at the end of the period   
    
dividend per share   
 Dividend distribution for the period                                           =

 number of issue-adjusted shares at the end of the period   
    
dividend per earnings, %   
 Dividend per share    =

 Earnings per share   
x 100

   
    
effective dividend yield, %   
 Dividend per share                                                              =

 issue-adjusted closing price at the end of the period   
x 100

   
   
price/earnings ratio (p/e)   
 issue-adjusted closing price at the end of the period   =

 Earnings per share   
    
market capitalisation   
= number of shares at the end of the period x closing price at the end  
 of the period33. events After bAlAnce sheet dAte

The 2,600 new shares subscribed for under the stock option rights 2006c 
in December were registered in the trade register on 13 January 2012, 
and trading in them began on 16 January 2012.  as a result of the share 
subscriptions, the number of cramo Plc shares increased to 41,441,686. 

32. pension obliGAtions

eur 1,000 2011 2010

liabilities in the balance sheet
Pension benefits 1,448

total 1,448

The Group has pension plans in Germany which are considered defined 
benefit plans. The pension obligations transferred to the Group as part of 
Theisen acquisition. The pension obligations are directly at the Group’s 
own responsibility. The defined benefit plan applies to already retired 
employees of Theisen Group. There are no funded assets for the pension 
obligations. 

Present value of unfunded obligations 1,448
fair value of plan assets
Unrecognised actuarial gains and losses

total 1,448

Defined benefit obligation has change during the period as follows:

net book value at 1 Jan

obligations acquired through  
business combinations (note 31) 1,494
benefits paid -134
interest cost 64
actuarials gains (-) / losses (+) 25

net book value at 31 dec 1,448

Expense in the income statement has been defined as follows:

interest cost 64

total 64

The principal assumtions used in determining pension benefit obligations 
for the Group’s plans are shown below:

Discount rate, % 4.90
Expected salary increase rate, % 0.00
Expected pension increase rate, % 2.00

in sweden the iTP pension plans operated by alecta are multi-employer 
benefit plans. it has not been possible to receive sufficient information 
for the calculation of obligation and assets by employer from alecta and 
due to that the plan has been treated as a defined contribution plan in the 
financial statements. in addition, the Group has defined benefit plans in 
norway which are not significant and those plans are considered to be 
treated as defined contribution plans.

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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36. shAres And shAreholders

2011 2010
no eur 1,000 no eur 1,000

shares 41,439,086 24,835 30,660,189 24,835

all shares are issued, registered and fully paid. Each share entitles  
the holder to one vote.

major shareholders 31 dec 2011
number  

of shares %
voting  
rights %

hartwall capital oy ab 6,491,702 15.67 6,491,702 15.67 
K. hartwall invest oy 2,232,000 5.39 2,232,000 5.39 
rakennusmestarien säätiö (construction engineers' fund) 2,129,422 5.14 2,129,422 5.14 
Mariatorp oy 1,400,000 3.38 1,400,000 3.38 
wipunen varainhallinta oy 850,000 2.05 850,000 2.05 
odin finland 843,188 2.03 843,188 2.03 
nordea nordenfund 773,530 1.87 773,530 1.87 
fondita nordic Micro cap 640,000 1.54 640,000 1.54 
investment fund aktia capital 457,458 1.10 457,458 1.10 
fennia life insurance company ltd 401,500 0.97 401,500 0.97 
nordea life assurance finland ltd 400,000 0.97 400,000 0.97 
Kusinkapital ab 393,800 0.95 393,800 0.95 
rakennusmestarit ja -insinöörit aMK rKl ry 391,220 0.94 391,220 0.94 
arrex beteiligungs-Gmbh 374,532 0.90 374,532 0.90 
cramo Management oy 316,288 0.76 316,288 0.76 
ilmarinen Mutual Pension insurance company 288,931 0.70 288,931 0.70 
savings bank finland fund 287,958 0.69 287,958 0.69 
oP-Delta fund 280,000 0.68 280,000 0.68 
oP-finland value fund 265,000 0.64 265,000 0.64 
sijoitusrahasto Taaleritehdas arvo Markka osake 250,000 0.60 250,000 0.60 
nordea avanti fund 247,328 0.60 247,328 0.60 
Mutual fund Evli finnish Equity 199,705 0.48 199,705 0.48 
fondita Equity spice 184,500 0.45 184,500 0.45 
helsingin rakennusmestarit ja -insinöörit aMK ry 173,973 0.42 173,973 0.42 
Mutual fund Evli select 169,000 0.41 169,000 0.41 
other 13,522,130 32.63 13,522,130 32.63 
nominee registered 7,467,002 18.02 7,467,002 18.02 

Transferred to book-entry securities system total 41,430,167 99.98 41,430,167 99.98 
not transferred to book-entry securities system total 8,919 0.02 8,919 0.02 

total 41,439,086 100.00 41,439,086 100.00 

distribution of shareholding by size range 31 dec 2011 
number of shares

number of 
shareholders

% of  
shareholders

number  
of shares

% of  
share capital

1–100 1,626 18.85 92,545 0.22 
101–1000 5,043 58.47 2,004,248 4.84 
1001–10 000 1,748 20.27 4,627,072 11.17 
10 001–100 000 165 1.91 5,156,104 12.44 
100 001–500 000 32 0.37 6,924,296 16.71 
500 001– 11 0.13 22,625,902 54.60 

Transferred to book-entry securities system total 8,625 100.00 41,430,167 99.98 
not transferred to book-entry securities system total 8,919 0.02 

total 41,439,086 100.00 

distribution of shareholding by sector 31 dec 2011 
shareholding by sector

number of 
shareholders

 % of 
shareholders

number  
of shares

 % of share 
capital

number  
of votes

 % of  
votes

corporations 561 6.50 14,454,450 34.88 14,454,450 34.88 
financial and insurance companies 50 0.58 11,852,093 28.60 11,852,093 28.60 
General Government 13 0.15 529,781 1.28 529,781 1.28 
non-profit institutions 123 1.43 3,585,248 8.65 3,585,248 8.65 
households 7,837 90.86 8,555,689 20.65 8,555,689 20.65 
foreign shareholders 41 0.48 2,452,906 5.92 2,452,906 5.92 

Transferred to book-entry securities system total 8,625 100.00 41,430,167 99.98 41,430,167 99.98 
not transferred to book-entry securities system total 8,919 0.02 8,919 0.02 

total 41,439,086 100,00 41,439,086 100.00 

Shareholders
The Group had 8,625 shareholders in the share register as at 31 December 2011.
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Shareholding of Board members and CEO of the Group
on 31 December 2011, the board members, the President and cEo, and his 
Deputy held, either directly or through companies in which they exercise 
control, a total of 2,770,443 cramo Plc shares, representing 6.69% of the 
company’s shares and votes, and a total of 318,000 stock options.

Insider guidelines
cramo Plc observes the finnish corporate Governance code that entered 
into force on 1 october 2010. cramo Plc’s insider guidelines are based on 
the finnish securities Markets act, rules and regulations issued by the 
financial supervision authority, and the insider guidelines of the stock 
exchange. Euroclear finland ltd maintains an insider register of cramo 
Plc’s permanent insiders, whose holdings are also available on cramo 
Plc’s website.

domicile

% of shares

subsidiaries parent company Group

cramo a/s Glostrup Denmark 100
cramo as oslo norway 100
cramo as Estonia Tallinn Estonia 100
cramo finance nv antwerp belgium 99.9 100
cramo finland oy vantaa finland 63.3 100
cramo holding bv amsterdam netherlands 100
cramo instant ab sollentuna sweden 100
cramo Jv oy vantaa finland 100
cramo Kaliningrad ooo Kaliningrad russia 100
cramo new holding ab sollentuna sweden 100
cramo Management oy vantaa finland 100
cramo Production oy Ylöjärvi finland 100
cramo s.r.o. Prague the czech republic 100
cramo sK s.r.o. bratislava slovakia 100
cramo sverige ab sollentuna sweden 100
cramo Uab vilnius lithuania 100
construction vehicles Karvina s.r.o. Karvina the czech republic 100
sia cramo riga latvia 100
suomen Tähtivuokraus oy vantaa finland 100
cramo ab sollentuna sweden 100
cramo Dutch holding bv rotterdam netherlands 100
cramo scaffolding oy Kemi finland 100
cramo sp.zo.o warszawa Poland 100
Ehitustööriist oÜ Tallinn Estonia 100
Entreprenad Telearbeten ab sollentuna sweden 100
EUDaT verwaltungs Gmbh nuremberg Germany 100
EUDaT verwaltungs KG feldkirchen Germany 100
fastigheten Tändstiftet hb sollentuna sweden 100
hamar liftutleie as hamar norway 100
hans Eriksson förvaltnings ab stockholm sweden 100
Mupol förvaltnings ab stockholm sweden 100
stavdal Utleisenter as oslo norway 100
Theisen baumaschinen aG feldkirchen Germany 100
Theisen baumaschinen handels Gmbh Munich Germany 100
Theisen baumaschinen handels KG feldkirchen Germany 100
Theisen baumaschinen international Gmbh feldkirchen Germany 100
Theisen baumaschinen Mietpark Gmbh Munich Germany 100
Theisen baumaschinen Mietpark Gmbh regensdorf switzerland 100
Theisen baumaschinen Mietpark KG feldkirchen Germany 100
Theisen Épitöipari Munkagép Kölcsönzö Kft. budapest hungary 100
Theisen Mietpark baumaschinen Gmbh wien austria 100
Theisen Mietpark baumaschinen KG wien austria 100
Tidermans hyrmaskiner ab Gothenburg sweden 100
Tidermans hyrmec ab Gothenburg sweden 100
Zao cramo st. Petersburg russia 100
Zao cramo rus Moscow russia 100

The Group has ownership in the following joint venture. see more in note joint ventures.

domicile

% of shares

Joint ventures parent company Group

fellesutleie as oslo norway 50

37. Group compAnies

The Group consists of cramo Plc and the following subsidiaries.  
There are no associated companies in the Group.

noTEs To ThE consoliDaTED financial sTaTEMEnTs
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balance sheet  
of the parent company (fas)

eUr 1,000 note 31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

assets
non-current assets
Intangible assets 11 8 23
tangible assets 11 1,087 847
Investments

shares in Group companies 11 584,206 546,346
shares in other companies 11 119 119

non-current receivables 12 89,368 58,206

total non-current assets 674,788 605,540

current assets
current receivables 13 91,362 66,761
cash and cash equivalents 7,667 8,311

total current assets 99,029 75,071

total assets 773,817 680,612

eQUIty anD lIabIlItIes
equity
share capital 14 24,835 24,835
share premium 14 3,331 3,331
share issue 14 17 1,871
Invested unrestricted equity 14 116,043
retained earnings 14 31,463 35,063
profit/loss of the period 14 12,711 -437

total equity 188,399 64,663

appropriations 15 58 47

liabilities
non-current liabilities 16 454,448 483,230
current liabilities 16 130,911 132,671

total liabilities 585,359 615,901

total eQUIty anD lIabIlItIes 773,817 680,612
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Income statement  
of the parent company (fas)

eUr 1,000 note 1 Jan–31 Dec 2011 1 Jan–31 Dec 2010

revenue 2 1,318 1,179

other operating income 3 104 31

personnel expenses 4 -3,147 -2,741
Depreciation and amortisations 5 -104 -92
other operating expenses 7 -10,129 -5,325

operating loss -11,958 -6,949

financial income 8 39,212 65,475
financial expenses 8 -46,193 -66,115

total financial income and expenses -6,981 -640

loss before extraordinary items -18,939 -7,589

extraordinary income and expenses 9 31,661 7,147

profit/loss before appropriations and taxes 12,722 -442

appropriations 6 -11 5
Income taxes 10

profit/loss for the year 12,711 -437
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cash flow statement  
of the parent company (fas)

eUr 1,000 1 Jan–31 Dec 2011 1 Jan–31 Dec 2010

cash flow from operating activites
profit/loss before tax 12,722 -442
non-cash adjustments 

Depreciation 104 92
financial income and expenses 6,981 640
other non-cash corrections 184 475
extraordinary items -32,154 -15,150

operating loss before change in working capital -12,163 -14,385

change in working capital1 20,192 -854

cash generated from operations 8,029 -15,239

taxes paid 1,907
Dividends received 20,079 22,251
Interest received 5,149 14,320
Interest and other financial expenses paid -27,595 -48,712

net cash flow from operating activities 5,662 -25,474

cash flow from investing activities
Investments in tangible and intangible assets -301 -4
sale of  tangible and intangible assets 0
acquisition of subsidiaries -40,330 -42,170
non-current loans granted -32,769
proceeds from repayments of non-current loans 1,616 40,297
current loans granted -10,220
proceeds from repayments of current loans 23,479

cash flow used in investing activities -58,525 -1,877

cash flow from financing activities
proceeds from issue of share capital 99,644
proceeds from share options exercise 7,279 1,871
proceeds from non-current liabilities 256,779
payment of non-current liabilities -27,543 -251,862
proceeds from current liabilities 191,554 173,265
payment of current liabilities -215,804 -150,029
Dividends paid -3,162

net cash flow from financing activities 51,968 30,025

change in cash and cash equivalents -895 2,674
cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 8,311 5,887
exchange rate difference 251 -251

cash and cash equivalents at year end 7,667 8,311

1) change in working capital
Increase (-)/decrease (+) in short-term receivables 20,197 -1,208
Increase (+)/decrease (-) in short-term non-interest bearing liabilities -5 354

total 20,192 -854

cash flow statement of the parent company
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1. accoUntInG prIncIples

Measurement of property, plant and equipment
property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, including fixed 
manufacturing costs less depreciation according to plan. maintenance 
and repair costs are recognised as expenses in the year in which they are 
incurred.

Depreciation according to plan is calculated, based on Group-wide 
principles, on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the 
assets.

Depreciation according to plan is as follows:
buildings and structures 15–50 years
machinery and equipment  3–6 years
other tangible assets 10 years
Intangible assets 5 years

Items denominated in foreign currencies
assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than those of the 
euro zone are translated into euros at the exchange rates prevailing at the 
date of the transactions. exchange gains and losses are recognised through 
profit and loss.

Appropriations
the accumulated difference between planned and book depreciation is 
shown under appropriations. 

Deferred taxes
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not entered into the company’s 
balance sheet. Deferred tax liabilities and assets significant to the company 
are disclosed in the notes.

Revenue and revenue recognition
revenue consists of service charges to subsidiaries. sales are recognised 
on an accrual basis. In calculating revenue, sales are recorded net of 
indirect taxes, discounts and rebates.

Other operating income
other operating income includes, among other things, rental income and 
contributions received as well as gain/loss from mergers. other operating 
income is recognised on an accrual basis. 

Pension schemes
pensions are accounted as expense for the period they incurred. there 
are no uncovered pension liabilities. the pension scheme is based on 
pension insurance in compliance with the employees’ pensions act and 
the employment pensions fund. the contractual retirement age for the 
president and ceo is 63 years.

Extraordinary items
extraordinary items include income and expenses which are based on 
material and non-frequent transactions departing from ordinary business 
or changes of accounting policies as well as received and given Group 
contributions. 

Valuation of financial derivative instruments
financial instruments are measured according to accounting act 5:2§, at 
the lower of acquisition cost and net realisable value.

Income taxes
Income taxes for the financial year and the previous financial years are 
recognised through taxes in profit and loss.

2.sales by GeoGraphIcal seGments

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

service charges
finland 119 102
sweden 293 231
norway 80 72
Denmark 49 41
eastern europe 777 732

total 1,318 1,179

4. personnel eXpenses

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

wages and salaries -2,520 -2,204
pensions -508 -447
other statutory employer contributions -119 -90

total -3,147 -2,741

average number of personnel
clerical personnel 23 22

executive remuneration
wages and salaries with fringe benefits

president and ceo -447 -427
management team -616 -516
board members -312 -280

total -1,375 -1,222

3. other operatInG Income

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

rental of premises 22 22
other 82 8

total 104 31

5. DeprecIatIon anD amortIsatIon

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

amortisation according to plan on  
intangible assets -15 -15
Depreciation according to plan on  
tangible assets -89 -77

total -104 -92

6. approprIatIons

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

Depreciation difference, increase (-)/
decrease (+):
machinery and equipment -11 5

total -11 5

parent company notes to the 
fInancIal statements (fas)
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7. other operatInG eXpenses

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

Investor relations -2,188 -331
expert services -4,025 -1,903
Intra-Group services -2,351 -1,896
other administrative expenses -1,564 -1,196

total -10,129 -5,325

audit fees
authorised public accountants ernst&young oy
audit fees -94 -105
tax consultation -95 -15
other services -978 -106

total -1,167 -227

8. net fInancIal Items

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

Dividend income
from Group companies 20,079 22,251
from others 0 0

total dividend income 20,079 22,251

Interest income 
from Group companies 6,694 5,608
from others 253 126

total interest income 6,948 5,734

Interest expenses
to Group companies -7,072 -4,988
to others -20,633 -22,227

total interest expenses -27,705 -27,215

other financial expences
to Group companies
to others -11,845 -2,254

total financial expenses -11,845 -2,254

exchange gains and losses
to Group companies 5,343 8,598
to others 199 -7,755

total exchange gains and losses 5,542 844

net financial items -6,981 -640

cramo finance nV is cramo Group’s finance company having as key 
objective to provide liquidity to Group’s subsidiaries, while cramo plc still 
manages Group’s financial risks.

according to service level agreement between cramo finance nV and 
cramo plc, the foreign exchange gains/losses recognised in cramo finance 
nV resulting from loans receivable in foreign currencies will be credited 
or debited to/from cramo plc, which has respectively recognised foreign 
exchange losses/gains from hedging the foreign exchange risk of these 
loans receivable.

the routine profitability level for cramo finance nV has been determined 
by setting limits for its return on equity. the gains or losses exceeding the 
limits will be credited or debited to/from cramo plc to safeguard reasonable 
compensation to finance company for the services provided.

9. eXtraorDInary Items

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

Group contributions received 32,154 15,150
monetary contribution given to subsidiary -492 -8,003

total extraordinary items 31,661 7,147

10. Income taXes

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

current tax 8,360 3,939
taxes on extraordinary income -8,360 -3,939

total

11. non-cUrrent assets

tanGIble assets  
eUr 1,000 land

buildings and 
structures

machinery and
equipment

other
tangible assets

total
tangible assets

acquisition cost at 1 Jan 2011 339 40 94 557 1,031
additions 168 161 329
acquisition cost at 31 Dec 2011 339 40 262 719 1,360
accumulated depreciation -20 -55 -109 -184
Depreciation for the financial year 2011 -5 -22 -62 -89

net book value at 31 Dec 2011 339 15 185 548 1,087

acquisition cost at 1 Jan 2010 339 40 90 557 1,027
additions 4 4
acquisition cost at 31 Dec 2010 339 40 94 557 1,031
accumulated depreciation -15 -36 -55 -107
Depreciation for the financial year 2010 -5 -18 -54 -77

net book value at 31 Dec 2010 339 20 39 448 847
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for shares and shareholdings, see consolidated financial statements in note 37.

IntanGIble assets 
  
eUr 1,000

Intangible  
assets

total 
intangible 

assets

acquisition cost at 1 Jan 2011 76 76
additions 1 1
acquisition cost at 31Dec 2011 77 77
accumulated amortisations -53 -53
amortisation for the financial year 2011 -15 -15

net book value at 31 Dec 2011 8 8

acquisition cost at 1 Jan 2010 76 76
acquisition cost at 31 Dec 2010 76 76
accumulated amortisations -38 -38
amortisation for the financial year 2010 -15 -15

net book value at 31 Dec 2010 23 23

Investments 
  
eUr

shares 
in Group 

companies

shares 
in other 

companies
total  

investments

2011
acquisition cost at 1 Jan 2011 546,346 119 546,465
additions 47,596 47,596
Disposals -9,735 -9,735

net book value at 31 Dec 2011 584,206 119 584,325

2010
acquisition cost at 1 Jan 2010 493,472 120 493,592
additions 52,873 52,873
Disposals 0 0

net book value at 31 Dec 2010 546,346 119 546,465

13. cUrrent receIvables

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

from Group companies
loan receivables 87,405 44,470
accounts receivables 390 181
prepaid expenses and accrued income 3,183 19,832

from others
other receivables 130 2,039
prepaid expenses and accrued income 254 239

total 91,362 66,761

prepaid expenses and accrued income
from Group companies
accrued interest 2,651 3,309
other prepaid expences and accrued income 532 16,523

from others
prepaid taxes 6 24
other prepaid expences and accrued income 248 216

total 3,437 20,071

12. non-cUrrent receIvables

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

from Group companies
loan receivables 86,354 52,188

from others
loan receivables 2,000
prepaid expences and accrued income 3,014 4,018

total 89,368 58,206

15. approprIatIons

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

accumulated depreciation difference 58 47

14. eQUIty

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

share capital 24,835 24,835
share issue 17 1,871
share premium fund 3,331 3,331
Invested unrestricted equity 116,043

retained earnings at 1 Jan 22,007 22,444
reduction of par value 12,619 12,619
Dividend distribution -3,163

retained earnings at 31 Dec 31,463 35,063

profit/loss for the year 12,711 -437

total equity 188,399 64,663

Distributable funds
retained earnings at 31 Dec 31,463 35,063
profit/loss for the year 12,711 -437
Invested unrestricted equity 116,043

total 160,217 34,626

share capItal

2011 2010
no. eUr no. eUr

share capital 41,439,086 24,834,753.09 30,660,189 24,834,753.09

Option rights
option right details issued by the company and the board of Directors are 
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

accUmUlateD DeprecIatIon DIfference 
eUr 1,000 2011 2010

machinery and equipment 
accumulated difference in total depreciation and depreciation according to plan at 1 Jan. 47 52
Increase/decrease in accumulated depreciation difference for the period of 1 Jan–31 Dec. 11 -5
accumulated difference in total depreciation and depreciation according to plan at 31 Dec. 58 47

change in depreciation difference of machinery and equipment 1 January–31 December 
includes depreciation difference received through mergers.  
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16. lIabIlItIes

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

non-current liabilities
hybrid bond 50,000 50,000
loans from credit institutions 234,866 264,495
loans from Group companies 169,582 168,735

total 454,448 483,230

current liabilities
to Group companies
liabilities to Group companies 54,304 94,502
accounts payables 367 334
accrued liabilities and deferred income 7,902 5,702

total 62,573 100,538

to others
loans from credit institutions 2,543
accounts payables 86 131
accrued liabilities and deferred income 1,844 8,282
commercial papers 63,576 23,447
other current liabilities 290 272

total 68,338 32,132

total current liabilities 130,911 132,671

total liabilities 585,359 615,901

non-Interest bearInG anD  
Interest bearInG lIabIlItIes

non-current
Interest bearing 454,448 483,230

total 454,448 483,230

current
Interest bearing 120,422 110,196
non-interest bearing 10,489 22,475

total 130,911 132,671

accrUeD lIabIlItIes anD  
DeferreD Income

to Group companies
Interest expenses 4,704 4,132
other accruals 3,198 1,571

to others
Interest expenses 661 549
personnel expenses 780 620
Unrealised exchange rate gains  
for non-current loans 6,497
Unrealised interest rate swap agreements 149 135
other accruals 254 481

total 9,746 13,984

17. other notes

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

contInGent lIabIlIty  
off-balance sheet

accrued interest of hybrid bond 4,022 4,044

hybrid bond is presented in consolidated 
financial statements, see note 18 

collateral anD  
contInGent lIabIlItIes

Guarantees given on own behalf
Debts, secured by collateral

loans from credit institutions (used 31 Dec)
loans and overdraft limits (unused 31 Dec) 128,074

total amount of credit facility 128,074

other contingent liabilities
leasing liabilities in the following year 129 113
subsequent leasing liabilities 124 106

leasing liabilities are 3–4 year contracts 
without redemption clauses.

rental liabilities in the following year 1,707 1,653
subsequent rental liabilities 9,106 10,470

rental liabilities of business premises are  
10-year contracts without redemption clauses.

Guarantees given on behalf of the Group
securities given 38,997 53,597

18. Interest rate DerIvatIves

2011 2010

eUr 1,000
notional 

value fair value
notional 

value fair value

Interest rate swap 181,645 -6,775 181,331 -375
positive fair value 1,925 1,053
negative fair value -8,700 -1,428

19. cUrrency DerIvatIves

2011 2010

eUr 1,000
notional 

value fair value
notional 

value fair value

forward contracts 202,932 -1,107 177,380 -1,028
positive fair value 730 825
negative fair value -1,837 -1,853

financial derivarive agrements of parent company which are valid at the 
closing date, will mature during financial years 2012–2018.

financial derivative instruments consist of interest rate derivatives 
and currency derivatives. the forward exchange agreements designate as 
hedges of cash flow changes in foreign currency. Interest rate swaps are 
recognised under hedge accounting. the effects of hedge instruments are 
recognised in the income statement as an adjustment to interest expenses 
which are based on the hedged item.

20. DeferreD taXes

eUr 1,000 2011 2010

Deferred tax asset from currency derivates 478 482
Deferred tax asset from interest rate derivatives 2,262 371
Deferred tax liability from depreciation difference -15 -12
Deferred tax liability from currency derivatives -190 -215
Deferred tax liability from interest rate derivatives -501 -274

total 2,034 352

parent company notes to the fInancIal statements
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sIGnatUres
signatures

Vantaa, 13 february 2012

Stig Gustavson Eino Halonen J.T. Bergqvist Helene Biström 

Victor Hartwall Jari Lainio Esko Mäkelä Vesa Koivula   
    President and CEO

aUDItor’s report
to the annUal General 
meetInG of cramo plc
we have audited the accounting records, 
the financial statements, the report of the 
board of Directors, and the administration 
of cramo plc for the financial period 1.1. 
–31.12.2011. the financial statements 
comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position, income statement, 
statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and 
statement of cash flows, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, as well 
as the parent company’s balance sheet, 
income statement, cash flow statement 
and notes to the financial statements.

responsIbIlIty of the  
boarD of DIrectors anD  
the manaGInG DIrector
the board of Directors and the managing 
Director are responsible for the 
preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with International financial 
reporting standards (Ifrs) as adopted 
by the eU, as well as for the preparation 
of financial statements and the report of 
the board of Directors that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with the laws and 
regulations governing the preparation of 
the financial statements and the report 
of the board of Directors in finland. the 
board of Directors is responsible for the 
appropriate arrangement of the control 
of the company’s accounts and finances, 
and the managing Director shall see to 
it that the accounts of the company are 
in compliance with the law and that its 
financial affairs have been arranged in a 
reliable manner.

aUDItor’s responsIbIlIty
our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the financial statements, on the 
consolidated financial statements and on 
the report of the board of Directors based 
on our audit. the auditing act requires 
that we comply with the requirements of 
professional ethics. we conducted our 
audit in accordance with good auditing 
practice in finland. Good auditing practice 
requires that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements and the 
report of the board of Directors are free 
from material misstatement, and whether 
the members of the board of Directors 
of the parent company or the managing 
Director are guilty of an act or negligence 
which may result in liability in damages 
towards the company or have violated the 
limited liability companies act or the 
articles of association of the company. 

an audit involves performing procedures 
to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements 
and the report of the board of Directors. the 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation of 
financial statements and report of the board 
of Directors that give a true and fair view in 
order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the company’s internal 
control. an audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements and the report of the 
board of Directors. 

we believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
 
opInIon on the consolIDateD 
fInancIal statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position, financial performance, 
and cash flows of the Group in accordance 
with International financial reporting 
standards (Ifrs) as adopted by the eU. 

opInIon on the company’s 
fInancIal statements anD  
the report of the boarD  
of DIrectors  
In our opinion, the financial statements and 
the report of the board of Directors give a 
true and fair view of both the consolidated 
and the parent company’s financial 
performance and financial position in 
accordance with the laws and regulations 
governing the preparation of the financial 
statements and the report of the board 
of Directors in finland. the information 
in the report of the board of Directors is 
consistent with the information in the 
financial statements. 

Vantaa, february 17, 2012

ernst & young oy
authorized public accountant firm

Erkka Talvinko 
authorized public accountant
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shareholders who wish to attend the aGm 
must be registered on 13 march 2012 in the 
company’s shareholders’ register held by 
euroclear finland ltd. shareholders shall 
also give prior notice of their attendance to 
the company by 19 march 2012 at 6.00 pm. 
such notice can be given:
•	 on the company website:  

www.cramo.com
•	 calling +358 10 661 1242  

(mon–fri 8 am–6 pm)
•	 faxing to +358 10 661 1298
•	 writing to cramo plc,  

“annual General meeting”, 
Kalliosolantie 2, fI-01740 Vantaa 

any proxy documents should be 
delivered in the originals before the final 
date for registration. If shareholders wish 
to bring up a matter for consideration by 
the General meeting of shareholders, they 
must present the matter in writing to the 
board of Directors at the latest four weeks 
before the publication of the notice in order 
for the matter to be included in the notice 
convening the meeting.

DIvIDenD payment
the board proposes a dividend of eUr 0.30 
per share for the financial year 2011. 

chanGes In share capItal
as a result of share subscriptions based 
on stock options 2006a, a directed share 
issue in connection with the acquisition of 
theisen baumaschinen aG and a rights 
offering of some eUr 100 million, as well 
as a share swap in which cramo acquired 
all of the shares in cramo management 
oy, the number of cramo plc’s shares was 
increased to 41,439,086 shares in 2011. 
→  pages 84 and 94–96.

InformatIon to shareholDers

aNNUaL  
GENEraL mEETiNG
time: friday, 23 march 2012, at 10.00 am (eet)
venue: finlandia hall 
address: mannerheimintie 13 e,  
main entrance m4 / K4, helsinki hall, helsinki.
admission of registered shareholders begins at 9.00 am.

shareholDers
cramo had 8,307 shareholders as of 
1 January 2011 and 8,625 as of the 
31 December 2011. → the largest 
shareholders are listed on page 100. 
shares held by the management team can 
be viewed on the website www.cramo.com > 
Investors > share > Insiders, and more about 
remuneration is found on pages 43–45.

manaGement Interest  
31 December 2011
at year end, the members of the board of 
Directors, the president and ceo and other 
members of the cramo management team 
and their interest parties held altogether 
2,869,975 cramo plc shares (3,015,424 in 

2010) representing approximately 6.93% 
(9.83) of the total shares and of the voting 
rights in the company. → see cramo’s 
long-term incentive schemes on page 
44–45 and note 28 on page 94–95.

valID boarD aUthorIsatIons 
the board of Directors has been 
authorised to decide on the acquisition of 
a maximum of 3,000,000 of the company’s 
own shares and/or on the acceptance 
as pledge the company’s own shares. 
Under the authorisation, cramo’s own 
shares may only be acquired using the 
company’s unrestricted equity; the board 
of Directors may act on this authorisation 
in connection with possible acquisitions, to 
develop the company’s capital structure, to 
be transferred in connection with possible 
acquisitions or to be cancelled, provided 
that the acquisition is in the interests of 
the company and its shareholders. 

the board also has an authorisation to 
decide on a share issue for a maximum of 
12,000,000 shares, which includes the right 
to decide on the transfer of the company’s 
own shares and on granting option rights 
and other special rights entitling to 
shares as referred to in chapter 10 of the 
companies act as follows. →  pages 59–60.

fInancIal reportInG
→ the annual reports and interim reports 
are available in finnish and english and 
can also be read on cramo’s website at  
www.cramo.com > Investors.

cramo’s management provides 
analysts and the media with regular press 
conferences. management also gives 
inter views on a one-on-one and group 
basis. cramo participates in various 
conferences for investors. cramo observes 
a three-week closed period preceding the 
publication of its results. 

cramo basIc share 
InformatIon

•	 listed at the nasDaQ omX helsinki 
ltd

•	 list: nordic mid cap
•	 trading code: cra1V
•	 IsIn code: fI0009900476
•	 sector: Industrials
•	 Industry: trading companies  

& Distributors
•	 number of shares,  

31 December 2011: 41,439,086
•	 listing date: 1 august 1988

annual report, 
electronic version

31 
october 
2012

8 
august 
2012

4  
may 
2012

23 
march 
2012

week 9 
2012

annual General 
meeting

interim report for 
January–march

interim report for 
January–June

interim report for 
January–September
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 ADDitionAl 
 poWer to 
Your Business
Never turn a project down because of a lack of 
equipment. Cramo will provide a back-up rental  
solution for you, whether you are in building 
construction, civil engineering, other industry,  
the public sector or a private household.

 innoVAtions     
 for Your Best
We constantly develop our rental solutions so you can take  
a more competitive offer to your market.

AnAlYsts
To the best of our knowledge, the 
following financial analysts follow Cramo’s 
performance on their own initiative. They 
have analysed Cramo, prepared reports 
and comments and they are able to 
evaluate the company as an investment 
target. Cramo takes no responsibility for 
the opinions expressed.

•	 Carnegie
•	 Danske Markets
•	 Deutsche Bank AG 
•	 Evli Bank Plc
•	 FIM
•	 Nordea Markets
•	 Pohjola Bank plc
•	 SEB Enskilda Equities
•	 Swedbank Markets
•	 Ålandsbanken Equities Research

→ Updated contact information for the 
analysts following Cramo is available at 
www.cramo.com > Investors.
→ Additional information about shares 
and shareholders is presented in note 36 
in the consolidated financial statements 
on page 100.

MARKET CAPITALISATION ON NASDAq  
OMX HELSINKI 2007–2011 MEUR

inVestor relAtions
Vesa Koivula, President and CEO 
tel: +358 10 661 1240
e-mail: vesa.koivula@cramo.com

Martti Ala-Härkönen, CFO
tel: +358 10 661 1270
e-mail: martti.ala-harkonen@cramo.com

Merja Naumanen, IR Communication Officer  
tel: +358 10 661 1211
e-mail: merja.naumanen@cramo.com

Financial documents can be obtained from 
Cramo Plc
Kalliosolantie 2
FI-01740 Vantaa
tel. +358 10 661 1211
e-mail: investor.relations@cramo.com

→ Investor information is available online 
at www.cramo.com > Investors. The 
investor section contains the information 
presented here, together with other IR-
related information, including a share 
monitor, delayed by 15 minutes, a list of the 
company’s public permanent insiders and 
their holdings, a collection of presentation 
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materials and current market data as 
well as services such as an investment 
calculator.

CHAnGe of ADDress 
If your address or account number for 
dividend payment changes, we request 
that you send a written notification of 
this to the particular register holding 
your Book Entry Account. If your account 
is held at the Euroclear Finland Ltd’s 
account operator, please send the written 
notification to: Euroclear Finland Ltd.,  
P.O. Box 1110, FI-00101 Helsinki, or  
fax it to +358 20 770 6656.

1110090807
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585

328

141

531

Financial crisis 
2007–2010

European sovereign 
debt crisis 2010–2011

rights offering 
17.2.2011

Theisen 
acquisition 

11.1.2011

The Hartwalls’ 
significant increase  
in total share holding 
during 2009

CRAMO SHARE 
VOLUME PER MONTH

CRAMO SHARE 
PRICE EUR

SHAREHOLDING BY SECTOR 31 DEC 2011 
(2010) %

CORPORATIONS 7 (7)

HOUSEHOLDS 91 (90)

NON-PROFIT INSTITUTIONS 1 (2)

FOREIGN SHAREHOLDERS 1 (1)

FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE 
COMPANIES 1 (0)

GENERAL GOVERNMENT 0 (0)

10,001–100,000; 2 (2)
100,001–500,000; 0 (0)

500,001–;  0 (0)

1–100; 19 (25)

101–1,000; 58 (57)

1,001–10,000; 20 (16)

SHAREHOLDING BY SIZE 31 DEC 2011 
(2010) %

→ Releases for 2011 can be found at  
www.cramo.com > Investors > Releases.
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Group HeAD offiCe
Cramo Plc
Kalliosolantie 2
01740 Vantaa 
Finland
Tel +358 10 661 10
www.cramo.com

loCAl HeAD offiCes

finlAnD
Cramo Finland Oy
Kalliosolantie 2
01740 Vantaa
Finland
Tel +358 10 661 10
www.cramo.fi

Cramo Finland Oy
Modular space
PL 9, Huurretie 19
33471 Ylöjärvi
Finland
Tel +358 10 661 5500 
www.cramo.fi

sWeDen
Cramo Sverige AB
Torshamnsgatan 35
164 95 Kista
Sweden
Tel +46 8 623 5400
www.cramo.se

Cramo Instant AB
Torshamnsgatan 35
164 95 Kista 
Sweden
Tel +46 8 623 5400
www.cramo.se

norWAY
Cramo AS
PB 34, Alnabru
0614 Oslo
Norway
Tel +47 23 37 55 60
www.cramo.no

DenMArK
Cramo A/S
Farverland 7
2600 Glostrup
Denmark
Tel +45 70 110 210
www.cramo.dk 

estoniA
Cramo Estonia AS
Kadaka tee 131
129 15 Tallinn
Estonia
Tel +372 6 830 800
www.cramo.ee

lAtViA
Cramo SIA
Mellužu street 1
1067 Riga
Latvia
Tel +371 673 875 55
www.cramo.lv

litHuAniA
Cramo UAB
Liudvinavo str. 131
02241 Vilnius
Lithuania
Tel +370 5 235 7040
www.cramo.lt

polAnD
Cramo Sp.Zo.o.
Ul. Pulawska 405
02 801 Warsaw
Poland
Tel +48 22 211 98 98
www.cramo.pl

russiA
ZAO Cramo
Zanevka 48/1
195298 St.Petersburg
Russia
Tel +7 812 448 4818
www.cramo.ru

ZAO Cramo Rus
Mytishinsky district
Volkovskoye highway, 39
Box 215, 141006 Mytishi 
Russia
Tel +7 495 926 7676
www.cramo.ru

Cramo Kaliningrad
P.O. Box 512, 4-aja Bolshaja 
Okruzhnaja 33
236029 Kaliningrad 
Russia
Tel +7 4012 776 222 
www.cramo.ru

CZeCH repuBliC
Cramo s.r.o.
Slánská 285/13
163 00 Praha 6 – Řepy
Czech Republic
Tel +420 226 291 711
www.cramo.cz

Group operAtionAl Centre
Cramo AB
Torshamnsgatan 35
164 95 Kista
Sweden
Tel +46 8 623 5400
www.cramo.com

sloVAKiA
Cramo
Kopčianska 16 
851 01 Bratislava 
Slovakia 
Tel +421 263 810 799 
www.cramo.cz

THEISEN BAUMASCHINEN  
HEAD OFFICES

GerMAnY
Theisen Baumaschinen
Emeranstrasse 49-51
85622 München-Feldkirchen
Germany 
Tel +49 89 857 980
www.theisen.de

AustriA
Theisen Baumaschinen
Strasse 2A-M13
2351 Wiener Neudorf
Austria
Tel +43 2236 636 350
www.theisen.at

sWitZerlAnD
Theisen Baumaschinen
Trockenloostrasse 81
8105 Regensdorf
Switzerland
Tel +41 44 840 2929
www.theisen.ch

HunGArY
Theisen Baumaschinen
Védgát utca 8, XXI. Bezirk
1211 Budapest
Hungary
Tel +36 1 427 0103
www.theisen.hu
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